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DEAR FELLOW
STOCKHOLDER,
In 2019, retailers that
were responsive to
consumer preferences
did well, in general, amid
evolving shopping habits
and turbulence in the
retail real estate and
capital markets.
In February 2019, we set forth
a strategic plan to keep stride
with the retail landscape, drive
operating performance and
position Inland Real Estate
Income Trust, Inc. (Inland Income
Trust, the Company or the REIT)
for a liquidity event.
With our strategic plan initiatives
paving our way, I am pleased to
share that we achieved our goals
in 2019. Our operating results
in the face of a challenging retail
environment were a testament
to the quality of our
necessity-based
portfolio and
our strong
management
capabilities.

2019 Portfolio Highlights
• Demonstrated strong leasing
volume with 26 new tenants
leasing more than 154,000
square feet of retail space
• Attained 81% tenant retention
with 102 leases renewed
representing more than 645,000
square feet
• Achieved 94.4% economic
occupancy, maintaining our
multi-year track record of 94% or
higher since inception
• Realized 16.6% and 3.6%
comparable leasing spread
on new leases and renewals,
respectively
• Completed two development
projects and have a third
underway to generate new
income streams and leverage the
desirable locations of our centers
• Fully covered distributions from
net cash flows provided by
operating activities
Economic hallmarks of 2019
included low inflation, high
employment, wage gains and low
interest rates. Consumers were in
a healthy position throughout most
of 2019 and supported growth
in the economy with personal

consumption expenditures up by
1.8 percent in the fourth quarter
of 2019.1
Consumer demand in 2019
suggested that retail models
meeting consumer preferences
would be supported.2 Retail
sales increased 3.8 percent yearover-year in the fourth quarter of
2019, led by growth in non-store
retailers (including e-commerce),
food service and drinking
establishments, and grocery
stores.3 Holiday retail sales in 2019
grew 4.1 percent, compared to 2.1
percent growth in 2018.4
Despite the strong retail sales in
2019, we are currently experiencing
and anticipate continued disruption
in the retail sector attributable
to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The effects of the pandemic are
being felt by both small and large
businesses, and, though our
properties are well-occupied by
relatively strong tenants, many of
them will be negatively affected by
the pandemic and the measures
taken to control it, which is likely to
then negatively affect our revenue
in turn.

Mitchell A. Sabshon

President and Chief Executive Officer
CNBC. Fourth-quarter GDP rose only 2.1% and full-year 2019 posts slowest growth in three years at 2.3%. January 30, 2020.
CBRE Research. Economic Watch. January 30, 2020.
3
CBRE Research. U.S. Retail Figures. Q4 2019.
4
CNBC. Holiday sales climb 4.1%, retail industry trade group says, on the higher end of estimates. January 16, 2020.
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STEADY WINS
IN 2019
•
•
•
•

Occupancy at 94% or higher since inception
86% of ABR (annualized base rent) generated from properties anchored or shadow-anchored by grocers*
Geographically diversified portfolio with nationwide reach
Distributed more than $244 million to investors since inception

* Portfolio composition following the January 2020 dispositions of Whispering Ridge, 2727 Iowa Street, and Treasure Valley
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Retail Sales by Category
Rolling 4-Quarters
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Source: U.S. Census Bureau. Q4 2019.

We believe that brick-and-mortar
is the cornerstone of a successful
retailer strategy. Online-only
retailers have branched out to
storefronts such as Fabletics
and Warby Parker. Forty-nine
percent of shoppers buy online
from physical retailers. For the fifth
consecutive year, these shoppers
outnumbered the 39 percent of
shoppers that purchased from
pure online-only vendors.5 And,
we think Amazon’s investment in
Whole Foods supports our belief
that physical grocery stores are
likely here to stay.

retail sector’s performance. Many
owners are modifying their tenant
compositions to include some
of these retailers as consumers
gravitate toward experiential
destinations. The grocery store is
no longer just where we go to buy
food. Consumers may also bank
at a grocery store or meet a friend
at an in-store restaurant, bar or
quick-serve deli. According to a
recent Gallup survey7, eight in 10
U.S. adults do not order groceries
online and 97 percent shop for
groceries in person at least once
a month.

Grocery-anchored shopping
centers remain in demand6 due
to the value placed on locations
that garner high levels of foot
traffic. We see assets anchored
by grocers as less vulnerable to
competition from e-commerce
and a big traffic driver that benefits
surrounding tenants. As evidence
in the graph above, Food Services
& Drinking Places and Grocery
Stores represented two of the top
three categories of growth in retail
sales in 2019. Food, fitness and
fun play an important part in the

The neighborhood, community
and strip center retail segment
posted absorption gains in 2019
for the ninth consecutive quarter.
Neighborhood, community and
strip centers experienced more
than 4.3 million square feet of net
absorption in the fourth quarter of
2019, with new retail construction
down by nearly 50 percent
year-over-year.8 Net absorption
represents the change of the
supply of commercial space in
a given real estate sector over a
specific period of time.

Marcus & Millichap. Retailers Optimize Shopping Platforms, Lifting Sales and Customer Engagement. December 2019.
CBRE Research. U.S. Retail Figures. Q3 2019.
7
Gallup. Online Grocery Shopping Still Rare in U.S. August 20, 2019.
8
CBRE Research. Economic Watch: Q4 GDP Growth Meets 2.1% Forecast; 2.3% for 2019. January 20, 2020.
9
Chain Store Age. IHL Study: Five retailers opening stores for every retailer closing stores. August 12, 2019.
5
6

Retailers are still closing doors;
however, the rate of store closings
decreased dramatically at 66
percent fewer store closings in
2019 than 2018.9 The masses
assume the culprit behind store
closings must be Amazon and
online retail sales. We believe too
much debt, rapid overexpansion
and lack of innovation are the
main reasons stores are closing
locations. Retailers without these
traits continued to thrive in 2019.9
We believe the quality of our real
estate and diversity of our tenant
base were demonstrated by
the minimal impact that retailer
closings had on our portfolio
throughout the year. Most of the
Inland Income Trust shopping
centers are grocery-anchored or
shadow-anchored and include
shops that are part of a weekly
shopping routine. They are in
the heart of neighborhoods or
on commuter routes and are
well-positioned to serve people's
everyday needs.
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GROCERY ASSETS,
MINIMIZING BIG BOX RISK
On February 11, 2019, the Inland
Income Trust board of directors
approved a strategic plan with the
goals of providing future liquidity to
investors and creating long-term
stockholder value. The strategic
plan centers around owning
a primarily grocery-anchored
portfolio with lower exposure
to big box retailers. We feel, in
general, that big box retailers
will continue to be challenged.
Through this strategic plan, we are
proactively reducing our exposure
to concepts that we believe
have less relevance, and instead
aim to minimize portfolio risk by
repositioning away from big box
retail centers.
As part of this strategy, the
Company has sold and will
continue to consider selling certain
assets with the goal of redeploying

capital into the acquisition of
strategically located groceryanchored centers, as well as the
potential redevelopment of centers
within the current portfolio.
Between the third quarter of 2019
and the first quarter of 2020, Inland
Income Trust sold 15 properties: a
12-property Dollar General portfolio
on December 20, 2019; 2727 Iowa
Street in Lawrence, Kansas on
January 8, 2020; Whispering Ridge
in Omaha, Nebraska on January
21, 2020; and Treasure Valley in
Nampa, Idaho on January 22, 2020.
These property sales directly
reflected our strategic goals by
reducing exposure to big box
retail. In fact, of the 15 assets sold,
approximately 71.5 percent of the
annualized base rent (ABR) from
these properties was generated

by non-grocery big box tenants
that represented heightened risk of
downsizing or closing in the future.
While these sales will have a
negative short-term impact on net
operating income (NOI) and net
asset value (NAV), we expect to
ultimately redeploy the proceeds
in superior assets and are pleased
to take the initial step to creating a
more stable portfolio for a potential
future liquidity event.
I feel confident that our team will
be able to execute our longterm strategy, but the COVID-19
pandemic is disrupting markets
and economic activity, and the
length and ultimate magnitude
of its effects are unfortunately
uncertain. We will continue to work
hard to adapt and change with the
economy and the retail landscape.

2019 Strategic Plan Timeline

FEB

Announce
strategic plan

Evaluate
existing
portfolio

MAR

APR

Identity
potential assets
to sell

List
properties
for sale

JUN

OCT

Evaluate
offers and
market value

Assets put
under
contract

DEC

Execute sales

NOV
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REDUCED BIG
BOX EXPOSURE
The 15 recent asset sales positively impacted our portfolio composition, reducing big box exposure from
17 percent to 14 percent and increasing the percent of our portfolio anchored or shadow-anchored by a
grocer from 82 percent to 86 percent. In addition, all single-tenant assets have been sold, creating a more
homogenous, core portfolio of grocery-anchored or shadow-anchored properties.

Property Type Breakdown by
ABR

Property Type Breakdown by
ABR

2018

2019*

1% Single Tenant
14%

Community &
Power Centers

17%

Community &
Power Centers

52%

Grocery-Anchored

30%

Grocery ShadowAnchored

32%

Grocery ShadowAnchored

* Portfolio composition following the January 2020 dispositions of Whispering Ridge, 2727 Iowa Street, and Treasure Valley

54%

Grocery-Anchored
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FROM RENDERINGS
TO REALITY

Leading National Beauty Supplies Retailer

Pet Supplies Plus Development

Inland Income Trust procured a 10,000 square-foot
ground-up development at Wedgewood Commons
shopping center for a leading national beauty supplies
retailer. Located in Olive Branch, Mississippi, this
free-standing retail store will be built on a pad site,
generating new income for the center. This store will
enhance the existing line up of strong anchors – T.J.
Maxx, HomeGoods and Ross Dress for Less – and
support the wide range of successful small shops
such as AT&T, TCBY, GNC and Sport Clips. Target
also is a shadow anchor, driving significant foot traffic
for all retailers in the center.

Pet Supplies Plus, the largest independent pet
retailer known for its 'minus the hassle' brick-andmortar customer experience, built a new storefront
at Inland Income Trust’s Pick’n Save shopping
center in West Bend, Wisconsin. Our property
management team supervised the demolition of
an existing vacant outparcel, and construction
has been completed at this 6,600 square-foot
free standing location. Pick’n Save, the premier
supermarket chain in Wisconsin, is the primary anchor
at the center with other small shops at the south end
of the property including ATI Physical Therapy, Sport
Clips, Firehouse Subs, and Aspen Dental.

Wedgewood Commons
Olive Branch, MS

EST. DELIVERY

SQUARE FEET

NOV. 2020

10,000

EST. RETURN
ON INVESTMENT

ANCHORED BY

8.6%

Pick’n Save Shopping Center
West Bend, WI

DATE DELIVERED

SQUARE FEET

NOV. 2019

6,600

EST. RETURN
ON INVESTMENT

ANCHORED BY

8.1%
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LONG-TERM STRATEGIC PLAN
In February 2019, Inland Income Trust announced a long-term strategic plan to move toward a liquidity
event, subject to market conditions. The strategic plan centers around owning a portfolio of grocery-anchored
properties in strong secondary and tertiary markets with lower exposure to big box retailers. We believe
that, upon a return to a more normal economic environment after the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
subside, a grocery-anchored portfolio will allow us to drive operating performance and position the REIT for
a successful liquidity event.
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PORTFOLIO
HIGHLIGHTS

2019: A Year of Strong Operational Performance
Top 10 Tenants
Three leading grocers in our top tenant list comprising 7.8% of the portfolio ABR

3.5%

3.4%

3.4%

3.0%

2.7%

2.4%

2.4%

2.0%

2.0%

1.9%

% Expiring ABR by Lease

Only 5.5% of ABR scheduled to expire in 2020
15.5%

16%
14%

13.1%

10%
6.7%

5.5%
1.1%

4.3%

1.0%
2020

3.0%

1.1%

1.0%
5.7%

2%
0%

6.8%

7.0%
7.5%

8%

4%

6.0%

11.6%

12%

6%

15.2%

0.2%

0.8%
1.0%
2021

Leases Less than 10,000 SF

3.8%

2022

5.1%

2023

Leases 10,001 – 19,999 SF

6.5%

2024
Leases Greater than 20,000 SF

7.3%

2025
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WELL-DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO
Diverse Geographic Footprint
12% of portfolio in the west, 26% in the south, 21% in the midwest, and 41% in the east

41%

26%
21%
12%

West

South Midwest

East

Tenant Diversity by ABR
Variety of tenants with pure grocers at 14.1% of total portfolio ABR

2%

Restaurant
Lifestyle, Health Clubs, Books & Phones

5%

5%

4%

Grocery

16%

Discount and Department Stores
Apparel & Accessories

7%
16%
9%

Home Goods
Consumer Services, Salons, Cleaners,
Banks

10%

14%
12%

Pet Supplies
Sporting Goods
Health, Doctors & Health Foods
Other
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VALUE IN EVERY
SQUARE FOOT
The foundation
of our business
is well-positioned
retail real estate.
The Inland Income Trust portfolio
comprises properties in desirable
locations in markets with high
demand for necessity-based
community shopping centers.
Our portfolio is geographically
diverse with 12 percent of the
assets by ABR (annualized base
rent) in the west, 26 percent in the
south, 21 percent in the midwest
and 41 percent in the east as of
December 31, 2019. With more
than 726 tenants encompassing
national retailers and small local
shops, our properties are the
lifeblood of the community and
offer many products and services
that cannot be obtained online.
Leasing volume was strong in
2019. Our team of real estate
professionals signed 128 new
leases and renewals totaling nearly

CBRE Research. U.S. Retail Figures. Q4 2019.
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800,000 square feet throughout
the year. Our ABR is $19.48 per
square foot excluding ground
leases, which is significantly
higher than the average retail net
asking rent of $17.71 per square
foot.10 Spreads on new leases
– the percent change between
new contractual rent per square
foot for the first year and prior
contractual rent per square foot
of the last year for comparable
leases – grew nearly 47 percent
in 2019 to 16.6 percent. Spread
on renewals also increased to 3.6
percent. We continue to devote
significant efforts to dining and
small shop concepts that have
virtually no online competition and
offer rent growth opportunities.
Our property management
team focuses on harvesting
unrealized value in our portfolio
while our property marketing
team focuses on implementing
programs that drive traffic to our
centers and, therefore, sales
for our retailers. It is crucial to
employ data and technology, such

as geo-fencing, when crafting
property marketing plans.
A geo-fence is a virtual perimeter
for a geographic area. In 2019,
we geo-fenced select properties
within our portfolio to understand
how our shoppers travel from
one center to another. When a
user entered or exited an area,
we pushed banner ads to them
with a link to the center’s website
or advertised an upcoming
event. We were pleased with
the above average click through
rates we experienced on our
promotions and will expand these
enhanced marketing tactics to our
properties across the country.
In addition, we have successfully
enhanced foot traffic at our
centers with our Children's
Safety Fairs, events that offer
safety demonstrations, exhibits
and activities. We are shifting
slightly in 2020 to focus these
events on sustainability and
teaching even our youngest
shoppers about the importance
of reduce, reuse, recycle.
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SOLID AT THE FINANCIAL LEVEL IN 2019
The financial acumen of Inland
Income Trust's accounting team
produced a predictable and
considerably liquid balance sheet
throughout 2019. Total Assets
at December 31, 2019 were
approximately $1.25 billion.
As of December 31, 2019, our
Funds from Operations (FFO)
were $47.4 million and our
Modified Funds from Operations
(MFFO) for the same period were
approximately $45.2 million.
We plan to maintain a conservative
and flexible capital structure to

support our strategic initiatives.
We have a staggered debt
maturity schedule with line of
credit flexibility and have managed
our cash well over the course
of the shifting retail landscape
and continuous retail industry
challenges. Proceeds generated
from properties sold were used to
pay down debt, making room for
future acquisitions, redevelopment
opportunities, or other accretive
initiatives.
As of December 31, 2019, Inland
Income Trust had outstanding
mortgage loans and borrowings

on our credit facility equal to
approximately $684 million. We
have managed risk in interest rate
fluctuations with our exposure
to floating rates limited to just 17
percent of our total consolidated
debt. Our portfolio debt is
approximately 83 percent fixed,
including interest rate swaps, at
a weighted average interest rate
of 3.78 percent. In addition, we
are evaluating refinancing the line
of credit to increase our future
liquidity for potential acquisitions
or redevelopments.

No Debt Maturing in 2020
(in millions)

$250
$200
$117

$150

$150

$100
$50

$89

$83

$121

$91
$18

$15

$0
2020

2021

2022

Mortgages Payable with 1 Extension Option

2023

2024

2025

Mortgages Payable without Extension Options

2026
Credit Facility

Balance Sheet
(in thousands)

12/31/19

12/31/18

12/31/17

Total Assets

$1,254,559

$1,320,069

$1,375,370

Mortgage Loans and Credit Facility Payable, net

681,327

705,884

691,465

Net Income (Loss)

(11,420)

(23,276)

(19,102)

Funds from Operations (FFO)

47,412

49,964

51,232

Modified Funds from Operations (MFFO)

45,167

47,291

48,893

Balance Sheet Data:

Operating Data:
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FFO and MFFO Calculations
For the year ended December 31
2019

2018

2017

(11,420)

$(23,276)

$(19,102)

57,691

57,835

61,804

4,420

-

8,530

-

15,405

-

Gain on sale of investment properties

(3,279)

-

-

Funds from Operations (FFO)

47,412

49,964

51,232

Acquisition related costs

-

29

754

Loss of extinguishment of debt

-

411

-

Mark to market adjustments

-

135

-

(1,405)

(917)

(1,415)

(840)

(1,180)

(1,678)

-

(1,151)

-

45,167

47,291

48,893

(in thousands)
Net Loss:
ADD:

Depreciation and amortization related to investment
properties
Provision for impairment of investment property
Provisions for impairment of investment in and notes
receivable from unconsolidated entities

LESS:
ADD:

LESS:

Amortization of acquired market lease tangibles, net
Straight-line income, net
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Modified Funds from Operations (MFFO)
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UNITED AT THE
TEAM LEVEL
Moving into a new
decade, we maintain
focus on generating the
best possible return for
our stockholders and
the commitment to our
long-term strategic plan.
I am proud of the progress we
have made with our portfolio. We
are able to navigate the volatility
in retail real estate because we
are an experienced operator and
disciplined capital allocator.

The path to long-term value
creation is neither easy nor quick,
but I believe we have successfully
made strides in 2019 toward
achieving our future objectives.
Taking into consideration the
uncertainly surrounding the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic,
I expect 2020 to be another
defining year for the REIT. We look
forward to uncovering potential
new acquisitions and development
projects that enhance the quality
of our NOI while maintaining
our high level of occupancy.

On behalf of the board of
directors and all of the dedicated
people at Inland who serve
Inland Income Trust, thank you
for your investment, your trust
and your continued support.
Sincerely,

Mitchell A. Sabshon
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

General
Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (which we refer to herein as the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”) was incorporated on August 24, 2011 to
acquire and manage a portfolio of commercial real estate investments located in the United States. We have primarily focused on acquiring retail
properties and intend to target a portfolio of 100% grocery-anchored properties as described below. We have invested in joint ventures and may
continue to invest in additional joint ventures or acquire other real estate assets such as office and medical office buildings, multi-family properties
and industrial/distribution and warehouse facilities if our management believes the expected returns from those investments exceed that of retail
properties. We also may invest in real estate-related equity securities of both publicly traded and private real estate companies, as well as
commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”). Our sponsor, Inland Real Estate Investment Corporation, referred to herein as our “Sponsor” or
“IREIC,” is an indirect subsidiary of The Inland Group, LLC. Various affiliates of our Sponsor provide services to us. We are externally managed
and advised by IREIT Business Manager & Advisor, Inc., referred to herein as our “Business Manager,” an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
our Sponsor. Our Business Manager is responsible for overseeing and managing our day-to-day operations. Our properties are managed by Inland
Commercial Real Estate Services LLC, referred to herein as our “Real Estate Manager,” an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of our Sponsor.
We commenced an initial public “best efforts” offering (the “Offering”) on October 18, 2012, which concluded on October 16, 2015. We sold
33,534,022 shares of common stock generating gross proceeds of $834.4 million from the Offering. On March 3, 2020, our board of directors
determined an estimated per share net asset value (the “Estimated Per Share NAV”) of our common stock as of December 31, 2019 of $18.15. The
previously estimated per share net asset value of $20.12 as of December 31, 2018 was established on March 5, 2019.
On January 16, 2018, we effected a 1-for-2.5 reverse stock split of our issued and outstanding common stock whereby every 2.5 shares of our issued
and outstanding common stock were converted into one share of our common stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). In accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), all share information presented has been retroactively adjusted to
reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
At December 31, 2019, we owned 47 retail properties, totaling 6.8 million square feet. A majority of our properties are multi-tenant, necessity-based
retail shopping centers primarily located in major regional markets and growing secondary markets throughout the United States. At December 31,
2019, 83% of our annualized base rental income was generated from grocery-anchored or grocery shadow-anchored shopping center. A grocery
shadow-anchored shopping center is a shopping center near a grocery store that generates traffic for the shopping center but is not a part of the
shopping center. At December 31, 2019, our portfolio had weighted average physical and economic occupancy of 94.0% and 94.4%, respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, annualized base rent (“ABR”) per square foot averaged $17.54, $17.30 and $17.16, respectively, for all
properties owned. ABR is calculated by annualizing the monthly base rent for leases in-place as of the applicable date, including any tenant
concessions, such as rent abatement or allowances, which may have been granted and excluding ground leases. ABR including ground leases
averaged $15.08, $14.94 and $14.81 as of December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
On February 11, 2019, the Company’s board of directors approved a strategic plan (the “Strategic Plan”) with the goals of providing future liquidity
to investors and creating long-term stockholder value. The Strategic Plan centers around owning a portfolio of 100% grocery-anchored properties
with lower exposure to big box retailers. Consistent with the Strategic Plan, we sold 12 properties during the year ended December 31, 2019 for
aggregate net proceeds of $14.9 million and sold three additional properties in January 2020 for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $37.2
million. We used the proceeds to pay down the revolving credit facility. We intend to draw on the revolving credit facility to redeploy the net
proceeds from these sales to, among other things, purchase additional assets or redevelop select centers within the current portfolio in the future
pursuant to our Strategic Plan. For discussions of these sales, see Note 5 – “Dispositions” and Note 18 – “Subsequent Events” included in our
December 31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
Our management team and our board are considering the opportunistic sale of other assets with the goal of redeploying capital into the acquisition
of strategically located grocery-anchored centers, as well as the redevelopment of select centers within the current portfolio. We plan to consider a
liquidity event in approximately two years, market conditions permitting, most likely through a listing on a public securities exchange.
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In connection with the Strategic Plan, our share repurchase program was amended and restated, effective March 21, 2019, and the business
management agreement with the Business Manager was amended and restated on February 11, 2019 to, among other things, eliminate all future
acquisition and disposition fees. On March 3, 2020, our board adopted a third amended and restated share repurchase program, which will become
effective on April 10, 2020, as further described below under “Share Repurchase Program.” The Strategic Plan may evolve or change over time. For
example, we may decide to focus more on redeveloping existing properties relative to investing in new grocery-anchored centers, depending on
such factors, including, but not limited to, market prices for our properties, availability of capital for redevelopment and construction costs. There is
no assurance we will be able to successfully implement the Strategic Plan, including listing our common stock.
We provide the following programs to facilitate additional investment in our shares and to provide limited liquidity for stockholders.
Distribution Reinvestment Plan
Through the distribution reinvestment plan (“DRP”), we provide stockholders with the option to purchase additional shares from us by
automatically reinvesting distributions, subject to certain share ownership restrictions. We do not pay any selling commissions or a marketing
contribution and due diligence expense allowance in connection with the DRP. The price per share for shares of common stock purchased under
the DRP is equal to the Estimated Per Share NAV unless and until the shares become listed for trading. On March 11, 2019, we reported an
estimated per share NAV of $20.12 and on March 3, 2020, we reported a new Estimated Per Share NAV of $18.15. Beginning with the first quarter
2020 distributions payable in April, shares sold through the DRP will be issued at a price equal to $18.15 until we update the Estimated Per Share
NAV in 2021.
Distributions reinvested through the DRP were $19.6 million, $19.3 million and $27.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Share Repurchase Program
We adopted a share repurchase program (as amended, “SRP”) effective October 18, 2012, under which we are authorized to purchase shares from
stockholders who purchased their shares from us or received their shares through a non-cash transfer and who have held their shares for at least
one year. Purchases are in our sole discretion. In the case of repurchases made upon the death of a stockholder or qualifying disability
(“Exceptional Repurchases”), the one year holding period does not apply. The SRP was amended and restated effective January 1, 2018 to change
the processing of repurchase requests from a monthly to a quarterly basis to align with the move to quarterly distributions. On February 11, 2019,
our board adopted a second amended and restated SRP, which became effective on March 21, 2019. On March 3, 2020, our board adopted a third
amended and restated SRP (the “Third A&R SRP”), which will become effective on April 10, 2020.
Under the Third A&R SRP, we are authorized to make ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 80.0% of the “share
price,” which is defined in the Third A&R SRP as an amount equal to the lesser of: (A) $25, as adjusted under certain circumstances, including,
among other things, if the applicable shares were purchased from the Company at a discounted price; or (B) the most recently disclosed estimated
value per share. Prior to the amendment, we were authorized to make Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 100% of the “share price.”
Beginning with repurchases in April 2020, the “share price” will be equal to $18.15 per share until we announce a new Estimated Per Share NAV.
Accordingly, ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases will be at $14.52 per share.
The Third A&R SRP provides our board of directors with the discretion to reduce the funding limit for share repurchases. The Third A&R SRP
limits the dollar amount for any repurchases made by us each calendar quarter to an amount equal to a percentage determined in the sole discretion
of our board on a quarterly basis that will not be less than 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP during the applicable quarter. For the quarter
ended December 31, 2019, our board limited funding for repurchases to 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP. We continue to limit the number of
shares repurchased during any calendar year to 5% of the number of shares outstanding on December 31st of the previous calendar year, as
adjusted for any stock splits or other combinations.
If either or both of the repurchase limitations prevent us from repurchasing all of the shares offered for repurchase during a calendar quarter, we will
repurchase shares, on a pro rata basis within each category below, in accordance with the repurchase limitations in the following order: (a) first, all
Exceptional Repurchases and (b) second, all ordinary repurchases. For any quarter ended, unfulfilled repurchase requests will be included in the list
of requests for the following quarter unless the request is withdrawn in accordance with the SRP. However, each stockholder who has submitted a
repurchase request must submit an acknowledgment annually after we publish a new estimated value per share acknowledging, among other
things, that the stockholder wishes to maintain the request. If we do not receive the acknowledgment prior to the repurchase date, we will deem the
request to have been withdrawn.
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The SRP will immediately terminate if our shares are listed on any national securities exchange. In addition, our board of directors, in its sole
discretion, may, at any time, amend, suspend or terminate the SRP. In the event that we amend, suspend or terminate the SRP, however, we will
send stockholders notice of the change at least thirty days prior to the change, and we will disclose the change in a report filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on either Form 8-K, Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, as appropriate. Further, our board reserves the right in its sole
discretion, at any time, and from time to time to reject any requests for repurchases.
Repurchases through the SRP were $9.4 million, $22.5 million and $21.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, our liability related to the SRP was $2.3 million and $5.5 million, respectively, recorded in other liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets.
Segment Data
We currently view our real estate portfolio as one reportable segment in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, we did not report any other
segment disclosure for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. For information related to our business segment, reference is made to
Note 13 – “Segment Reporting” which is included in our December 31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
Tax Status
We elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes (“REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Internal Revenue Code”), commencing with the tax year ended December 31, 2013. Commencing with
such taxable year, we were organized and began operating in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code
and believe we have so qualified. As a result, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that is distributed to
stockholders. A REIT is subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distributes at
least 90% of its REIT taxable income (subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain) to its stockholders. We will monitor the
business and transactions that may potentially impact our REIT status. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, without the benefit of
certain statutory relief provisions, we will be subject to federal and state income tax on our taxable income as a “C corporation.” Even if we qualify
for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income, property or net worth and federal income and excise taxes.
The earnings of any taxable REIT subsidiaries generally will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax applicable to “C corporations.”
Competition
The commercial real estate market is highly competitive. We compete in all of our markets with other owners and operators of commercial properties.
We compete based on a number of factors that include location, rental rates, security, suitability of the property’s design to tenants’ needs and the
manner in which the property is operated and marketed. The number of competing properties in a particular market could have a material effect on a
property’s occupancy levels, rental rates and operating expenses.
We are subject to significant competition in seeking real estate investments and tenants. We compete with many third parties engaged in real estate
investment activities including other REITs, specialty finance companies, savings and loan associations, banks, mortgage bankers, insurance
companies, mutual funds, institutional investors, investment banking firms, lenders, hedge funds, governmental bodies and other entities. Some of
these competitors, including larger REITs, have substantially greater financial resources than we do and generally enjoy significant competitive
advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies.
Employees
We do not have any employees. In addition, all of our executive officers are officers of IREIC or one or more of its affiliates and are compensated by
those entities, in part, for their services rendered to us. We neither separately compensate our executive officers for their service as officers, nor do
we reimburse either our Business Manager or Real Estate Manager for any compensation paid to individuals who also serve as our executive
officers, or the executive officers of our Business Manager or its affiliates or our Real Estate Manager; provided that, for these purposes, the
corporate secretaries of our Company and our Business Manager are not considered “executive officers.”
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Conflicts of Interest
Certain persons performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager are employees of IREIC or its affiliates, and may also
perform services for its affiliates and other IREIC-sponsored entities. These individuals face competing demands for their time and services and
may have conflicts in allocating their time between our business and assets and the business and assets of these other entities. IREIC also may
face a conflict of interest in allocating personnel and resources among these entities. In addition, conflicts exist to the extent that we acquire
properties in the same geographic areas where properties owned by other IREIC-sponsored programs are located. In these cases, a conflict may
arise in the acquisition or leasing of properties if we and another IREIC-sponsored program are competing for the same properties or tenants in
negotiating leases, or a conflict may arise in connection with the resale of properties if we and another IREIC-sponsored program are selling similar
properties at the same time.
Our charter contains provisions setting forth our ability to engage in certain related party transactions. Our board of directors reviews all of these
transactions and, as a general rule, any related party transactions must be approved by a majority of the directors, including a majority of the
independent directors, not otherwise interested in the transaction. Further, we may not engage in certain transactions with entities sponsored by,
or affiliated with, IREIC unless a majority of our board of directors, including a majority of our independent directors, finds the transaction to be fair
and reasonable and on terms no less favorable to us than those from an unaffiliated party under the same circumstances. Our board has adopted a
conflicts of interest policy prohibiting us from engaging in the following types of transactions with IREIC-affiliated entities:
•

purchasing real estate assets from, or selling real estate assets to, any IREIC-affiliated entities (excluding circumstances where an
entity affiliated with IREIC, such as Inland Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC (“IREA”), from time to time may enter into a purchase
agreement to acquire a property and then assign the purchase agreement to us);

•

making loans to, or borrowing money from, any IREIC-affiliated entities (this excludes expense advancements under existing
agreements and the deposit of monies in any banking institution affiliated with IREIC); and

•

investing in joint ventures with any IREIC-affiliated entities.

This policy does not impact agreements or relationships between us and IREIC and its affiliates, including, for example, agreements with our
Business Manager or Real Estate Manager that relate to the day-to-day management of our business.
Environmental Matters
As an owner of real estate, we are subject to various environmental laws, rules and regulations adopted by various governmental bodies or
agencies. Compliance with these laws, rules and regulations has not had a material adverse effect on our business, assets, or results of operations,
financial condition and ability to pay distributions. We do not believe that our existing portfolio as of December 31, 2019 will require us to incur
material expenditures to comply with these laws and regulations.
Access to Company Information
We electronically file our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those
reports with the SEC. The public may read and copy any of the reports that are filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Internet address located at
www.sec.gov. The website contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically.
We make available, free of charge, on our website, inland-investments.com/inland-income-trust, or by responding to requests addressed to our
investor services group, the Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to
those reports. These reports are available as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed or furnished to the SEC. We
routinely post important information about us and our business, including financial and other information for investors, on our website. We
encourage investors to visit our website from time to time, as information is updated and new information is posted.
Certifications
We have filed with the SEC the certifications required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which are attached as Exhibits
31.1 and 31.2 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors

The factors described below represent our principal risks. Other factors may exist that we do not consider significant based on information that
is currently available or that we are not currently able to anticipate. The occurrence of any of the risks discussed below could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.
Risks Related to Our Business
We have incurred net losses on a basis in accordance with U.S. GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and may incur
such net losses in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, operations, cash flow, and our ability to
service our indebtedness and pay distributions to our stockholders.
We have incurred net losses on a U.S. GAAP basis for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 of $11.4 million, $23.3 million and $19.1
million, respectively. Our losses can be attributed, in part, to non-cash expenses, such as depreciation and amortization, acquisition related
expenses and impairment charges. We may incur net losses in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition,
operations, cash flow, and our ability to service our indebtedness and pay distributions to our stockholders. We are subject to all of the business
risks and uncertainties associated with any business. We cannot assure our stockholders that, in the future, we will be profitable or that we will
realize growth in the value of our assets.
The amount and timing of distributions, if any, may vary. We have paid and may continue to pay distributions from sources other than cash
flow from operations, including the proceeds of our DRP.
There are many factors that can affect the availability and timing of distributions paid to our stockholders. We may not generate sufficient cash
flow from operations to fund any distributions to our stockholders. The actual amount and timing of distributions, if any, is determined by our
board of directors in its discretion, based on its analysis of our actual and expected cash flow, capital expenditures and investments, as well as
general financial conditions. Actual cash available for distribution may vary substantially from estimates made by our board. The sale of assets and
delayed reinvestment or reinvestment at lower yields will negatively impact the amount available to pay distributions. In addition, to the extent we
invest in development or redevelopment projects that do not immediately generate cash flow, or in real estate assets that have significant capital
requirements, our ability to make distributions will be negatively impacted. Our board will continue to review our distribution policy as our Strategic
Plan evolves. There is no assurance we will continue to pay distributions at the existing amount.
Historically, we have not consistently generated sufficient cash flow from operations to fund distribution payments. Our organizational documents
permit us to pay distributions from sources other than cash flow from operations. Specifically, some or all of our distributions may be paid from
retained cash flow (if any), borrowings, cash flow from investing activities, the net proceeds from the sale of our assets, or from the proceeds of our
DRP. Accordingly, if we cannot generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fully fund distributions, some or all of our distributions may be
paid from the other sources described above. We have not established any limit on the extent to which we may use such alternate sources.
Funding distributions from the proceeds of our DRP, borrowings or asset sales will result in us having fewer funds available to acquire properties
or other real estate-related investments. Likewise, funding distributions from the sale of additional securities, including shares issued under the
DRP, will dilute our stockholders interest in us on a percentage basis and may impact the value of the investment, especially if we sell these
securities at prices less than the price our stockholders paid for their shares. As a result, the return our stockholders realize on their investment may
be reduced. Doing so may also negatively impact our ability to generate cash flows. A decrease in the level of stockholder participation in the DRP
could have an adverse impact on our ability to fund distributions and other operating and capital needs. There is no assurance we will continue to
generate sufficient cash flow from operations to cover distributions. If these sources are not available or are not adequate, our board may have to
consider reducing or eliminating distributions.
There is no established public trading market for our shares, and our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares under our SRP and, if
our stockholders are able to sell their shares under the SRP, or otherwise, they may not be able to recover the amount of their investment in our
shares.
There is no established public trading market for our shares and no assurance that one may develop. This may inhibit the transferability of our
shares. Our charter does not require our directors to seek stockholder approval to liquidate our assets by a specified date, nor does our charter
require our directors to list our shares for trading by a specified date. There is no assurance the board will pursue a listing or other liquidity event
at any time in the future. In addition, even if our board decides to seek a listing of our shares of common stock, there is no assurance that we will
satisfy the listing requirements or that our shares will be approved for listing. Even if our shares of common stock are approved for listing, we can
provide no assurance regarding the price at which our shares may trade. Thus, holders of our common stock should be prepared to hold their
shares for an unlimited period of time. Our
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charter also prohibits the ownership of more than 9.8% in value of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of our stock or more than 9.8% (in value
or number whichever is more restrictive) of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of our common stock by any single investor unless exempted
by our board.
Moreover, our SRP contains numerous restrictions that limit our stockholders' ability to sell their shares, including those relating to the number of
shares of our common stock that we can repurchase at any time and the type and amount of funds we may use to repurchase shares pursuant to
the program. For example, for each of the quarters in 2019, pursuant to our board’s discretion to reduce the funding limit under our SRP, our board
limited funding for repurchases to 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP, and our board may continue to limit the amount of repurchases under the
SRP. Because of the funding limit, we have not been able to satisfy all properly submitted repurchase requests and have been satisfying requests
for ordinary repurchases on a pro rata basis and will continue to be unable to satisfy all repurchase requests. Also, under the SRP, we are only
authorized to purchase shares from stockholders who purchased their shares from us or received their shares through a non-cash transfer and who
have held their shares for at least one year. Purchases are in our sole discretion.
Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may amend, suspend (in whole or in part), or terminate our SRP. The SRP will immediately terminate if
our shares become listed for trading on a national securities exchange. Further, our board reserves the right in its sole discretion to change the
repurchase prices or reject any requests for repurchases. Any amendments to, or suspension or termination of, the SRP may restrict or eliminate our
stockholders’ ability to have us repurchase their shares and otherwise prevent our stockholders from liquidating their investment. Therefore, our
stockholders may not have the opportunity to make a repurchase request prior to a potential termination of the SRP and our stockholders may not
be able to sell any of their shares of common stock back to us. As a result of these restrictions and circumstances, the ability of our stockholders to
sell their shares should they require liquidity is significantly restricted. Moreover, under the SRP, any shares accepted for “ordinary repurchases”
or “exceptional repurchases” are repurchased at a discount to the then-current estimated per share NAV. Therefore, even if our stockholders are
able to sell their shares of common stock back to us pursuant to the SRP, they may be forced to do so at a discount to the purchase price such
stockholders paid for their shares.
The Estimated Per Share NAV of our common stock is based on a number of assumptions and estimates that may not be accurate or complete
and is also subject to a number of limitations.
On March 3, 2020, we announced an Estimated Per Share NAV of our common stock as of December 31, 2019 equal to $18.15 per share. To assist
our board of directors in establishing the Estimated Per Share NAV, we engaged a third party specializing in providing real estate financial services.
As with any methodology used to estimate value, the methodology employed by this third party was based upon a number of estimates and
assumptions that may not have been accurate or complete. Further, different parties using different assumptions and estimates could have derived
a different estimated per share net asset value, which could be significantly different from our Estimated Per Share NAV. The Estimated Per Share
NAV will fluctuate over time and does not represent: (i) the price at which our shares would trade on a national securities exchange, (ii) the amount
per share a stockholder would obtain if he, she or it tried to sell his, her or its shares, (iii) the amount per share stockholders would receive if we
liquidated our assets and distributed the proceeds after paying all our expenses and liabilities or (iv) the price a third party would pay to acquire our
Company.
There is also no assurance that the methodology used to estimate our value per share will be acceptable to broker dealers for customer account
purposes or to the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) or that the estimated value per share will satisfy the applicable annual
valuation requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and the Internal Revenue Code with
respect to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA and other retirement plans or accounts subject to Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Our charter authorizes us to issue additional shares of stock, which may reduce the percentage of our common stock owned by our other
stockholders, subordinate stockholders’ rights or discourage a third party from acquiring us.
Existing stockholders do not have preemptive rights to purchase any shares issued by us in the future. Our charter authorizes us to issue up to
1,500,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 1,460,000,000 shares are classified as common stock and 40,000,000 shares are classified as preferred
stock. We may, in the sole discretion of our board and without approval of our common stockholders:
•

sell additional shares in any future offerings, including as awards under our Employee and Director Restricted Share Plan and
pursuant to the DRP;

•

issue equity interests in a private offering of securities;
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•

classify or reclassify any unissued shares of common or preferred stock by setting or changing the preferences, conversion or other
rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of
redemption of the stock;

•

amend our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or
series that we have authority to issue; or

•

issue shares of our capital stock in exchange for properties.

Future issuances of common stock will reduce the percentage of our outstanding shares owned by our other stockholders. Further, our board of
directors could authorize the issuance of stock with terms and conditions that could subordinate the rights of the holders of our current common
stock, adversely affect the Estimated Per Share NAV or have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an
extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price for our
stockholders.
Market disruptions may adversely impact many aspects of our operating results and operating condition.
The availability of debt financing secured by commercial real estate is subject to underwriting standards that can be tightened in response to
adverse changes in real estate or credit market conditions. Further, interest rates may increase in response to changing economic conditions, which
may negatively affect U.S. economic conditions as a whole, or real estate industry conditions such as:
•

the number of bankruptcies or insolvency proceedings of our tenants and lease guarantors, which could increase and delay our
efforts to collect rent and any past balances due under the relevant leases and ultimately could preclude collection of these sums;

•

our ability to borrow on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, which may be limited and could result in our investment
operations (real estate assets) generating lower overall economic returns and a reduced level of cash flow from what was anticipated
at the time we acquired the asset, and could potentially impact our ability to make distributions to our stockholders, or pursue
acquisition opportunities, among other things, and increase our interest expense;

•

the amount of capital that is available to finance real estate, which could be reduced, and, in turn, could lead to a decline in real estate
values generally, slow real estate transaction activity, and reduce the loan-to-value ratio upon which lenders are willing to lend;

•

the value of certain of our real estate assets, which may decrease below the amounts we pay for them and limit our ability to dispose
them at attractive prices or to obtain debt financing secured by these assets and could reduce the availability of unsecured loans;

•

the value and liquidity of short-term investments, if any, could be reduced as a result of the dislocation of the markets for our shortterm investments and increased volatility in market rates for these investments or other factors; and

•

defaults or bankruptcies by counterparties to derivative financial instruments could occur, increasing the risk that we may not realize
the benefits of these instruments that we have entered into or may enter into.

For these and other reasons, we cannot assure our stockholders that we will be profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our
investments.
Our board of directors may change our investment policies without stockholder approval, which could alter the nature of our stockholders’
investment.
Our charter requires our independent directors to review our investment policies at least annually to determine that the policies we are following are
in the best interest of our stockholders. These policies may change over time. The methods of implementing our investment policies may also vary,
as new investment techniques are developed. Our investment policies, including the Strategic Plan, the methods for implementing them, and our
other objectives, policies and procedures may be altered by a majority of the directors (which must include a majority of the independent directors),
without the approval of our stockholders. As a result, the nature of our stockholders’ investment could change without their consent. A change in
our investment strategy may, among other things, increase our exposure to interest rate risk, default risk and commercial real property market
fluctuations, all of which could materially adversely affect our ability to achieve our investment objectives.
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We may not be able to successfully implement the Strategic Plan adopted by our board of directors on February 11, 2019.
As part of the Strategic Plan, we sold 12 properties during the year ended December 31, 2019 and three additional properties in January 2020. There
is no assurance that we will be able to redeploy the proceeds from the properties sold to acquire suitable investments on financially attractive
terms, if at all, or that we will be able to sell any additional assets at acceptable prices. We also expect to evaluate the redevelopment of certain of
our assets as part of the Strategic Plan. As described herein, redeveloping assets presents additional uncertainties including, among other things,
the cost to redevelop and the amount and timing of returns generated by redevelopment. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
successfully implement the Strategic Plan or that the execution of the Strategic Plan will positively impact the value of our common stock.
Development or redevelopments may expose us to additional risks.
As part of our Strategic Plan, we plan to further analyze and potentially pursue redevelopment of certain assets. Development and redevelopment
activities are subject to a number of risks, including, but not limited to:
•

ceasing development or redevelopment activities after expending resources to determine the feasibility of the project or projects;

•

construction delays or cost overruns that increase project costs;

•

the failure to meet anticipated occupancy or rent levels within the projected time frame, if at all;

•

exposure to fluctuations in the general economy due to the significant time lag between commencing and completing the project;

•

inability to achieve necessary zoning or other governmental permits; and

•

difficulty or inability to obtain any required consents of third parties, such as tenants and, mortgage lenders.

Further, during the period of time we are developing or redeveloping an asset or assets, our rental income from such properties may be reduced.
Delays in completing development may also impact leases with existing tenants or our ability to secure new tenants. Occurrence of any of these
events would likely have a material adverse effect on the estimated value of our common stock, our cash flow from operations, ability to pay
distributions and ability to pursue a liquidity event for our stockholders. In addition, development costs for a project may increase, which may
result in reduced returns, or even losses. In deciding whether to develop or redevelop a particular property, we make certain assumptions regarding
the expected future performance of that property. If the property does not perform as expected, our financial performance may be materially and
adversely affected, or an impairment charge could occur.
Competition with other non-traditional grocery retailers may reduce our profitability.
Tenants in the grocery industry will face potentially changing consumer preferences and increasing competition from other forms of retailing, such
as online grocery retailers and non-traditional grocery retailers such as prepared meal and fresh food delivery services, mass merchandisers, supercenters, warehouse club stores and drug stores. Other retail centers within the market area of our properties and meal and food delivery services
both inside and outside these market areas will compete with our properties for customers, affecting our tenants’ cash flows and thus affecting their
ability to pay rent.
Actions of our joint venture partners could negatively impact our performance.
We have entered into, may continue to enter into, joint ventures with third parties. Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of funds
that we may invest in these joint ventures. We intend to develop and acquire properties through joint ventures with other persons or entities when
warranted by the circumstances. The venture partners may share certain approval rights over major decisions and these investments may involve
risks not otherwise present with other methods of investment in real estate, including, but not limited to:
•

economic conditions make it more likely that our partner in an investment may become bankrupt, which would mean that we and any
other remaining partner would generally remain liable for the entity’s liabilities;

•

that our partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our
business interests or goals, and we may not agree on all proposed actions to certain aspects of the venture;

•

that our partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives,
including our objective to qualify as a REIT;
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•

that, if our partners fail to fund their share of any required capital contributions, we may be required to contribute that capital;

•

that venture agreements often restrict the transfer of a partner’s interest or may otherwise restrict our ability to sell the interest when
we desire or on advantageous terms;

•

that our relationships with our partners are contractual in nature and may be terminated or dissolved under the terms of the
agreements and, in each event, we may not continue to own or operate the interests or assets underlying the relationship or may need
to purchase these interests or assets at an above-market price to continue ownership;

•

that disputes between us and our partners may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our
officers and directors from focusing their time and effort on our business; and

•

that we may in certain circumstances be liable for our partner’s actions.

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund our capital and operating
needs and distributions.
The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or “FDIC,” generally only insures limited amounts per depositor per insured bank. The FDIC insures
up to $250,000 per depositor per insured bank account. At December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents exceeding these federally insured
levels. If any of the banking institutions in which we have deposited funds ultimately fail, we may lose our deposits over the federally insured
levels. The loss of our deposits would reduce the amount of cash we have available to fund our capital and operating needs and distributions.
We rely on IREIC and its affiliates and subsidiaries to manage and conduct our operations. Any material adverse change in IREIC’s financial
condition or our relationship with IREIC could have a material adverse effect on our business and ability to achieve our investment objectives.
We depend on IREIC and its affiliates and subsidiaries to manage and conduct our operations. IREIC, through one or more of its subsidiaries, owns
and controls our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager. IREIC has sponsored numerous public and private programs and through its
affiliates or subsidiaries has provided offering, asset, property and other management and ancillary services to these entities. From time to time,
IREIC or the applicable affiliate or subsidiary has waived or deferred fees or made capital contributions to support these public or private programs.
IREIC or its applicable affiliates or subsidiaries may waive or defer fees or make capital contributions in the future. Further, IREIC and its affiliates or
subsidiaries may from time to time be parties to litigation or other claims arising from sponsoring these entities or providing these services. As
such, IREIC and these other entities may incur costs, liabilities or other expenses arising from litigation or claims that are either not reimbursable or
not covered by insurance. Future waivers or deferrals of fees, additional capital contributions or costs, liabilities or other expenses arising from
litigation or claims could have a material adverse effect on IREIC’s financial condition and ability to fund our Business Manager or Real Estate
Manager to the extent necessary.
If our Business Manager or Real Estate Manager lose or are unable to obtain key personnel, our ability to implement our investment
strategies could be hindered.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the contributions of certain of our executive officers and other key personnel of our Business
Manager and Real Estate Manager. Neither we nor our Business Manager or Real Estate Manager has employment agreements with these persons,
and we cannot guarantee that all, or any particular one, will continue to be available to provide services to us. If any of the key personnel of our
Business Manager or Real Estate Manager were to cease their employment or other relationship with our Business Manager or Real Estate
Manager, respectively, our results and ability to pursue our business plan could suffer. Further, we do not intend to separately maintain “key
person” life insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of death or disability of these persons. We believe our future success
depends, in part, upon the ability of our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager to hire and retain highly skilled managerial, operational and
marketing personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and we cannot assure our stockholders that our Business Manager or Real Estate
Manager will be successful in attracting and retaining skilled personnel. If our Business Manager or Real Estate Manager lose or are unable to
obtain the services of key personnel, our ability to implement our investment strategies could be delayed or hindered, and the value of our
stockholders’ investment could decline.
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If we become self-managed by internalizing our management functions, we may be unable to retain key personnel, and our ability to achieve
our investment objectives could be delayed or hindered, which could adversely affect our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders and
the value of their investments.
At some point in the future, we may consider becoming self-managed by internalizing the functions performed for us by our Business Manager.
Even if we become self-managed, we may not be able to hire certain key employees of the Business Manager and its affiliates, even if we are
allowed to offer them positions with our Company. Although we are generally restricted from soliciting these persons pursuant to certain
provisions set forth in the business management agreement, during the one-year period after the Business Manager’s receipt of an internalization
notice the Business Manager will permit us to solicit for hire the “key” employees of the Business Manager and its affiliates, including all of the
persons serving as the executive officers of our Company or the Business Manager who do not also serve as directors or officers of any other
IREIC-sponsored REITs. However, at any given moment, many or all of the executive officers of the Company and the Business Manager may also
be serving as a director or officer of one or more other IREIC-sponsored REITs. Failure to hire or retain key personnel could result in increased
costs and deficiencies in our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting. These deficiencies could cause us
to incur additional costs and divert management’s attention from most effectively managing our investments, which could result in us being sued
and incurring litigation-associated costs in connection with the internalization transaction.
If we seek to internalize our management functions other than as provided for under our business management agreement, we could incur
greater costs and lose key personnel.
Our board may decide that we should pursue an internalization by hiring our own group of executives and other employees or entering into an
agreement with a third party, such as a merger, instead of by transitioning the services performed by, and hiring the persons providing services for,
our Business Manager. The costs that we would incur in this case are uncertain and may be substantial and we would lose the benefit of the
experience of our Business Manager.
Further, if we seek to internalize the functions performed for us by our Real Estate Manager, the purchase price will be separately negotiated by our
independent directors, or a committee thereof, and will not be subject to the transition procedures described in our business management
agreement.
Our stockholders’ return on investment in our common stock may be reduced if we are required to register as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act.
The Company is not registered, and does not intend to register itself or any of its subsidiaries, as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). If we become obligated to register the Company or any of its subsidiaries as
an investment company, the registered entity would have to comply with regulation under the Investment Company Act with respect to capital
structure (including the registered entity’s ability to use leverage), management, operations, transactions with affiliated persons (as defined in the
Investment Company Act) and portfolio composition, including disclosure requirements and restrictions with respect to diversification and
industry concentration, and other matters. Compliance with the Investment Company Act would limit our ability to make certain investments and
require us to significantly restructure our operations and business plan. The costs we would incur and the limitations that would be imposed on us
as a result of such compliance and restructuring would negatively affect the value of our common stock, our ability to make distributions and the
sustainability of our business and investment strategies.
We intend to conduct our operations, directly and through wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries, so that neither we nor our subsidiaries are
registered or will be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. Section 3(a)(1) of the Investment Company
Act, in relevant part, defines an investment company as (i) any issuer that is, or holds itself out as being, engaged primarily in the business of
investing, reinvesting or trading in securities, or (ii) any issuer that is engaged, or proposes to engage, in the business of investing, reinvesting,
owning, holding or trading in securities and owns, or proposes to acquire, “investment securities” having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its
total assets (exclusive of government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis, which we refer to as the “40% test.” The term
“investment securities” generally includes all securities except government securities and securities of majority-owned subsidiaries that are not
themselves investment companies and are not relying on the exemption from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or Section
3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. We believe we are not considered an investment company under Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment
Company Act because we do not engage primarily or hold ourselves out as being engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or
trading in securities. Rather, we and our subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the business of investing in real property. We also conduct our
operations and the operations of our subsidiaries in a manner designed so that we do not come within the definition of an investment company
under Section 3(a)(1)(C) because less than 40% of the value of our adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated basis consist of “investment
securities.” This requirement limits the types of businesses in which we may engage through our subsidiaries. Furthermore, the assets we and our
subsidiaries may originate or acquire are limited by the provisions of the Investment Company Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
under the Investment Company Act, which may adversely affect our business.
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If we or any of our wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries would ever inadvertently fall within one of the definitions of “investment company,” we
intend to rely on the exemption from registration as an investment company pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act, which
is available for entities “primarily engaged” in the business of “purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real
estate.” As reflected in no-action letters, the SEC staff's position on Section 3(c)(5)(C) generally requires that at least 55% of an entity’s assets
comprise qualifying real estate assets and that at least 80% of its assets must comprise qualifying real estate assets and real estate-related assets
under the Investment Company Act. Specifically, we expect any of our subsidiaries relying on Section 3(c)(5)(C) to invest at least 55% of its assets
in mortgage loans, certain mezzanine loans and other interests in real estate that constitute qualifying real estate assets in accordance with SEC
staff guidance, and an additional 25% of its assets in other types of mortgages, securities of REITs and other real estate-related assets such as debt
and equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses and securities issued by pass-through entities of which
substantially all of the assets consist of qualifying real estate assets and/or real estate-related assets. The remaining 20% of the entity’s assets can
consist of miscellaneous assets. These criteria may limit what we buy, sell and hold.
We will classify our assets for purposes of Section 3(c)(5)(C) based in large measure upon no-action letters issued by the SEC staff and other
interpretive guidance provided by the SEC and its staff or on our analysis of such guidance published with respect to other types of assets to
determine which assets are qualifying real estate assets and real estate-related assets. However, the SEC’s guidance was issued in accordance with
factual situations that may be substantially different from the factual situations we may encounter. No assurance can be given that the SEC will
concur with how we classify our assets or the assets of our subsidiaries. The SEC may in the future take a view different than or contrary to our
analysis with respect to the types of assets we have determined to be qualifying real estate assets or real estate-related assets. For example, on
August 31, 2011 the SEC issued a concept release and request for comments regarding the Section 3(c)(5)(C) exemption (Release No. IC-29778) in
which it contemplated the possibility of issuing new rules or providing new interpretations of the exemption that might, among other things, define
the phrase “liens on and other interests in real estate” or consider sources of income in determining a company’s “primary business.” To the extent
that the SEC or its staff provides more specific or different guidance, we may be required to adjust our strategy accordingly. Any additional
guidance from the SEC or its staff could provide additional flexibility to us, or it could further inhibit our ability to pursue the strategies we have
chosen. If we are required to re-classify our assets, we may no longer be in compliance with the exclusion from the definition of an “investment
company” provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act. There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations governing the
Investment Company Act status of REITs, including the SEC or its staff providing more specific or different guidance regarding these exemptions,
will not change in a manner that adversely affects our operations.
Certain of our subsidiaries may rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(6) to the extent that they hold mortgage assets through majorityowned subsidiaries that rely on the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C). The SEC staff has issued little interpretive guidance with respect to
Section 3(c)(6) and any guidance published by the staff could require us to adjust our strategy accordingly.
A change in the value of any of our assets could cause us to fall within the definition of “investment company” and negatively affect our ability to
be free from registration and regulation under the Investment Company Act. To avoid being required to register the Company or any of its
subsidiaries as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, we may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell and
may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain. Sales may be required during adverse market conditions, and we could be forced to
accept a price below that which we would otherwise consider appropriate. In addition, we may have to acquire additional income- or lossgenerating assets that we might not otherwise have acquired or may have to forgo opportunities to acquire interests in companies that we would
otherwise want to acquire and would be important to our investment strategy. Furthermore, if the value of securities issued by our subsidiaries that
are exempted from the definition of “investment company” by Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, together with any other
investment securities we own, exceeds 40% of our adjusted total assets on an unconsolidated basis, or if one or more of such subsidiaries fail to
maintain an exemption from registration under the Investment Company Act, we could, among other things, be required to substantially change the
manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as an investment company, effect sales of our assets in a manner
that, or at a time when, we would not otherwise choose to do so or register as an investment company. Any of these activities could negatively
affect the value of our common stock, our ability to make distributions and the sustainability of our business and investment strategies, which may
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
If we were required to register the Company or any of its subsidiaries as an investment company but failed to do so, we or the applicable subsidiary
would be prohibited from engaging in our or its business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us or the applicable subsidiary. In
addition, our contracts would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of us and
liquidate our business.
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The occurrence of cyber incidents, or a deficiency in our cybersecurity, could negatively impact our business by causing a disruption to our
operations, a compromise or corruption of our confidential information, and/or damage to our business relationships, all of which could
negatively impact our financial results.
A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our information resources.
More specifically, a cyber incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event that can include gaining unauthorized access to systems to
disrupt operations, corrupt data, or steal confidential information. As our reliance on technology has increased, so have the risks posed to our
systems, both internal and those we have outsourced. Our three primary risks that could directly result from the occurrence of a cyber incident
include operational interruption, damage to our relationship with our tenants, and private data exposure. We have implemented processes,
procedures and controls to help mitigate these risks, but these measures, as well as our increased awareness of a risk of a cyber incident, do not
guarantee that our financial results will not be negatively impacted by such an incident.
A failure of our Business Manager’s information technology (IT) infrastructure could adversely impact our business and operations.
We rely upon the capacity, reliability and security of our Business Manager’s information technology infrastructure and its ability to expand and
continually update this infrastructure in response to changing needs of our business. Our Business Manager faces the challenge of supporting
older systems and hardware and implementing necessary upgrades to its IT infrastructure. Our Business Manager may not be able to successfully
implement these upgrades in an effective manner, which could adversely affect our operations. In addition, our Business Manager may incur
significant increases in costs and extensive delays in the implementation and rollout of any upgrades or new systems. If there are technological
impediments, unforeseen complications, errors or breakdowns in implementation, the disruptions could have an adverse effect on our business and
financial condition.
Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate
There are inherent risks with real estate investments.
Investments in real estate assets are subject to varying degrees of risk. For example, an investment in real estate cannot generally be quickly sold,
limiting our ability to promptly vary our portfolio in response to changing economic, financial and investment conditions. Investments in real estate
assets also are subject to adverse changes in general economic conditions which, for example, reduce the demand for rental space.
Among the factors that could impact our real estate assets and the value of an investment in us are:
•

local conditions such as an oversupply of space or reduced demand for properties of the type that we acquire;

•

inability to collect rent from tenants;

•

vacancies or inability to rent space on favorable terms;

•

inflation and other increases in operating costs, including insurance premiums, utilities and real estate taxes;

•

adverse changes in the federal, state or local laws and regulations applicable to us, including those affecting rents, zoning, prices of
goods, fuel and energy consumption, water and environmental restrictions;

•

the relative illiquidity of real estate investments;

•

changing market demographics;

•

an inability to acquire and finance real estate assets on favorable terms, if at all;

•

the impact of the coronavirus on the U.S. economy and, in particular, on business and consumer demand that may diminish the
demand and rents for our properties and impact our tenant’s ability to pay rent;

•

acts of God, such as earthquakes, floods or other uninsured losses; and

•

changes or increases in interest rates and availability of financing.

In addition, periods of economic slowdown or recession, or declining demand for real estate, or the public perception that any of these events may
occur, could result in a general decline in rents or increased defaults under existing leases.
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The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) is growing and its impacts are uncertain and hard to measure but may cause a material
adverse effect on our business.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus emerged in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. While initially the outbreak was largely concentrated in
China and caused significant disruptions to its economy, it has now spread to other countries and locations, including the United States. The
continued spread of the coronavirus globally has had, and could have a significantly greater, material adverse effect on the global and U.S.
economies as a whole, as well as the states and cities where we own properties in particular. The extent to which the coronavirus impacts our
operations and those of our tenants will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence,
including the scope, severity and duration of the outbreak, the actions taken to contain the coronavirus or mitigate its impact, and the direct and
indirect economic effects of the illness and containment measures, among others.
The coronavirus outbreak is negatively impacting almost every industry directly or indirectly, particularly the travel, hotel and retail industries, and
businesses that rely on or require close personal contact, such as live entertainment venues, gyms and exercise facilities, health and wellness
service providers and beauty salons, restaurants and bars. Due to the scope of the outbreak and the related uncertainties, many other industries
and businesses may be directly or indirectly impacted. Our retail tenants rely on customers and many of their businesses require close personal
contact. A reduction in customer foot traffic could reduce demand for our tenants’ products and services, diminish the demand and rents for our
properties and harm our tenants’ ability or willingness to pay us rent. Moreover, our tenants may be required by the local, state or federal
authorities to cease operations thereby preventing them from generating revenue. Enforcing our rights as landlord against tenants who fail to pay
rent or otherwise do not comply with the terms of their leases may be costly and may consume valuable time and resources, and even if we obtain a
judgment, tenants that have been severely impacted may not be able to pay us what we are owed.
Additionally, many manufacturers of goods in China and other countries have seen a downturn in production due to the suspension of business
and temporary closure of factories in an attempt to curb the spread of the illness. This may lead to a disruption in the supply chain and a decline in
imported goods, which may negatively impact the business of our tenants.
The business and operating results of our tenants may also be negatively impacted if the outbreak of the coronavirus occurs within the workforce
or otherwise disrupts their management and other personnel, their supply chains or their ability to operate their respective businesses. Many
companies have implemented policies and procedures designed to protect against the introduction of the coronavirus to the workforce, including
permitting or requiring personnel to work offsite, among others. These changes in the work processes of our tenants could lead to disruptions,
such as a reduced ability to effectively transact with customers and colleagues and a loss of IT system functionality due to unusual or excess
burdens on IT infrastructures.
We rely on the Business Manager to manage our day to day operations. The business and operations of our Business Manager and its affiliates
may also be adversely impacted by the coronavirus outbreak, including illness or quarantine of members of its workforce, which may negatively
impact on its ability to provide us services to the same degree as it had prior to the outbreak.
Any of these developments, and others, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our real estate assets and other investments may be subject to impairment charges.
Periodically, including in connection with taking actions under our Strategic Plan, we assess whether there are any indicators that the value of our
real estate properties and other investments may be impaired. Under U.S. GAAP, a property’s value is impaired only if the estimate of the aggregate
future cash flows to be generated by the property is less than the carrying value of the property. The valuation and possible subsequent
impairment of real estate properties and other investments is a significant estimate that can change based on our continuous process of analyzing
each property and reviewing assumptions about inherently uncertain factors, as well as the economic condition of the property at a particular point
in time. We are required to make subjective assessments as to whether there are impairments in the value of our real estate properties and other
investments.
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Determining whether a property is impaired and, if impaired, the amount of write-down to fair value requires a significant amount of judgment by
management and is based on the best information available to management at the time of evaluation. There can be no assurance that we will not
take charges in the future related to the impairment of our assets. Because the Strategic Plan contemplates asset sales, we have recognized, and
may continue to recognize, greater impairment charges than if we were to continue to hold and operate these properties. Any future impairment
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which the charge is taken. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
we recognized impairment charges totaling $4.4 million related to three investment properties held for sale as of December 31, 2019, each of which
had a carrying value that exceeded their fair value less selling costs. For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized an impairment charge to
fully impair our investment in Mainstreet Texas Development Fund, LLC a joint venture to develop three transitional care/rapid recovery centers
(“Mainstreet JV”), equal to $9.9 million and an impairment charge of $5.5 million to fully impair our note receivable from Mainstreet JV. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, we recognized an impairment charge related to an investment property of $8.5 million. For further information related to
impairment provision, reference is made to Note 16 – “Fair Value Measurements” which is included in our December 31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8.
An economic downturn could have an adverse impact on the retail industry generally. Slow or negative growth in the retail industry could
result in defaults by retail tenants which could have an adverse impact on our financial operations.
An economic downturn could have an adverse impact on the real estate industry generally. As a result, the retail industry could face reductions in
sales revenues and increased bankruptcies. The continuation of adverse economic conditions may result in an increase in distressed or bankrupt
retail companies, which in turn would result in an increase in defaults by tenants at our commercial properties. Additionally, slow economic growth
is likely to hinder new entrants into the retail market which may make it difficult for us to fully lease space at our retail properties or retail properties
we plan to acquire. Tenant defaults and decreased demand for retail space would have an adverse impact on the value of our retail properties and
any additional retail properties we acquire and our results of operations.
E-commerce can continue to have an impact on our business.
The use of the internet by consumers to shop is expected to continue to expand. This increase in internet sales could result in a downturn in the
business of our current tenants in their “brick and mortar” locations and could affect the way future tenants lease space. While we devote
considerable effort and resources to analyze and respond to tenant trends, preferences and consumer spending patterns, we cannot predict with
certainty what future tenants will want, what future retail spaces will look like and how much revenue will be generated at traditional “brick and
mortar” locations. If we are unable to anticipate and respond promptly to trends in the market, our occupancy levels and rental amounts may
decline.
We face significant competition in the leasing market, which may decrease or prevent increases in the occupancy and rental rates of our
properties.
As of December 31, 2019, we owned 47 properties located in 23 states. We compete with numerous developers, owners and operators of commercial
properties, many of which own properties similar to, and in the same market areas as, our properties. If our competitors offer space at rental rates
below current market rates, or below the rental rates we currently charge our tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants and we may be
pressured to reduce our rental rates below those we currently charge in order to attract new tenants or retain existing tenants when their leases
expire. To the extent we are unable to renew leases or re-let space as leases expire, it would result in decreased cash flow from tenants and reduce
the income produced by our properties. Excessive vacancies (and related reduced shopper traffic) at one of our properties may hurt sales of other
tenants at that property and may discourage them from renewing leases. Also, if our competitors develop additional properties in locations near our
properties, there may be increased competition for creditworthy tenants, which may require us to make capital improvements to properties that we
would not have otherwise made.
We depend on tenants for our revenue, and accordingly lease terminations, tenant default, and bankruptcies could adversely affect the income
produced by our properties.
The success of our investments depends on the financial stability of our tenants. Certain economic conditions may adversely affect one or more of
our tenants. For example, business failures and downsizings may contribute to reduced consumer demand for retail products and services which
would impact tenants of our retail properties. In addition, our retail shopping center properties typically are anchored by large, nationally
recognized tenants, any of which may experience a downturn in their business that may weaken significantly their financial condition. Further,
mergers or consolidations among large retail establishments could result in the closure of existing stores or duplicate or geographically overlapping
store locations, which could include tenants at our retail properties.
As a result of these factors, our tenants may delay lease commencements, decline to extend or renew their leases upon expiration, fail to make rental
payments, or declare bankruptcy. Any of these actions could result in the termination of the tenants' leases, the
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expiration of existing leases without renewal, or the loss of rental income attributable to the terminated or expired leases. In the event of a tenant
default or bankruptcy, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as a landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment
and re-leasing our property.
Our revenue is impacted by the success and economic viability of our anchor retail tenants. Our reliance on single or significant tenants in
certain buildings may decrease our ability to lease vacated space and adversely affect the returns on our stockholders’ investment.
In the retail sector, a tenant occupying all or a large portion of the gross leasable area of a retail center, commonly referred to as an anchor tenant,
may become insolvent, may suffer a downturn in business, or may decide not to renew its lease. Any of these events would result in a reduction or
cessation in rental payments to us and would adversely affect our financial condition. A lease termination by an anchor tenant could result in lease
terminations or reductions in rent by other tenants whose leases may permit cancellation or rent reduction if another tenant’s lease is terminated.
Similarly, the leases of some anchor tenants may permit the anchor tenant to transfer its lease to another retailer. The transfer to a new anchor
tenant could cause customer traffic in the retail center to decrease and thereby reduce the income generated by that retail center. A lease transfer to
a new anchor tenant could also allow other tenants to make reduced rental payments or to terminate their leases in accordance with lease terms. In
the event that we are unable to re-lease the vacated space to a new anchor tenant, we may incur additional expenses in order to remodel the space
to be able to re-lease the space to more than one tenant.
We face potential adverse effects from tenant bankruptcies.
Bankruptcy filings by our tenants or any guarantor of a tenant’s lease obligation can occur in the course of operations, and in recent years, a
number of companies in the retail industry, including certain of our tenants, have declared bankruptcy. A bankruptcy filing of our tenants or any
guarantor of a tenant’s lease obligations would bar all efforts to collect pre-bankruptcy debts from these entities or their properties, unless we
receive an enabling order from the bankruptcy court. Post-bankruptcy debts would be paid currently. If a lease is assumed, all pre-bankruptcy
balances owing under it must be paid in full. If a lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we would only have a general unsecured claim for
damages. If a lease is rejected, it is unlikely we would receive any payments from the tenant because our claim is capped at the rent reserved under
the lease, without acceleration, for the greater of one year or 15% of the remaining term of the lease, but not greater than three years, plus rent
already due but unpaid. This claim could be paid only if the funds were available, and then only in the same percentages as that realized on other
unsecured claims.
A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could delay efforts to collect past due balances under the relevant leases, and could ultimately preclude full
collection of these sums. A tenant or lease guarantor bankruptcy could cause a decrease or cessation of rental payments that would mean a
reduction in our cash flow and the amount available for distributions to our stockholders. In the event of a bankruptcy there can be no assurance
that the tenant or its trustee will assume our lease. If a given lease or guaranty of a lease is not assumed, our cash flow and the amounts available
for distributions to our stockholders may be adversely affected.
Inflation may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Increases in the rate of inflation may adversely affect our net operating income from leases with stated rent increases or limits on the tenant’s
obligation to pay its share of operating expenses, which could be lower than the increase in inflation at any given time. Inflation could also have an
adverse effect on consumer spending, which may impact our tenants’ sales and, with respect to those leases including percentage rent clauses, our
average rents.
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We may be restricted from re-leasing space at our retail properties.
Leases with retail tenants may contain provisions giving the particular tenant the exclusive right to sell particular types of merchandise or provide
specific types of services within the particular retail center. These provisions may limit the number and types of prospective tenants interested in
leasing space in a particular retail property.
We have entered into long-term leases with some of our retail tenants, and those leases may not result in fair value over time, which could
adversely affect our revenues and ability to make distributions.
We have entered into long-term leases with some of our retail tenants. Long-term leases do not allow for significant changes in rental payments and
do not expire in the near term. If we do not accurately judge the potential for increases in market rental rates when negotiating these long-term
leases, significant increases in future property operating costs could result in receiving less than fair value from these leases. These circumstances
would adversely affect our revenues and funds available for distribution.
Retail conditions may adversely affect our income.
A retail property’s revenues and value may be adversely affected by a number of factors, many of which apply to real estate investment generally,
but which also include trends in the retail industry and perceptions by retailers or shoppers of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the
retail property. Our properties are located in public places, and any incidents of crime or violence, including acts of terrorism, would result in a
reduction of business traffic to tenant stores in our properties. Any such incidents may also expose us to civil liability. In addition, to the extent
that the investing public has a negative perception of the retail sector, the value of our retail properties may be negatively impacted.
A number of our retail leases are based on tenant gross sales. Under those leases, our revenue from tenants increases as the sales of our tenants
increase. Generally, retailers face declining revenues during downturns in the economy. As a result, the portion of our revenue which may derive
from percentage rent leases could be adversely affected by a general economic downturn.
Acquiring or attempting to acquire multiple properties in a single transaction may adversely affect our operations.
From time to time, we have acquired multiple properties in a single transaction. Portfolio acquisitions typically are more complex and expensive than
single property acquisitions, and the risk that a multiple-property acquisition does not close may be greater than in a single-property acquisition.
Portfolio acquisitions may also result in us owning investments in geographically dispersed markets, placing additional demands on our Business
Manager and Real Estate Manager in managing the properties in the portfolio. In addition, a seller may require that a group of properties be
purchased as a package even though we may not want to purchase one or more properties in the portfolio. In these situations, if we are unable to
identify another person or entity to acquire the unwanted properties, we may be required to operate or attempt to dispose of these properties. We
also may be required to accumulate a large amount of cash to fund such acquisitions. We would expect the returns that we earn on such cash to be
less than the returns on real property. Therefore, acquiring multiple properties in a single transaction may reduce the overall yield on our portfolio.
Short-term leases may expose us to the effects of declining market rent.
Some of our properties have short-term leases with tenants. There is no assurance that we will be able to renew these leases as they expire or
attract replacement tenants on comparable terms, if at all. Therefore, the returns we earn on this type of investment may be more volatile than the
returns generated by properties with longer term leases.
We do not own the land when we are the lessee under a ground lease, so properties that we operate pursuant to a ground lease are subject to
unique risks.
We have and may continue to acquire long-term leaseholds commonly known as ground leases to operate properties that are on land owned by
third parties. Although we have a right to use the property on land leased to us pursuant to a ground lease, we do not own the underlying land.
Accordingly, we will have no economic interest in the land at the expiration of the ground lease and will not share in any increase in value of the
land or the improvements once our ground lease ends. If we are found to be in breach of a ground lease, and that breach cannot be cured, we could
lose our interest in the improvements and the right to operate the property. Further, because we do not own the underlying land, the lessor could
take certain actions to disrupt our use of the property or our tenant’s operation of the property.
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We may be unable to sell assets if or when we decide to do so.
Maintaining our REIT qualification and continuing to avoid registration under the Investment Company Act as well as many other factors, such as
general economic conditions, the availability of financing, interest rates and the supply and demand for the particular asset type, may limit our
ability to sell real estate assets. Many of these factors are beyond our control. We cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any real estate
asset on favorable terms and conditions, if at all, or the length of time needed to sell an asset.
Sale leaseback transactions may be re-characterized in a manner unfavorable to us.
We may from time to time enter into a sale leaseback transaction where we purchase a property and then lease the property to the seller. The
transaction may, however, be characterized as a financing instead of a sale in the case of the seller’s bankruptcy. In this case, we would not be
treated as the owner of the property but rather as a creditor with no interest in the property itself. The seller may have the ability in a bankruptcy
proceeding to restructure the financing by imposing new terms and conditions. The transaction also may be re-characterized as a joint venture. In
this case, we would be treated as a joint venture with liability, under some circumstances, for debts incurred by the seller relating to the property.
Operating expenses may increase in the future and to the extent these increases cannot be passed on to our tenants, our cash flow and our
operating results would decrease.
Operating expenses, such as expenses for fuel, utilities, labor, building materials and insurance, are not fixed and may fluctuate from time to time.
Unless specifically provided for in a lease, there is no guarantee that we will be able to pass increases on to our tenants. To the extent these
increases cannot be passed on to our tenants, any increases would cause our cash flow and our operating results to decrease, which could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to pay or sustain distributions.
We depend on the availability of public utilities and services, especially for water and electric power. Any reduction, interruption or
cancellation of these services may adversely affect us.
Public utilities, especially those that provide water and electric power, are fundamental for the operation of our assets. The delayed delivery or any
material reduction or prolonged interruption of these services could allow certain tenants to terminate their leases or result in an increase in our
costs, as we may be forced to use backup generators, which also could be insufficient to fully operate our facilities and could result in our inability
to provide services. Accordingly, any interruption or limitation in the provision of these essential services may adversely affect us.
An increase in real estate taxes may decrease our income from properties.
Some local real property tax assessors may seek to reassess some of our properties as a result of our acquisition of the property. Generally, from
time to time our property taxes will increase as property values or assessment rates change or for other reasons deemed relevant by the assessors.
In fact, property taxes may increase even if the value of the underlying property declines. An increase in the assessed valuation of a property for
real estate tax purposes will result in an increase in the related real estate taxes on that property. Although some tenant leases may permit us to
pass through the tax increases to the tenants for payment, there is no assurance that renewal leases or future leases will be negotiated on the same
basis. Increases not passed through to tenants will adversely affect our cash flow from operations and our ability to pay distributions.
Potential development and construction delays and resulting increased costs and risks may reduce cash flow from operations.
We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, unimproved real property or properties that are under development or construction. Investments
in these properties are subject to the uncertainties generally associated with real estate development and construction, including those related to re
-zoning land for development, environmental concerns of governmental entities or community groups and the developers’ ability to complete the
property in conformity with plans, specifications, budgeted costs and timetables. If a developer fails to perform, we may resort to legal action to
rescind the purchase or the construction contract or to compel performance. A developer’s performance may also be affected or delayed by
conditions beyond the developer’s control. Delays in completing construction could also give tenants the right to terminate leases. We may incur
additional risks when we make periodic progress payments or other advances to developers before they complete construction. These and other
factors can result in increased costs of a project or loss of our investment. In addition, we will be subject to lease-up risks associated with newly
constructed projects. We also must rely on rental income and expense projections and estimates of the fair market value of property upon
completion of construction when agreeing upon a purchase price at the time we acquire the property. If our projections are inaccurate, we may pay
too much for a property, and the return on our investment could suffer.
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If we contract with a development company for newly developed property, our earnest money deposit made to the development company may
not be fully refunded.
We may enter into one or more contracts, either directly or indirectly through joint ventures with third parties, to acquire real property from a
development company that is engaged in construction and development of commercial real estate. We may be required to pay a substantial earnest
money deposit at the time of contracting with a development entity. At the time of contracting and the payment of the earnest money deposit by
us, the development company typically will have only a contract to acquire land, a development agreement to develop a building on the land and an
agreement with one or more tenants to lease all or part of the property upon its completion. If the development company fails to develop the
property or all or a specified portion of the pre-leased tenants fail to take possession under their leases for any reason, we may not be able to obtain
a refund of our earnest money deposit.
We may obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property and therefore have only limited recourse in the event our due diligence
did not identify any issues that lower the value of our property.
We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, properties in “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,” without any warranties
of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements may contain only limited warranties, representations
and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period after the closing. The purchase of properties with limited warranties increases the risk
that we may lose some or all of our invested capital in the property, as well as the loss of rental income from that property.
Uninsured losses or premiums for insurance coverage may adversely affect our returns.
The nature of the activities at certain properties may expose us and our tenants or operators to potential liability for personal injuries and, in certain
instances, property damage claims. In addition, there are types of losses, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of
terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured
subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments. Insurance risks associated with potential terrorist acts or increasingly severe
weather could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and casualty claims. These policies may or may not be
available at a reasonable cost, if at all, which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our properties. In such instances, we may be required
to provide other financial support, either through financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential losses. We cannot provide any
assurance that we will have adequate coverage for these losses. In the event that any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is not fully
covered by insurance, the value of the particular asset will likely be reduced by the uninsured loss. In addition, we cannot provide any assurance
that we will be able to fund any uninsured losses.
The costs of complying with environmental laws and other governmental laws and regulations may adversely affect us.
All real property and the operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental
protection and human health and safety. These laws and regulations generally govern wastewater discharges, air emissions, the operation and
removal of underground and above-ground storage tanks, the use, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and hazardous materials,
and the remediation of contamination associated with disposals. We also are required to comply with various local, state and federal fire, health, life
-safety and similar regulations. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or operators for the
costs of investigating or remediating contaminated properties. These laws and regulations often impose liability whether or not the owner or
operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The cost of removing or remediating could be
substantial. In addition, the presence of these substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to
sell or rent a property or to use the property as collateral for borrowing.
Environmental laws and regulations also may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated, and
these restrictions may require substantial expenditures by us. Environmental laws and regulations provide for sanctions in the event of
noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. Third parties may seek recovery
from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury or property damage associated with exposure to released hazardous
substances. Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretations of existing laws may require material expenditures
by us. For example, various federal, regional and state laws and regulations have been implemented or are under consideration to mitigate the
effects of climate change caused by greenhouse gas emissions. Among other things, “green” building codes may seek to reduce emissions
through the imposition of standards for design, construction materials, water and energy usage and efficiency, and waste management. These
requirements could increase the costs of maintaining or improving our existing properties or developing new properties.
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We may acquire properties in regions that are particularly susceptible to natural disasters, which may make us susceptible to the effects of
these natural disasters in those areas from adverse climate developments or other causes.
Our properties are located in certain geographical areas that may be impacted by adverse events such as hurricanes, floods, wildfires, earthquakes,
blizzards or other natural disasters, which could cause a loss of revenues at our real estate properties. In addition, according to some experts,
global climate change could result in heightened severe weather, thus further impacting these geographical areas. Natural disasters in these areas
may cause damage to our properties beyond the scope of our insurance coverage, thus requiring us to make substantial expenditures to repair
these properties and resulting in a loss of revenues from these properties. Any properties located near either coast will be exposed to more severe
weather than properties located inland. These losses may not be insured or insurable at an acceptable cost. Elements such as water, wind, hail, fire
damage and humidity in these areas can increase or accelerate wear on the properties’ weatherproofing and mechanical, electrical and other
systems, and cause mold issues over time. As a result, we may incur additional operating costs and expenditures for capital improvements at
properties in these areas.
Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold, which could lead to liability for adverse health effects and costs of remediating the
problem.
The presence of mold at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly program to remediate, contain or remove the mold. Mold
growth may occur when moisture accumulates in buildings or on building materials. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Concern
about indoor exposure to mold has been increasing because exposure to mold may cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms,
including allergic or other reactions. The presence of mold could expose us to liability from our tenants, their employees and others if property
damage or health concerns arise.
We may incur significant costs to comply with the Americans With Disabilities Act or similar laws.
Our properties generally are subject to the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, which we refer to as the Disabilities Act. Under
the Disabilities Act, all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled
persons. The Disabilities Act has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities” that generally require
that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities.
The requirements of the Disabilities Act could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary
penalties or, in some cases, an award of damages. We attempt to acquire properties that comply with the Disabilities Act or place the burden on the
seller or other third party, such as a tenant, to ensure compliance with these laws. However, we cannot assure our stockholders that we will be able
to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this manner. We may incur significant costs to comply with these laws.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may affect the markets in which we operate our operations and our profitability.
We may acquire properties located in areas that are susceptible to attack. These attacks may directly impact the value of our assets through
damage, destruction, loss or increased security costs. Although we may obtain terrorism insurance, we may not be able to obtain sufficient
coverage to fund any losses we may incur. Risks associated with potential acts of terrorism could sharply increase the premiums we pay for
coverage against property and casualty claims. Further, certain losses resulting from these types of events are uninsurable or not insurable at
reasonable costs.
More generally, any terrorist attack, other act of violence or war, including armed conflicts, could result in increased volatility in, or damage to, the
United States and worldwide financial markets and economy.
Risks Associated with Investments in Securities
Through owning real estate-related equity securities, we will be subject to the risks impacting each entity’s assets.
We may invest in real estate-related securities. Equity securities are always unsecured and subordinated to other obligations of the issuer.
Investments in real estate-related equity securities are subject to the risks associated with investing directly in real estate assets and numerous
additional risks including: (1) limited liquidity in the secondary trading market in the case of unlisted or thinly traded securities; (2) substantial
market price volatility resulting from, among other things, changes in prevailing interest rates in the overall market or related to a specific issuer, as
well as changing investor perceptions of the market as a whole, REIT or real estate securities in particular or the specific issuer in question;
(3) subordination to the liabilities of the issuer; (4) the possibility that earnings of the issuer may be insufficient to meet its debt service obligations
or to pay distributions; and (5) with respect to investments in real estate-related preferred equity securities, the operation of mandatory sinking
fund or call/redemption provisions during periods of declining interest rates that could cause the issuer to redeem the securities. In addition,
investments in real estate-related securities involve special risks relating to the particular issuer of the securities, including the financial condition
and business outlook of the issuer. Investing in real estate-related securities will expose our results of operations and financial condition to the
factors impacting the trading prices of publicly-traded entities.
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Investments in CMBS are subject to all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans and the risks of the securitization process.
CMBS are securities that evidence interests in, or are secured by, a single commercial mortgage loan or a pool of commercial mortgage loans.
Accordingly, these securities are subject to all of the risks of the underlying mortgage loans. In a changing interest rate environment, the value of
CMBS may be adversely affected when payments on underlying mortgages do not occur as anticipated, resulting in the extension of the security’s
effective maturity and the related increase in interest rate sensitivity of a longer-term instrument. The value of CMBS may also change due to shifts
in the market’s perception of issuers and regulatory or tax changes adversely affecting the mortgage securities market as a whole. In addition,
CMBS are subject to the credit risk associated with the performance of the underlying mortgage properties. In certain instances, third-party
guarantees or other forms of credit support designed to reduce credit risk may not be effective due, for example, to defaults by third party
guarantors.
CMBS are also subject to several risks created through the securitization process. Generally, CMBS are issued in classes or tranches. To the extent
that we invest in a subordinate class or tranche, we will be paid interest only to the extent that there are funds available after paying the senior
class. To the extent the collateral pool includes delinquent loans, subordinate classes will likely not be fully paid. Subordinate CMBS are also
subject to greater credit risk than those CMBS that are more highly rated. Further, the ratings assigned to any particular class of CMBS may prove
to be inaccurate. Thus, any particular class of CMBS may be riskier and more volatile than the rating may suggest, all of which may cause the
returns on any CMBS investment to be less than anticipated.
Risks Associated with Debt Financing
Volatility in the financial markets and challenging economic conditions could adversely affect our ability to secure debt financing on
attractive terms and our ability to service any future indebtedness that we may incur.
The domestic and international commercial real estate debt markets are subject to volatility, resulting in, from time to time, the tightening of
underwriting standards by lenders and credit rating agencies, which could limit the availability of credit and increase costs for what is available.
The recent coronavirus outbreak has also adversely affected credit and capital market conditions resulting in extreme volatility and a tightening of
credit standards. This may impact our ability to access capital on favorable terms, in a timely manner, or at all, which could make obtaining funding
for our capital needs, such as future acquisition and distributions to our stockholders, more challenging or expensive. On March 16, 2020, the U.S.
Federal Reserve’s Federal Open Market Committee lowered the target range for the federal funds rate to 0% to 0.25%, but there is no guarantee that
this will lower our cost of capital. If the overall cost of borrowing increases, either by increases in the index rates or by increases in lender spreads,
the increased costs may result in existing or future acquisitions generating lower overall economic returns and potentially reducing future cash flow
available for distribution. If these disruptions in the debt markets persist, our ability to borrow monies to finance the purchase of, or other activities
related to, real estate assets will be negatively impacted. In addition, we may find it difficult, costly or impossible to refinance indebtedness which
is maturing. If we are unable to borrow monies on terms and conditions that we find acceptable, the return on our properties may be lower.
Further, economic conditions could negatively impact commercial real estate fundamentals and result in lower occupancy, lower rental rates and
declining values in our real estate portfolio and in the collateral securing any loan investments we may make.
Borrowings may reduce the funds available for distribution and increase the risk of loss since defaults may cause us to lose the properties
securing the loans.
We have acquired properties by either borrowing monies or, in some instances, by assuming existing financing. We typically borrow money to
finance a portion of the purchase price of assets we acquire. In some instances, we have acquired properties by borrowing monies in an amount
equal to the purchase price of the acquired properties. We may also borrow money for other purposes to, among other things, satisfy the
requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our “REIT annual taxable income,” subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain,
or as is otherwise necessary or advisable to assure that we continue to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Over the long term,
however, payments required on any amounts we borrow reduce the funds available for, among other things, acquisitions, capital expenditures for
existing properties or distributions to our stockholders because cash otherwise available for these purposes is used to pay principal and interest on
this debt.
If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a property and the cash flow needed to service mortgage debt secured by a property, then the
amount of cash flow from operations available for distributions to stockholders may be reduced. In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the
risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In such a case, we could lose
the property securing the loan that is in default, thus reducing the value of our stockholders’ investment. For federal income tax purposes, a
foreclosure is treated as a sale of the property or properties for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the
property or properties. If the outstanding balance of the debt exceeds our tax basis in the property or properties, we would recognize taxable gain
on the foreclosure action and we would not receive any cash proceeds. In this event, we may be unable to pay the amount of distributions required
in order to maintain our REIT status. We also may fully or partially guarantee any monies that subsidiaries borrow to purchase or operate
properties. In these cases,
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we will likely be responsible to the lender for repaying the loans if the subsidiary is unable to do so. If any mortgage contains cross-collateralization
or cross-default provisions, more than one property may be affected by a default.
If we are unable to borrow at favorable rates, we may not be able to acquire new properties.
If we are unable to borrow money at favorable rates, we may be unable to acquire additional real estate assets or refinance existing loans at
maturity. Further, we have obtained and may continue to enter into loan agreements or other credit arrangements that require us to pay interest on
amounts we borrow at variable or “adjustable” rates. Increases in interest rates will increase our interest costs. If interest rates are higher when we
refinance our loans, our expenses will increase and we may not be able to pass on this added cost in the form of increased rents, thereby reducing
our cash flow and the amount available for distribution to our stockholders. Further, during periods of rising interest rates, we may be forced to sell
one or more of our properties in order to repay existing loans, which may not permit us to maximize the return on the particular properties being
sold. At December 31, 2019, we had $117.7 million or 17.2% of our total debt that bore interest at variable rates and not fixed by swap agreements
with a weighted average interest rate equal to 3.45%. We had variable rate debt subject to swap agreements fixing the rate of $402.2 million or 58.8%
of our total debt at December 31, 2019.
Interest-only indebtedness may increase our risk of default and ultimately may reduce our funds available for distribution to our stockholders.
We have obtained, and may continue to enter into, mortgage indebtedness that does not require us to pay principal for all or a portion of the life of
the debt instrument. During the period when no principal payments are required, the amount of each scheduled payment is less than that of a
traditional amortizing mortgage loan. The principal balance of the mortgage loan is not reduced (except in the case of prepayments) because there
are no scheduled monthly payments of principal required during this period. After the interest-only period, we may be required either to make
scheduled payments of principal and interest or to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at or prior to maturity. These required principal or
balloon payments will increase the amount of our scheduled payments and may increase our risk of default under the related mortgage loan if we do
not have funds available or are unable to refinance the obligation.
The financial covenants under our credit agreement may restrict our ability to make distributions and our operating and acquisition activities.
If we breach the financial covenants we could be held in default under the credit agreement, which could accelerate our repayment date and
materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
We entered into a credit agreement, as amended, for a $350.0 million credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) consisting of a revolving credit facility
providing initial revolving credit commitments in an aggregate amount of $200.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and a term loan facility
providing initial term loan commitments in an aggregate amount of $150.0 million (the “Term Loan”). The credit agreement provides us with the
ability from time to time to increase the size of the Credit Facility, subject to certain conditions. Our performance of the obligations under the credit
agreement, including the payment of any outstanding indebtedness, is secured by a minimum pool of ten unencumbered properties with an
unencumbered pool value of $200.0 million or above and by a guaranty by certain of our subsidiaries. At December 31, 2019, we had $267.0 million
outstanding of the $350 million available under the Credit Facility. Our availability under the Credit Facility was $83.0 million as of December 31,
2019.
The credit agreement requires compliance with certain financial covenants, including, among other conditions, a minimum tangible net worth
requirement, restrictions on indebtedness, a distribution limitation and other material covenants. These covenants could inhibit our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders and to pursue certain business initiatives or effect certain transactions that might otherwise be beneficial to us.
For example, without lender consent, we may not declare and pay distributions or honor any redemption requests if any default under the
agreement then exists or if distributions, excluding any distributions reinvested through our DRP, for the then-current quarter and the three
immediately preceding quarters would exceed 95% of our Funds from Operations, or “FFO,” excluding acquisition expenses, or “adjusted FFO,” for
that period. For the year ended December 31, 2019, distributions did not exceed 95% of our adjusted FFO.
The credit agreement also provides for several customary events of default, including, among other things, the failure to comply with our
covenants and the failure to pay when amounts outstanding under the credit agreement become due. Declaration of a default by the lenders under
the credit agreement could restrict our ability to borrow additional monies and could cause all amounts to become immediately due and payable,
which would materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
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Investing in subordinated debt involves greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by the same properties.
We have invested in, and may continue to invest in, mezzanine debt and other subordinated debt. These types of investments carry a higher
degree of risk of loss than senior secured debt investments because in the event of default and foreclosure, holders of senior liens will be paid in
full before subordinated investors and, depending on the value of the underlying collateral, there may not be sufficient assets to pay all or any part
of amounts owed to subordinated investors. Moreover, mezzanine debt and other subordinated debt investments may have higher loan-to-value
ratios than conventional senior lien financing, resulting in less equity in the collateral and increasing the risk of loss of principal. If a borrower
defaults or declares bankruptcy, we may be subject to agreements restricting or eliminating our rights as a creditor, including rights to call a default,
foreclose on collateral, accelerate maturity or control decisions made in bankruptcy proceedings. In addition, senior lenders may limit the amount or
timing of interest and principal payments while the senior secured debt is outstanding.
We may acquire or finance properties with lock-out provisions, which may prohibit us from selling a property, or may require us to maintain
specified debt levels for a period of years on some properties.
The terms and conditions contained in certain of our loan documents preclude us from pre-paying the principal amount of the loan or could restrict
us from selling or otherwise disposing of or refinancing properties. For example, lock-out provisions prohibit us from reducing the outstanding
indebtedness secured by certain of our properties, refinancing this indebtedness on a non-recourse basis at maturity, or increasing the amount of
indebtedness secured by our properties. Lock-out provisions could impair our ability to take other actions during the lock-out period. In particular,
lock-out provisions could preclude us from participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control
even though that disposition or change in control might be in the best interests of our stockholders.
Increasing interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to pay distributions. We may also be
adversely affected by uncertainty surrounding LIBOR.
At December 31, 2019, we had $117.7 million of debt or 17.2% of our total debt bearing interest at variable rates indexed to the London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and not fixed by a swap with a weighted average interest rate equal to 3.45% per annum. We had variable rate debt indexed
to LIBOR and subject to swap agreements fixing the rate of $402.2 million or 58.8% of our total debt at December 31, 2019. If interest rates on all debt
which bears interest at variable rates as of December 31, 2019 increased by 1% (100 basis points), the increase in interest expense on all debt would
decrease earnings and cash flows by $1.2 million annually. If interest rates on all debt which bears interest at variable rates as of December 31, 2019
decreased by 1% (100 basis points), the decrease in interest expense would increase earnings and cash flows by the same amount.
In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, the authority which regulates LIBOR, announced it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for
the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. As a result, the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York organized the Alternative
Reference Rates Committee, which identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and
other financial contracts. We are not able to predict when LIBOR may be limited or discontinued or when there will be sufficient liquidity in the SOFR
market. We are monitoring and evaluating the risks related to potential changes in LIBOR availability, which include potential changes in interest paid
on debt and amounts received and paid on interest rate swaps. In addition, the value of debt or derivative instruments tied to LIBOR could also be
impacted when LIBOR is limited or discontinued, and contracts must be transitioned to a new alternative rate. In some instances, transitioning to an
alternative rate may require negotiation with lenders and other counterparties and could present challenges. The consequences of these developments
cannot be entirely predicted and could include an increase in the cost of our variable rate debt.
While we expect LIBOR to be available in substantially its current form until the end of 2021, it is possible that LIBOR will become unavailable prior to
that time. This could occur, for example, if a sufficient number of banks decline to make submissions to the LIBOR administrator. In that case, the risks
associated with the transition to an alternative reference rate would be accelerated or magnified. Any of these events, as well as the other uncertainty
surrounding the transition to LIBOR, could adversely affect us.
To hedge against interest rate fluctuations, we may use derivative financial instruments that may be costly and ineffective.
From time to time, we have used, and may continue to use, derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans
secured by our assets. Derivative instruments may include interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward
contracts, options or repurchase agreements. Our actual hedging decisions will be determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the
time of the hedge and may differ from our current hedging strategy. There is no assurance that our hedging strategy will achieve our
objectives. We may be subject to costs, such as transaction fees or breakage costs, if we terminate these arrangements.
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We use derivative financial instruments to hedge against interest rate fluctuations and are exposed to credit risk, basis risk and legal enforceability
risks. In this context, credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. If the fair value of a
derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes us, which creates credit risk for us. Basis risk occurs when the index upon which the contract
is based is more or less variable than the index upon which the hedged asset or liability is based, thereby making the hedge less effective. Finally,
legal enforceability risks encompass general contractual risks including the risk that the counterparty will breach the terms of, or fail to perform its
obligations under, the derivative contract, increasing the risk that we may not realize the benefits of these instruments. There is a risk that
counterparties could fail, shut down, file for bankruptcy or be unable to pay out contracts. The failure of a counterparty that holds collateral that we
post in connection with an interest rate swap agreement could result in the loss of that collateral.
We may be contractually obligated to purchase property even if we are unable to secure financing for the acquisition.
We expect to finance a portion of the purchase price for each property that we acquire. However, to ensure that our offers are as competitive as
possible, we do not expect to enter into contracts to purchase property that include financing contingencies. Thus, we may be contractually
obligated to purchase a property even if we are unable to secure financing for the acquisition. In this event, we may choose to close on the
property by using cash on hand, which would result in less cash available for our operations and distributions to stockholders. Alternatively, we
may choose not to close on the acquisition of the property and default on the purchase contract. If we default on any purchase contract, we could
lose our earnest money and become subject to liquidated or other contractual damages and remedies.
The total amount we may borrow is limited by our charter.
We may borrow up to 300% of our net assets, equivalent to 75% of the cost of our assets. We may exceed this limit only if our board of directors
(including a majority of our independent directors) determines that a higher level is appropriate. This limit could adversely affect our business,
including:
•

limiting our ability to purchase real estate assets;

•

causing us to lose our REIT status if we cannot borrow to fund the monies needed to satisfy the REIT distribution requirements;

•

causing operational problems if there are cash flow shortfalls for working capital purposes; and

•

causing the loss of a property if, for example, financing is necessary to cure a default on a mortgage.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest
IREIC may face a conflict of interest in allocating personnel and resources between its affiliates, our Business Manager and our Real Estate
Manager.
We do not have any employees. We rely on persons performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager and their affiliates to
manage our day-to-day operations. Some of these persons also provide services to one or more investment programs currently or previously
sponsored by IREIC. These individuals face competing demands for their time and service, and are required to allocate their time between our
business and assets and the business and assets of IREIC, its affiliates and the other programs formed and organized by IREIC. Certain of these
individuals have fiduciary duties to both us and our stockholders. If these persons are unable to devote sufficient time or resources to our
business due to the competing demands of the other programs, they may violate their fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders, which could
harm our business and cause us to be unable to maintain or increase the value of our assets, and our operating cash flows and ability to pay
distributions could be adversely affected.
In addition, if another investment program sponsored by IREIC decides to internalize its management functions in the future, it may do so by hiring
and retaining certain of the persons currently performing services for our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager, and if it did so, it would not
allow these persons to perform services for us.
We do not have arm’s-length agreements with our Business Manager, our Real Estate Manager or any other affiliates of IREIC.
The agreements and arrangements with our Business Manager, our Real Estate Manager and any other affiliates of IREIC were not negotiated at
arm’s-length. These agreements may contain terms and conditions that are not in our best interest or would not be present if we entered into arm’slength agreements with third parties.
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Our Business Manager, our Real Estate Manager and other affiliates of IREIC face conflicts of interest caused by their compensation
arrangements with us, which could result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders.
We pay fees, which may be significant, to our Business Manager, Real Estate Manager and other affiliates of IREIC for services provided to us.
Our Business Manager receives fees based on the aggregate book value, including acquired intangibles, of our invested assets. Further, our Real
Estate Manager receives fees based on the gross income from properties under management and may also receive leasing and construction
management fees. Other parties related to, or affiliated with, our Business Manager or Real Estate Manager may also receive fees or cost
reimbursements from us. These compensation arrangements may cause these entities to take or not take certain actions. For example, these
arrangements may provide an incentive for our Business Manager to: (1) borrow more money than prudent to increase the amount we can invest; or
(2) retain instead of sell assets, even if our stockholders may be better served by a sale or other disposition of the assets. The interests of these
parties in receiving fees may conflict with the interest of our stockholders in earning income on their investment in our common stock.
We rely on entities affiliated with IREIC to identify real estate assets.
We rely on the real estate professionals employed by IREA and other affiliates of our Sponsor to source potential investments in properties, real
estate-related assets and other investments in which we may be interested. Our Sponsor and its affiliates maintain an investment committee
(“Investment Committee”) that reviews each potential investment and determines whether an investment is acceptable for acquisition. In
determining whether an investment is suitable, the Investment Committee considers investment objectives, portfolio and criteria of all programs
currently advised by our Sponsor or its affiliates (collectively referred to as the “Programs”). Other factors considered by the Investment Committee
may include cash flow, the effect of the acquisition on portfolio diversification, the estimated income or unrelated business tax effects of the
purchase, policies relating to leverage, regulatory restrictions and the capital available for investment. Our Business Manager will not recommend
any investments for us unless the investment is approved for consideration in advance by the Investment Committee. Once an investment has
been approved for consideration by the Investment Committee, the Programs are advised and provided an opportunity to elect to acquire the
investment. If more than one Program is interested in acquiring an investment, then the Program that has had the longest period of time elapse since
it was allocated and invested in a contested investment is awarded the investment by the allocation committee. We may not, therefore, be able to
acquire properties that we otherwise would be interested in acquiring.
Our properties may compete with the properties owned by other programs sponsored by IREIC or IPCC.
Certain programs sponsored by IREIC or Inland Private Capital Corporation (“IPCC”) own and manage the type of properties that we own or seek to
acquire, including in the same geographical areas. Therefore, our properties, especially those located in the same geographical area, may compete
for tenants or purchasers with other properties owned and managed by other IREIC- or IPCC-sponsored programs. Persons performing services for
our Real Estate Manager may face conflicts of interest when evaluating tenant leasing opportunities for our properties and other properties owned
and managed by IREIC- or IPCC-sponsored programs, and these conflicts of interest may have an adverse impact on our ability to attract and retain
tenants. In addition, a conflict could arise in connection with the resale of properties in the event that we and another IREIC- or IPCC-sponsored
program were to attempt to sell similar properties at the same time, including in particular in the event another IREIC- or IPCC-sponsored program
engages in a liquidity event at approximately the same time as us, thus impacting our ability to sell the property or complete a proposed liquidity
event.
Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure
Our rights, and the rights of our stockholders, to recover claims against our officers, directors, Business Manager and Real Estate Manager
are limited.
Under our charter, no director or officer will be liable to us or to any stockholder for money damages to the extent that Maryland law permits the
limitation of the liability of directors and officers of a corporation. We may generally indemnify our directors, officers, employees, if any, Business
Manager, Real Estate Manager and their respective affiliates for any losses or liabilities suffered by any of them as long as: (1) the directors have
determined in good faith that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in our best interest; (2) these persons or entities were
acting on our behalf or performing services for us; (3) the loss or liability was not the result of the negligence or misconduct of the directors (gross
negligence or willful misconduct with respect to the independent directors), officers, employees, Business Manager, Real Estate Manager or their
respective affiliates; and (4) the indemnity or agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of our net assets and not from our stockholders.
As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against our directors, officers and employees, our Business Manager, the Real
Estate Manager and their respective affiliates, than might otherwise exist under common law. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense
costs incurred by our directors, officers and employees or our Business Manager and the Real Estate Manager and their respective affiliates in
some cases.
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Our board of directors may, in the future, adopt certain measures under Maryland law without stockholder approval that may have the effect
of making it less likely that a stockholder would receive a “control premium” for his or her shares.
Corporations organized under Maryland law with a class of registered securities and at least three independent directors are permitted to protect
themselves from unsolicited proposals or offers to acquire the company by electing to be subject, by a charter or bylaw provision or a board of
directors resolution and notwithstanding any contrary charter or bylaw provision, to any or all of five provisions:
•

staggering the board of directors into three classes;

•

requiring a two-thirds vote of stockholders to remove directors;

•

providing that only the board can fix the size of the board;

•

providing that all vacancies on the board, regardless of how the vacancy was created, may be filled only by the affirmative vote of a
majority of the remaining directors in office and for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy
occurred; and

•

requiring that special stockholders meetings be called only by holders of shares entitled to cast a majority of the votes entitled to be
cast at the meeting.

These provisions may discourage an extraordinary transaction, such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, all of
which might provide a premium price for stockholders’ shares. Our charter does not prohibit our board from opting into any of the above
provisions.
Further, under the Maryland Business Combination Act, we may not engage in any merger or other business combination with an “interested
stockholder” or any affiliate of that interested stockholder for a period of five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder
became an interested stockholder. After the five-year period ends, any merger or other business combination with the interested stockholder must
be recommended by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•

80% of all votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of our voting stock; and

•

two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of our voting stock other than those shares owned
or held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or held by an
affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder unless, among other things, our stockholders receive a minimum payment for their
common stock equal to the highest price paid by the interested stockholder for its common stock.

Our directors have adopted a resolution exempting any business combination involving us and The Inland Group or any affiliate of The Inland
Group, including our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager, from the provisions of this law.
Our charter places limits on the amount of common stock that any person may own without the prior approval of our board of directors.
No more than 50% of the outstanding shares of our common stock may be beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals at
any time during the last half of each taxable year (other than the first taxable year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). Our charter
prohibits any persons or groups from owning more than 9.8% in value of our outstanding stock or more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares,
whichever is more restrictive, of our outstanding common stock without the prior approval of our board of directors. These provisions may have
the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us, including an extraordinary transaction such as a merger, tender offer or sale
of all or substantially all of our assets that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock. Further, any person or group attempting
to purchase shares exceeding these limits could be compelled to sell the additional shares and, as a result, to forfeit the benefits of owning the
additional shares.
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Maryland law limits, in some cases, the ability of a third party to vote shares acquired in a “control share acquisition.”
The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share acquisition”
have no voting rights except to the extent approved by stockholders by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares of
stock owned by the acquirer, by officers of the acquirer or by employees who are directors of the acquirer, are excluded from shares entitled to vote
on the matter. “Control shares” are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquirer or in respect of
which the acquirer can exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquirer to
exercise voting power in electing directors within specified ranges of voting power. Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is
then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of issued
and outstanding control shares. The control share acquisition statute does not apply: (1) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share
exchange if the Maryland corporation is a party to the transaction; or (2) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the
Maryland corporation. Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the Control Share Acquisition Act any and all acquisitions of our stock by
any person. There can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time in the future.
Federal Income Tax Risks
If we fail to remain qualified as a REIT, our operations and distributions to stockholders will be adversely affected.
We elected to be taxed as a REIT, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 2013 and intend to operate in a manner that would allow
us to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, we may terminate our REIT qualification, if our board of directors
determines that not qualifying as a REIT is in the best interests of our stockholders, or inadvertently. Our qualification as a REIT depends upon our
satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and other requirements on a continuing basis. We have
structured and intend to continue structuring our activities in a manner designed to satisfy all the requirements for qualification as a REIT.
However, the REIT qualification requirements are extremely complex and interpretation of the U.S. federal income tax laws governing qualification as
a REIT is limited. Furthermore, any opinion of our counsel, including tax counsel, as to our eligibility to remain qualified as a REIT is not binding on
the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and is not a guarantee that we will continue to qualify as a REIT. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that
we will be successful in operating so we can remain qualified as a REIT. Our ability to satisfy the asset tests depends on our analysis of the
characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which are not susceptible to a precise determination, and for which we will not obtain
independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income or quarterly asset requirements also depends on our ability to successfully manage
the composition of our income and assets on an ongoing basis. Accordingly, if certain of our operations were to be recharacterized by the IRS,
such recharacterization would jeopardize our ability to satisfy all requirements for qualification as a REIT. Furthermore, future legislative, judicial or
administrative changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws could be applied retroactively, which could result in our disqualification as a REIT.
If we were to fail to remain qualified as a REIT, without the benefit of certain statutory relief provisions, in any taxable year:
•

we would not be allowed to deduct dividends paid to stockholders when computing our taxable income;

•

we would be subject to federal and state income tax on our taxable income as a regular “C corporation” and may be subject to
additional state and local taxes;

•

we would be disqualified from being taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we failed to qualify,
unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions;

•

we would have less cash to pay distributions to stockholders; and

•

we may be required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assets in order to pay corporate tax obligations we may incur as a
result of being disqualified.

In addition, if we were to fail to qualify as a REIT, we would not be required to pay distributions to stockholders, and all distributions to
stockholders that we did pay would be subject to tax as regular corporate dividends to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and
profits. This means that our U.S. stockholders who are taxed as individuals generally would be taxed on our dividends at capital gains rates and
that our corporate stockholders would be entitled to the dividends received deduction with respect to such dividends, subject, in each case, to
applicable limitations under the Internal Revenue Code.
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In certain circumstances, we may be subject to federal, state and local income taxes as a REIT, which would reduce our cash available to pay
distributions.
Even as a REIT, we may be subject to federal, state and local income taxes. For example, if we have net income from a “prohibited transaction,” we
will incur taxes equal to the full amount of the net income from the prohibited transaction. We may not be able to make sufficient distributions to
avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We also may decide to retain income we earn from the sale or other disposition of our property and pay
income tax directly on this income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it directly.
However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have to file income tax returns to receive a refund of
the income tax paid on their behalf. We also may be subject to state and local taxes on our income, property or net worth, either directly or at the
level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets. Any taxes we pay directly or indirectly will reduce our cash available to
pay distributions.
The taxation of distributions to our stockholders can be complex; however, distributions that we make to our stockholders generally will be
taxable as ordinary income.
Distributions that we make to our taxable stockholders out of current and accumulated earnings and profits (and not designated as capital gain
dividends or qualified dividend income) generally will be taxable as ordinary income. Noncorporate stockholders are entitled to a 20% deduction
with respect to these ordinary REIT dividends which would result in a maximum effective federal income tax rate of 29.6% (or 33.4% including the
3.8% surtax on net investment income); however, the 20% deduction will end after December 31, 2025. However, a portion of our distributions may:
(1) be designated by us as capital gain dividends generally taxable as long-term capital gain to the extent that they are attributable to net capital
gain recognized by us; (2) be designated by us as qualified dividend income, taxable at capital gains rates, generally to the extent they are
attributable to dividends we receive from any taxable REIT subsidiaries or certain other taxable “C corporations” in which we own shares of stock;
or (3) constitute a return of capital generally to the extent that they exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined for U.S.
federal income tax purposes. A return of capital is not taxable but has the effect of reducing the tax basis of a stockholder’s investment in our
common stock. Distributions that exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits and a stockholder’s tax basis in our common stock
generally will be taxable as capital gain.
To maintain our REIT status, we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may force us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities
or borrow funds during unfavorable market conditions. This could delay or hinder our ability to meet our investment objectives and reduce our
stockholders’ overall return.
To qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders each year at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
deduction for dividends paid and excluding any net capital gain. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable
income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we make with respect to any calendar year
are less than the sum of (a) 85% of our ordinary income, (b) 95% of our capital gain net income and (c) 100% of our undistributed income from prior
years. At times, we may not have sufficient funds to satisfy these distribution requirements and may need to borrow funds or sell assets to fund
these distributions, maintain our REIT status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes.
Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax.
Our ability to dispose of property during the first two years following acquisition is restricted to a substantial extent as a result of our REIT status.
Under applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code regarding prohibited transactions by REITs, while we qualify as a REIT and provided we
do not meet a safe harbor available under the Internal Revenue Code, we will be subject to a 100% penalty tax on the net income from the sale or
other disposition of any property (other than foreclosure property) that we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary entity, but generally
excluding taxable REIT subsidiaries, that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade
or business. Whether property is inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business depends
on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each property. We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by (1) conducting
activities that may otherwise be considered prohibited transactions through a taxable REIT subsidiary (but such taxable REIT subsidiary will incur
corporate rate income taxes with respect to any income or gain recognized by it), (2) conducting our operations in such a manner so that no sale or
other disposition of an asset we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary, will be treated as a prohibited transaction or (3) structuring
certain dispositions of our properties to comply with the requirements of the prohibited transaction safe harbor available under the Internal
Revenue Code for properties that, among other requirements, have been held for at least two years. Despite our present intention, no assurance can
be given that any particular property we own, directly or indirectly through any subsidiary entity, but generally excluding taxable REIT subsidiaries,
will not be treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business.
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Complying with the REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of cash,
cash items, certain government securities and qualified real estate assets, including shares of stock in other REITs, certain mortgage loans and
mortgage-backed securities. The remainder of our investment in securities (other than securities that qualify for the 75% asset test and securities of
qualified REIT subsidiaries and taxable REIT subsidiaries) generally cannot exceed 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer, 10%
of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer, or 5% of the value of our assets as to any one issuer. In addition, no more than
25% of the value of our total assets may be securities (other than securities that qualify for the 75% asset test and securities of qualified REIT
subsidiaries), no more than 20% of the value of our total assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries and no
more than 25% of our assets may be represented by publicly offered REIT debt instruments that do not otherwise qualify under the 75% asset test.
In order to meet these tests, we may be required to forego investments we might otherwise make. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may
hinder our performance.
If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within thirty days after the end of the
calendar quarter, or otherwise qualify to cure the failure under a relief provision, to avoid losing our REIT status and suffering adverse tax
consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.
Our stockholders may have tax liability on distributions that they elect to reinvest in our common stock.
If our stockholders participate in our DRP, they will be deemed to have received, and for income tax purposes will be taxed on, the fair market value
of the share of our common stock that they receive in lieu of cash distributions. As a result, unless a stockholder is a tax-exempt entity, it will have
to use funds from other sources to pay its tax liability.
Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively.
The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code may limit our ability to hedge the risks inherent to our operations. Under current law, any
income that we generate from derivatives or other transactions intended to hedge risk of interest rate changes, price changes or currency
fluctuations with respect to borrowings made, or to be made, to acquire or carry real estate assets or in certain cases to hedge previously acquired
hedges entered into to manage risks associated with property that has been disposed of or liabilities that have been extinguished, if properly
identified under applicable Treasury Regulations, generally will not constitute gross income for purposes of the 75% and 95% income requirements
applicable to REITs. To the extent that we enter into other types of hedging transactions, the income from those transactions will likely be treated
as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may need to limit our use of advantageous
hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a taxable REIT subsidiary. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because
taxable REIT subsidiaries would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes in interest rates than we would
otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in a taxable REIT subsidiary generally will not provide any tax benefit, except for being carried forward
against future taxable income of such taxable REIT subsidiary.
Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect investors.
Changes to the tax laws may occur, and any such changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our shares or on the market value or
the resale potential of our assets. Our stockholders are urged to consult with an independent tax advisor with respect to the status of legislative,
regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our shares.
Although REITs generally receive more favorable tax treatment than entities taxed as “C corporations,” it is possible that future legislation would
result in a REIT having fewer tax advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that invests in real estate to elect to be
treated for federal income tax purposes as a “C corporation.” As a result, our charter provides our board of directors with the power, under certain
circumstances, to revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election and cause us to be taxed as a “C corporation,” without the vote of our
stockholders. Our board of directors has fiduciary duties to us and our stockholders and could only cause such changes in our tax treatment if it
determines in good faith that such changes are in the best interest of our stockholders.
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Dividends payable by REITs generally do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.
Currently, the maximum tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income payable to U.S. stockholders that are individuals, trusts and estates is
23.8%, including the 3.8% surtax on net investment income. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not eligible for this reduced rate
and, as described above, through December 31, 2025, will be subject to an effective rate of 33.4%, including the 3.8% surtax on net investment
income. Although this does not adversely affect the taxation of REITs or dividends payable by REITs, the more favorable rates applicable to
regular corporate qualified dividends could cause investors who are individuals, trusts and estates to perceive investments in REITs to be
relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could adversely affect the value of the
shares of REITs, including our shares. Tax rates could be changed in future legislation.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2.

Properties

(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per square foot amounts)
The table below presents a summary of our investment properties as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
As of December 31,
2019

Number of properties
Purchase price
Total square footage
Weighted average physical occupancy
Weighted average economic occupancy
Weighted average remaining lease term (years)

$

As of December 31,
2018

47
1,399,289 $
6,758,359
94.0%
94.4%
5.5

59
1,414,253
6,870,124
94.1%
94.7%
6.0

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, ABR per square foot averaged $17.54 and $17.30, respectively, for all properties owned. ABR is calculated by
annualizing the monthly base rent for leases in-place as of the applicable date, including any tenant concessions, such as rent abatement or
allowances, which may have been granted and excluding ground leases. ABR per square foot including ground leases averaged $15.08 and $14.94,
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold 12 properties and recognized a gain of $3,279 included in gain on sale of investment properties
on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
29

The table below presents information for each of our investment properties as of December 31, 2019.

Property

Newington Fair (a)
Wedgewood Commons (a)
Park Avenue (a)
North Hills Square (a)
Mansfield Shopping Center (a)
Lakeside Crossing (a)
MidTowne Shopping Center (a)
Dogwood Festival (a)
Pick N Save Center (a)
Harris Plaza (a)
Dixie Valley
The Landings at Ocean Isle (a)
Shoppes at Prairie Ridge (a)
Harvest Square
Heritage Square
The Shoppes at Branson Hills (a)
Branson Hills Plaza (a)
Copps Grocery Store (a)
Fox Point Plaza (a)
Shoppes at Lake Park (a)
Plaza at Prairie Ridge (a)
Green Tree Shopping Center
Eastside Junction
Fairgrounds Crossing
Prattville Town Center
Regal Court
Shops at Hawk Ridge (a)
Walgreens Plaza
Whispering Ridge (a)
Frisco Marketplace (a)
White City
Treasure Valley (a)
Yorkville Marketplace (a)
Shoppes at Market Pointe
2727 Iowa Street (a)
Settlers Ridge
Milford Marketplace
Marketplace at El Paseo
Blossom Valley Plaza (a)
The Village at Burlington Creek
Oquirrh Mountain Marketplace (a)
Marketplace at Tech Center
Coastal North Town Center
Oquirrh Mountain Marketplace II (a)
Wilson Marketplace (a)
Pentucket Shopping Center
Coastal North Town Center - Phase II
Portfolio total
(a)
(b)

Square
Footage

Location

Newington, CT
Olive Branch, MS
Little Rock, AR
Coral Springs, FL
Mansfield, TX
Lynchburg, VA
Little Rock, AR
Flowood, MS
West Bend, WI
Layton, UT
Louisville, KY
Ocean Isle, NC
Pleasant Prairie, WI
Harvest, AL
Conyers, GA
Branson, MO
Branson, MO
Stevens Point, WI
Neenah, WI
West Valley City, UT
Pleasant Prairie, WI
Katy, TX
Athens, AL
Hot Springs, AR
Prattville, AL
Shreveport, LA
St. Louis, MO
Jacksonville, NC
Omaha, NE
Frisco, TX
Shrewsbury, MA
Nampa, ID
Yorkville, IL
Papillion, NE
Lawrence, KS
Pittsburgh, PA
Milford, CT
Fresno, CA
Turlock, CA
Kansas City, MO
South Jordan, UT
Newport News, VA
Myrtle Beach, SC
South Jordan, UT
Wilson, NC
Plaistow, NH
Myrtle Beach, SC

Physical
Occupancy

186,205
159,258
79,131
63,829
148,529
67,034
126,288
187,610
94,000
125,965
119,981
53,203
232,606
70,590
22,510
256,329
210,201
69,911
171,121
52,997
9,035
147,621
79,700
155,127
168,842
363,061
75,951
42,219
69,676
112,024
257,121
133,292
111,591
253,903
85,044
473,821
111,720
224,683
111,435
158,049
75,950
210,297
304,662
10,150
311,030
198,469
6,588
6,758,359

Property is included in the pool of unencumbered properties under our Credit Facility.
Portfolio total is equal to the weighted average interest rate.
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100.0%
98.1%
59.7%
100.0%
96.3%
100.0%
88.6%
90.9%
91.9%
80.4%
92.5%
94.6%
91.9%
92.1%
100.0%
80.2%
100.0%
100.0%
84.3%
96.1%
100.0%
98.3%
87.7%
97.4%
100.0%
96.1%
100.0%
83.5%
95.7%
94.9%
88.8%
100.0%
91.3%
98.2%
100.0%
99.1%
89.4%
98.8%
98.9%
75.5%
97.2%
93.7%
95.6%
100.0%
99.1%
98.0%
100.0%
94.0%

Economic
Occupancy

100.0%
98.1%
82.8%
100.0%
96.3%
100.0%
88.6%
90.9%
91.9%
80.4%
92.5%
94.6%
91.9%
92.1%
100.0%
80.2%
100.0%
100.0%
84.3%
96.1%
100.0%
98.3%
87.7%
97.4%
100.0%
96.1%
100.0%
83.5%
95.7%
94.9%
90.1%
100.0%
91.3%
98.2%
100.0%
99.1%
89.4%
98.8%
98.9%
76.2%
97.2%
95.0%
95.6%
100.0%
99.1%
98.0%
100.0%
94.4% $

Mortgage
Balance

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
6,798
—
—
6,487
4,460
—
—
—
—
—
—
13,100
6,024
13,453
15,930
26,000
—
4,650
—
—
49,400
—
—
13,700
—
76,532
18,727
38,000
—
17,723
—
47,550
43,680
—
—
14,700
—
416,914

Interest
Rate (b)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
3.57%
—
—
4.65%
5.10%
—
—
—
—
—
—
3.24%
4.60%
5.21%
5.48%
4.50%
—
5.30%
—
—
3.24%
—
—
3.28%
—
3.70%
4.02%
2.95%
—
4.25%
—
3.15%
3.17%
—
—
3.65%
—
3.69%

Tenancy Highlights
The following table presents information regarding the top ten tenants in our portfolio based on annualized base rent for leases in-place as of
December 31, 2019.

Number of
Leases

Tenant Name

The Kroger Co
Dicks Sporting Goods, Inc
TJ Maxx/HomeGoods/Marshalls
PetSmart
Ross Dress for Less, Inc
Albertsons/Jewel/Shaw’s
Ulta Salon, Cosmetics & Fragrance
LA Fitness (Fitness International)
Kohl's Department Stores
Giant Eagle
Top ten tenants

Annualized
Base Rent

4 $
6
13
10
10
2
10
2
4
1
62 $

3,374
3,269
3,219
2,926
2,633
2,304
2,281
1,890
1,888
1,805
25,589

Percent of
Total
Portfolio
Annualized
Base Rent

Annualized
Base Rent
Per Square
Foot

3.5% $
3.4%
3.3%
3.0%
2.7%
2.4%
2.4%
2.0%
2.0%
1.9%
26.6% $

Square
Footage

13.52
11.84
9.78
15.08
10.15
18.02
21.87
21.09
5.68
13.96
12.23

Percent
of Total
Portfolio
Square
Footage

249,493
276,038
329,253
194,077
259,487
127,892
104,276
89,600
332,461
129,340
2,091,917

3.7%
4.1%
4.9%
2.9%
3.8%
1.9%
1.6%
1.3%
4.9%
1.9%
31.0%

The following table sets forth a summary of our tenant diversity for our entire portfolio and is based on leases in-place at December 31, 2019.
Gross Leasable
Area – Square
Footage

Tenant Type

Discount and Department Stores
Home Goods
Grocery
Lifestyle, Health Clubs, Books & Phones
Restaurant
Apparel & Accessories
Sporting Goods
Pet Supplies
Consumer Services, Salons, Cleaners, Banks
Health, Doctors & Health Foods
Other
Total

1,478,583
1,002,550
950,042
801,688
538,790
429,711
333,719
288,642
253,689
159,091
143,437
6,379,942

Percent of
Total Gross
Leasable Area

Percent of
Total Annualized
Base Rent

23.2%
15.7%
14.9%
12.6%
8.4%
6.7%
5.2%
4.5%
4.0%
2.5%
2.3%
100.0%

11.6%
9.2%
14.1%
15.9%
16.1%
9.7%
4.7%
4.7%
7.2%
4.7%
2.1%
100.0%

The following table sets forth a summary of our property type based on annualized base rent in-place for leases as of December 31, 2019.
Percent of Total
Annualized Base Rent

Property Type

Grocery
Grocery Shadow-Anchored
Community Center
Power Center

52%
31%
10%
7%

Total

100%
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The following table sets forth a summary, as of December 31, 2019, of the percent of total annualized base rent and the weighted average lease
expiration by size of tenant.

Description Square
Footage

Size of Tenant

Anchor
Junior Box
Small Shop
Total

Percent of
Total
Annualized
Base Rent

10,000 and over
5,000-9,999
Less than 5,000

53%
13%
34%
100%

Weighted
Average
Lease
Expiration –
Years

6.5
5.4
4.0
5.5

Lease Expirations
The following table sets forth a summary, as of December 31, 2019, of lease expirations scheduled to occur during each of the calendar years from
2020 to 2029 and thereafter, assuming no exercise of renewal options or early termination rights for leases commenced on or prior to December 31,
2019. Annualized base rent represents the rent in place for the applicable property at December 31, 2019. The table below includes ground leases. If
ground leases are excluded, annualized base rent would equal $86,575, or $17.54 per square foot for total expiring leases.

Lease Expiration Year

2020 (including month-to-month)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
Thereafter
Leased Total
Item 3.

Number of
Expiring
Leases

81
88
98
112
111
98
42
22
30
14
30
726

Gross
Leasable
Area of
Expiring
Leases Square
Footage

293,788
358,778
603,397
825,695
804,255
892,421
461,301
260,796
683,144
243,084
953,283
6,379,942

Percent of
Total Gross
Leasable
Area of
Expiring
Leases

Total
Annualized
Base Rent
of Expiring
Leases

4.6% $
5.6%
9.5%
13.0%
12.6%
14.0%
7.2%
4.1%
10.7%
3.8%
14.9%
100.0% $

Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to, and none of our properties are subject to, any material pending legal proceedings.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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5,279
7,149
11,265
12,533
14,984
14,690
6,365
3,396
6,228
3,120
11,174
96,183

Percent of
Total
Annualized
Base Rent
of Expiring
Leases

Annualized
Base Rent
per Leased
Square Foot

5.5% $
7.4%
11.7%
13.0%
15.6%
15.3%
6.6%
3.5%
6.5%
3.3%
11.6%
100.0% $

17.97
19.93
18.67
15.18
18.63
16.46
13.80
13.02
9.12
12.83
11.72
15.08

PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information
There is no established public trading market for our shares of common stock. Our board will determine when, and if, to apply to have our shares of
common stock listed for trading on a national securities exchange, subject to satisfying existing listing requirements. Pursuant to a Strategic Plan
adopted by our board on February 11, 2019, we plan to consider a liquidity event in approximately two years, market conditions permitting, most
likely through a listing on a national securities exchange. However, there is no assurance that we will list our shares. Further, there is no assurance
that stockholders will be able to sell their shares at a time or price acceptable to them. We publish an estimated per share value of our common
stock to assist broker dealers that sold our common stock in the Offering to comply with the rules published by FINRA. On March 3, 2020, our
board established an Estimated Per Share NAV of our common stock as of December 31, 2019 equal to $18.15 per share. The previously established
estimated per share NAV of our common stock as of December 31, 2018 was equal to $20.12 per share.
To assist the Board in establishing the Estimated Per Share NAV as of December 31, 2019, we engaged CBRE Capital Advisors, Inc., a FINRA
registered broker dealer firm that specializes in providing real estate financial services (“CBRE Cap”). CBRE Cap provided an analysis of our assets
and liabilities (including individual property-level analyses), all of which was used to estimate a range of Estimated Per Share NAVs. The
engagement of CBRE Cap was based on a number of factors, including CBRE Cap’s expertise in valuation services and its, and its affiliates, breadth
and depth of experience in real estate services. CBRE Cap engaged CBRE Inc.’s Valuation & Advisory Services group, an affiliate of CBRE Cap that
conducts appraisals and valuations of real properties (the “MAI Appraisals”), to perform cash flow projections and unlevered, ten-year discounted
cash flow analyses from restricted-use appraisals for each of our wholly-owned operating assets as of December 31, 2019 (the “Valuation Date”).
Based on the MAI Appraisals, our filings with the SEC and financial materials and other guidance provided by the Business Manager to CBRE Cap,
CBRE Cap developed a valuation analysis of our assets and liabilities and provided that analysis to our board in a report presented on March 3,
2020 that contained, among other information, a range of per share net asset values for our common stock as of the Valuation Date (the “Valuation
Report”). There have been no changes between December 31, 2019 and the date of the Valuation Report that our Business Manager believes would
materially impact the overall Estimated Per Share NAV as of December 31, 2019, and CBRE Cap’s analysis did not cover that period. We are not
affiliated with CBRE, CBRE Cap or any of their affiliates. While we and affiliates or related parties of our Business Manager have engaged and may
engage CBRE Cap or its affiliates in the future for valuations and commercial real estate-related services of various kinds, we believe that there are
no material conflicts of interest with respect to our engagement of CBRE Cap.
To estimate our per share value, CBRE Cap utilized the “net asset value” or “NAV” method, also known as the appraised value methodology, which
is based on the fair value of real estate, real estate related investments and all other assets, less the fair value of total liabilities. The fair value
estimate of our real estate assets is equal to the sum of their individual real estate values. Generally, CBRE Cap estimated the value of our real
estate assets using several methodologies, including a discounted cash flow, or “DCF,” of projected net operating income, less lease-up discounts
and deferred maintenance, as appropriate, for each property, for the ten-year period ending December 31, 2029, and applied a discount rate that it
believed was consistent with the inherent level of risk associated with the asset. The other methodologies considered consisted of the “direct cap
rate” and “sales comparison” approaches. CBRE Cap believed use of the DCF approach was more appropriate because of the large percentage of
multi-tenant assets owned by us. For all other (non-real estate) assets, such as other current assets, fair value was determined separately based on
book value. The Business Manager determined the fair market value of our debt by comparing current market interest rates to the contract rates on
our long-term debt and discounting to present value the difference in future payments. The fair market value of our debt was reviewed by CBRE
Valuation & Advisory Services group for reasonableness and utilized in the Valuation Report. The estimated value of the incentive fee payable to
the Business Manager is equal to 10% of the amount by which the value of our shares, plus distributions paid, exceeds a return of stockholders’
capital plus a 7% cumulative, pre-tax, non-compounded return to the stockholders. CBRE Cap determined that no incentive fee would be payable
under a hypothetical liquidation occurring within the range of values provided in the Valuation Report. CBRE Cap determined NAV in a manner
consistent with the definition of fair value under U.S. GAAP set forth in FASB’s Topic ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.
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Net asset value per share was estimated by subtracting the fair value of our total liabilities from the fair value of our total assets and dividing the
result by the number of common shares outstanding as of the Valuation Date. CBRE Cap created a valuation range by first establishing a discount
rate and terminal capitalization rate for each real estate asset. CBRE Cap then applied a discount rate and terminal capitalization rate sensitivity
analysis by varying the discount rate and terminal capitalization rate of each real estate asset by 2.5% in either direction, which represents an
approximate 5% sensitivity on the discount rates and terminal capitalization rates, resulting in a value range equal to $17.88 to $20.00 per share. The
mid-point in that range was $18.94. Discount rates and terminal capitalization rates were sourced from the MAI Appraisals and varied by location,
asset quality and supply and demand metrics. The Estimated Per Share NAV determined by our board of $18.15 assumes a weighted average
discount rate equal to 7.88% and a weighted average terminal capitalization rate of 7.22%. The estimated value of our real estate assets reflects an
overall decrease of 4.9% compared to our original cost of the real estate assets plus any capital expenditures invested in those real estate assets by
us through December 31, 2019.
The terminal capitalization rate and discount rate have a significant impact on the estimated value under the net asset value method. The following
chart presents the impact of changes to the Estimated Per Share NAV based on variations in the terminal capitalization rate and discount rate within
the range of values determined by CBRE Cap.
Range of
Value
and Rate
Estimated
Value

Low

Share Price
Terminal Capitalization Rate
Discount Rate

$

17.88
$
7.24%
7.93%

Mid-point

18.15
$
7.22%
7.88%

High

18.94
$
7.09%
7.73%

20.00
6.89%
7.54%

The following table summarizes the individual components presented to our board to estimate per share values as of the dates presented:
Per Share as of
December 31, 2019

Real Estate Assets
Cash and Other Assets, Net of Other Liabilities (1)
Fair Market Value of Debt (2)
Estimated Per Share NAV
(1)
(2)

$

$

38.13
(0.72)
(19.26)
18.15

Per Share as of
December 31, 2018

$

$

40.33
(0.13)
(20.08)
20.12

Includes the following items based on book value: (i) cash and cash equivalents; (ii) accounts and rent receivables; (iii) other assets; (iv) accounts payable
and accrued expenses; (v) distributions payable; (vi) due to related parties and (vii) other liabilities.
Comprised of mortgage loans and credit facility payable, as adjusted for fair market value.

The primary factors that impacted our board’s determination of the Estimated Per Share NAV as compared to our prior NAV determination as of
December 31, 2018 were (i) a decrease in the value of the real estate assets due to the sale of twelve assets, higher terminal capitalization rates, and
higher discount rates applied to certain assets and a decrease in rents at certain properties, (ii) a decrease in cash and other assets, net of other
liabilities, as a result of a decrease in the cash balance, a decrease in the fair value of derivatives due to a decrease in interest rates, an increase in
the liability of due to related parties due to timing of payments, slightly offset by a decrease in the share repurchase program liability (iii) a decrease
in the fair market value of debt from paying down mortgages payable and reducing the line of credit balance outstanding with cash and proceeds
from the sale of assets partially offset by an increase in the fair market value of debt due to a decrease in market interest rates.
Our board reviewed the Valuation Report, met telephonically with representatives from CBRE Cap and considered the material assumptions and
valuation methodologies applied and described therein. Taking into consideration the reasonableness of the valuation methodologies,
assumptions, and the conclusions contained in the Valuation Report, on March 3, 2020, our board unanimously determined our total estimated net
asset value to be approximately $649.8 million, or $18.15 per share, based on a share count of approximately 35.8 million shares issued and
outstanding as of the Valuation Date. The Valuation Report contained a range for the Estimated Per Share NAV of $17.88 to $20.00. The mid-point
of the range of values provided by CBRE Cap was $18.94. The Estimated Per Share NAV of $18.15 is lower than the mid-point of the range. While
our portfolio is stabilized with an economic occupancy of 94.4%, our board observed that retail real estate continues to experience volatility as a
result of, among other things, shifting consumer shopping preferences and Internet competition. Approximately 39% of annualized base rent for
leases in-place as of December 31, 2019 is generated from non-grocery big box retailers, a retail sector the Business Manager believes is currently
impacted relatively more than certain other retail sectors by shifting consumer preferences and Internet competition and, as a result, experiencing
price dislocation. Given these factors, as well as the volatility in the equity markets, our board selected an Estimated Per Share NAV slightly lower
than the mid-point of the range of values provided by CBRE Cap.
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Our board’s determination of the Estimated Per Share NAV was undertaken in accordance with our valuation policy and the recommendations and
methodologies of the Institute for Portfolio Alternatives (formerly known as the Investment Program Association), a trade association for nonlisted direct investment vehicles (“IPA”), as set forth in IPA Practice Guideline 2013-01 “Valuations of Publicly Registered Non-Listed REITs” (the
“IPA Practice Guideline”). In accordance with the valuation policy and the IPA Practice Guideline, the Estimated Per Share NAV excludes any value
adjustments due to the size and diversification of our portfolio of assets.
In performing its analyses, CBRE Cap made numerous assumptions as of various points in time with respect to industry performance, general
business, economic and regulatory conditions and other matters, many of which are necessarily subject to change and beyond the control of CBRE
Cap and us. The analyses performed by CBRE Cap are not necessarily indicative of actual values, trading values or actual future results of our
common stock that might be achieved, all of which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses. The analyses do
not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which the properties may actually be sold, and such estimates are inherently subject to
uncertainty. The actual value of our common stock may vary significantly depending on numerous factors that generally impact the price of
securities, our financial condition and the state of the real estate industry more generally. Accordingly, with respect to the Estimated Per Share
NAV, neither we nor CBRE Cap can give any assurance that:
•

a stockholder would be able to resell his or her shares at the Estimated Per Share NAV;

•

a stockholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the Estimated Per Share NAV upon liquidation of our assets and
settlement of our liabilities or a sale of us;

•

our shares would trade at a price equal to or greater than the Estimated Per Share NAV if we listed them on a national securities
exchange;

•

a third party would acquire us at a value equal to or greater than the Estimated Per Share NAV; or

•

the methodology used to estimate the Estimated Per Share NAV would be acceptable to FINRA or under ERISA for compliance with
its reporting requirements.

The Estimated Per Share NAV represents a snapshot in time, will likely change over time, and may not represent the amount a stockholder would
receive now or in the future for his or her shares of our common stock. Stockholders should not rely on the Estimated Per Share NAV in making a
decision to buy or sell shares of our common stock. The Estimated Per Share NAV is based on a number of assumptions, estimates and data that
are inherently imprecise and susceptible to uncertainty and changes in circumstances, including changes to the value of individual assets, changes
in interest rates, changes in the composition of our portfolio and changes and developments in the real estate and capital markets, including, for
example, market changes and developments that may result from the spread and effects of the coronavirus.
We have engaged CBRE Cap for the past five years, and currently intend to continue to engage CBRE Cap in the future, to assist our board in
determinations of our Estimated Per Share NAV. We currently expect to publish an updated Estimated Per Share NAV on at least an annual basis.
As of March 11, 2020, we had 16,412 stockholders of record.
Distributions
We currently pay distributions on a quarterly basis. However, the actual amount and timing of distributions, if any, is determined by our board of
directors in its discretion, based on its analysis of our actual and expected cash flow, capital expenditures and investments, as well as general
financial conditions.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we declared quarterly distributions in an amount equal to $0.3018 per share, which represents an
annualized rate of 6% based on the estimated per share NAV as of December 31, 2018 of $20.12, payable in arrears the following quarter. During the
year ended December 31, 2018, we declared quarterly distributions in an amount equal to $0.335 per share, which represents an annualized rate of
6% based on the estimated per share NAV as of December 31, 2017 of $22.35, payable in arrears the following quarter.
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The following table shows the sources for the payment of distributions to common stockholders for the periods indicated (Dollar amounts in
thousands):
Year Ended
December 31, 2019
% of
Distributions

Distributions:
Distributions paid in cash
Distributions reinvested through DRP
Total distributions
Source of distribution coverage:
Cash flows provided by operating activities
Proceeds from DRP
Total source of distribution coverage
Cash flows provided by operating activities
(U.S. GAAP basis)
Net loss (in accordance with U.S. GAAP)

$

Year Ended
December 31, 2018
% of
Distributions

24,603
19,642
44,245

$
$

20,974
19,339
40,313

$

44,245
—
44,245

100% $
0%
100% $

40,313
—
40,313

$
$

46,763
(11,420)

$
$

$
$

100%
0%
100%

45,051
(23,276)

The following table compares cumulative distributions paid to cumulative net loss (in accordance with U.S. GAAP) for the period from August 24,
2011 (date of inception) through December 31, 2019 (Dollar amounts in thousands):
For the Period from
August 24, 2011 (Date of Inception)
to December 31, 2019

Distributions paid:
Common stockholders in cash
Common stockholders reinvested through DRP
Total distributions paid
Reconciliation of net loss:
Revenues
Acquisition and transaction related expenses
Provision for asset impairment
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating expenses
Provision for impairment of investment in and
note receivable from unconsolidated entities
Other non-operating expenses
Net loss (in accordance with U.S. GAAP) (1)
Funds from operations (2)
Cash flows provided by operating activities

(1)
(2)

$
$
$

$
$
$

123,779
120,584
244,363
606,680
(19,669)
(12,950)
(280,487)
(250,957)
(15,405)
(110,450)
(83,238)
222,326
207,387

Net loss, as defined by U.S. GAAP, includes the non-cash impact of depreciation and amortization expense as well as costs incurred relating
to acquisitions and related transactions and provision for impairment related to our joint venture investment and asset impairment.
For information related to the calculation of funds from operations, see “Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures” in this Item 7.

Share Repurchase Program
We adopted the SRP effective October 18, 2012, under which we are authorized to purchase shares from stockholders who purchased their shares
from us or received their shares through a non-cash transfer and who have held their shares for at least one year. Purchases are in our sole
discretion. In the case of Exceptional Repurchases, the one year holding period does not apply. The SRP was amended and restated effective
January 1, 2018 to change the processing of repurchase requests from a monthly to a quarterly basis to align with the move to quarterly
distributions. On February 11, 2019, our board adopted a second amended and restated SRP, which became effective on March 21, 2019. On March
3, 2020, our board adopted the Third A&R SRP, which will become effective on April 10, 2020.
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Under the Third A&R SRP, we are authorized to make ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 80.0% of the “share
price,” which is defined in the Third A&R SRP as an amount equal to the lesser of: (A) $25, as adjusted under certain circumstances, including,
among other things, if the applicable shares were purchased from the Company at a discounted price; or (B) the most recently disclosed estimated
value per share. Prior to the amendment, we were authorized to make Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 100% of the “share price.”
Beginning with repurchases in April 2020, the “share price” will be equal to $18.15 per share until we announce a new Estimated Per Share NAV.
Accordingly, ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases will be at $14.52 per share.
The Third A&R SRP provides our board of directors with the discretion to reduce the funding limit for share repurchases. The Third A&R SRP
limits the dollar amount for any repurchases made by us each calendar quarter to an amount equal to a percentage determined in the sole discretion
of our board on a quarterly basis that will not be less than 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP during the applicable quarter. For the quarter
ended December 31, 2019, our board determined a funding limit equal to 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP. We continue to limit the number of
shares repurchased during any calendar year to 5% of the number of shares outstanding on December 31st of the previous calendar year, as
adjusted for any stock splits or other combinations.
If either or both of the repurchase limitations prevent us from repurchasing all of the shares offered for repurchase during a calendar quarter, we will
repurchase shares, on a pro rata basis within each category below, in accordance with the repurchase limitations in the following order: (a) first, all
Exceptional Repurchases and (b) second, all ordinary repurchases. For any quarter ended, unfulfilled repurchase requests will be included in the list
of requests for the following quarter unless the request is withdrawn in accordance with the SRP. However, each stockholder who has submitted a
repurchase request must submit an acknowledgment annually after we publish a new estimated value per share acknowledging, among other
things, that the stockholder wishes to maintain the request. If we do not receive the acknowledgment prior to the repurchase date, we will deem the
request to have been withdrawn.
The SRP will immediately terminate if our shares are listed on any national securities exchange. In addition, our board of directors, in its sole
discretion, may amend, suspend (in whole or in part), or terminate our SRP. In the event that we amend, suspend or terminate the SRP, however, we
will send stockholders notice of the change at least thirty days prior to the change, and we will disclose the change in a report filed with the SEC on
either Form 8-K, Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, as appropriate. Further, our board reserves the right in its sole discretion, at any time, and from time to
time to reject any requests for repurchases.
The following table summarizes the repurchases of shares under the SRP during the year ended December 31, 2019 (Dollar amounts in thousands
except per share amounts):

Period

January 2019
February 2019
March 2019
April 2019
May 2019
June 2019
July 2019
August 2019
September 2019
October 2019
November 2019
December 2019
Total

Total Number
of Shares
Repurchased Maximum Number
as Part of
of Shares
Total Shares
Publicly
that May Yet be
Requested Total Number Average
Amount of
Announced
Purchased Under
to be
of Shares
Price Paid
Shares
Plans or
the Plans
Repurchased Repurchased per Share Repurchased
Programs
or Programs

—
—
320,108
—
—
368,423
—
—
482,609
—
—
825,086
1,996,226

—
—
140,288
—
—
117,452
—
—
118,606
—
—
118,089
494,435

$

$

$

$
$

—
—
17.12
—
—
20.12
—
—
19.47
—
—
19.54
18.97

$

$

$

$
$

—
—
2,402
—
—
2,363
—
—
2,309
—
—
2,307
9,381

—
—
140,288
—
—
117,452
—
—
118,606
—
—
118,089
494,435

1,767,163
1,767,163
1,626,875
1,626,875
1,626,875
1,509,423
1,509,423
1,509,423
1,390,817
1,390,817
1,390,817
1,272,728

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
For information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan, reference is made to Item 12 “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following table shows our selected financial data relating to our consolidated historical financial condition and results of operations. This
selected data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. (Dollar amounts
in thousands, except per share amounts):
As of December 31,
2019

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Mortgages and credit facility payable, net (a)

$
$

1,254,559
681,327

2018

$
$

(a)
(b)

(c)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

128,908
(11,420)
(0.32)
44,245
43,162
1.21
46,763
4,860
(62,330)
35,748,672

$
$

1,375,370
691,465

2016

$
$

1,357,560
606,025

2015

$
$

For the year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016

2019

Total income
Net loss (b)
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (c)
Distributions paid to common stockholders
Distributions declared to common stockholders
Distributions declared per common share
Cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,
basic and diluted

1,320,069
705,884

2017

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

128,701
(23,276)
(0.65)
40,313
47,700
1.34
45,051
(18,623)
(27,032)
35,589,729

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

129,157
(19,102)
(0.54)
53,315
53,364
1.50
50,871
(83,282)
32,398
35,571,249

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

121,498
(7,961)
(0.23)
52,358
52,449
1.50
36,203
(89,991)
(21,151)
34,963,827

1,401,368
584,499

2015

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

76,542
(13,436)
(0.48)
42,537
44,908
1.58
27,080
(740,542)
691,434
27,737,301

Includes unamortized mortgage premiums and debt issuance costs.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized asset impairments related to investment properties of $4,420. For the year ended
December 31, 2018, we recognized an asset impairment of $5,540 and an impairment charge of $9,865 related to our joint venture investment.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, we recognized an asset impairment related to an investment property of $8,530.
The net loss per common share, basic and diluted is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period
ended.
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Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Certain statements in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Words such as
“may,” “could,” “should,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “goal,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “variables,”
“potential,” “continue,” “expand,” “maintain,” “create,” “strategies,” “likely,” “will,” “would” and variations of these terms and similar
expressions, or the negative of these terms or similar expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
These forward-looking statements are not historical facts but reflect the intent, belief or current expectations of our management based on their
knowledge and understanding of the business and industry, the economy and other future conditions. These statements are not guarantees of
future performance, and we caution stockholders not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ
materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements due to a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors,
including but not limited to the factors listed and described under “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the factors described
below:
•

Market disruptions may adversely impact many aspects of our operating results and operating condition;

•

We have incurred net losses on a U.S. GAAP basis for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017;

•

There is no established public trading market for our shares, our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares under our SRP
and, if our stockholders are able to sell their shares under the SRP, or otherwise, they may not be able to recover the amount of
their investment in our shares;

•

Because of the SRP’s funding limit, we have not been able to satisfy all properly submitted repurchase requests and have been
satisfying requests for ordinary repurchases on a pro rata basis and will continue to be unable to satisfy all repurchase requests;

•

There is no assurance our board of directors will pursue a listing or other liquidity event at any time in the future;

•

Our charter generally limits the total amount we may borrow to 300% of our net assets, equivalent to 75% of the costs of our
assets;

•

Our Sponsor may face a conflict of interest in allocating personnel and resources between its affiliates, our Business Manager and
our Real Estate Manager;

•

We do not have arm’s-length agreements with our Business Manager, our Real Estate Manager or any other affiliates of our
Sponsor;

•

We pay fees, which may be significant, to our Business Manager, Real Estate Manager and other affiliates of our Sponsor;

•

Our Business Manager and its affiliates face conflicts of interest caused by their compensation arrangements with us, which could
result in actions that are not in the long-term best interests of our stockholders;

•

Our properties may compete with the properties owned by other programs sponsored by our Sponsor or IPCC for, among other
things, tenants;

•

Our Business Manager is under no obligation, and may not agree, to continue to forgo or defer its business management fee;

•

If we fail to continue to qualify as a REIT, our operations and distributions to stockholders will be adversely affected; and

•

The Strategic Plan adopted by our board of directors on February 11, 2019, which is described further below, may evolve or
change over time, and there is no assurance we will be able to successfully achieve our board’s objectives under the Strategic
Plan, including listing our common stock.

•

The outbreak of the coronavirus is growing, and its impacts are uncertain and hard to measure but may cause a material adverse
effect on our business.
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Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our management’s view only as of the date of this Report and may
ultimately prove to be incorrect or false. We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed
assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to future operating results except as required by applicable law. We intend for
these forward-looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions created by Section 27A of the Securities Act and
Section 21E of the Exchange Act.
The following discussion and analysis is based on the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. Our
stockholders should read the following discussion and analysis along with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto.
Overview
We were formed as a Maryland corporation on August 24, 2011 and elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal
Revenue Code, commencing with the year ended December 31, 2013. We have no employees. We are managed by our business manager, IREIT
Business Manager & Advisor, Inc.
We are primarily focused on acquiring and owning retail properties and intend to target a portfolio of 100% grocery-anchored properties as
described below. We have invested in joint ventures and may continue to invest in additional joint ventures or acquire other real estate assets such
as office and medical office buildings, multi-family properties and industrial/distribution and warehouse facilities if management believes the
expected returns from those investments exceed that of retail properties. We also may invest in real estate-related equity securities of both publicly
traded and private real estate companies, as well as commercial mortgage-backed securities.
At December 31, 2019, we had total assets of $1.3 billion and owned 47 properties located in 23 states containing 6.8 million square feet. A majority
of our properties are multi-tenant, necessity-based retail shopping centers primarily located in major regional markets and growing secondary
markets throughout the United States. At December 31, 2019, 83% of our annualized base rental income was generated from grocery anchored or
grocery shadow-anchored shopping centers. A grocery shadow-anchored shopping center is a shopping center near a grocery store that generates
traffic for the shopping center but is not a part of the shopping center. The portfolio properties have a weighted average economic occupancy of
94.4% and staggered lease maturity dates.
We commenced the Offering on October 18, 2012, and concluded it on October 16, 2015. We sold 33,534,022 shares of common stock in the
Offering generating gross proceeds of $834.4 million. On March 3, 2020, our board of directors determined an Estimated Per Share NAV of our
common stock as of December 31, 2019 of $18.15. The previously estimated per share net asset value as of December 31, 2018 equal to $20.12 was
established on March 5, 2019.
On February 11, 2019, our board of directors approved the Strategic Plan to consider a liquidity event in approximately two years, market conditions
permitting, most likely through a listing on a public securities exchange. The Strategic Plan centers around owning a portfolio of 100% groceryanchored properties with lower exposure to big box retailers. Consistent with the Strategic Plan, we sold 12 properties during the year ended
December 31, 2019 and three additional properties in January 2020 as further described below. Our management team and our board are considering
the opportunistic sale of certain other assets with the goal of redeploying capital into the acquisition of strategically located grocery-anchored
centers, as well as the redevelopment of select centers within the current portfolio. In connection with the Strategic Plan, the business management
agreement with the Business Manager was amended and restated on February 11, 2019 to, among other things, eliminate all future acquisition and
disposition fees. In addition, our board of directors approved amendments to the SRP providing for ordinary repurchases at a price equal to 80.0%
of the “share price,” as defined in the SRP, and providing our board with the discretion to reduce the funding limit for share repurchases. On March
3, 2020, our board adopted the Third A&R SRP, which will become effective on April 10, 2020. For information related to the Third A&R SRP,
reference is made to Note 3 – “Equity” which is included in our December 31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. There can
be no assurance that the Strategic Plan will not evolve or change over time or that we will be able to successfully implement the Strategic Plan,
including listing our common stock.

40

Company Highlights - Year Ended December 31, 2019
Sales of Investment Properties
In connection with the Strategic Plan, we sold 12 properties for aggregate net proceeds of $14.9 million and recorded a gain on sale of investment
properties of $3.3 million. We also completed the sale of three additional properties in January 2020 that are classified as held for sale on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. In connection with these properties we recorded a $4.4 million provision for asset impairment
on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
Distributions and Share Repurchases
We paid gross distributions of $44.2 million, generated proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to the DRP of $19.6 million, and
repurchased $12.6 million of shares pursuant to the SRP.
Financings
In advance of selling the 12 properties during the year, we paid off two outstanding mortgage loans with a principal balance totaling $7.4 million.
We also made net repayments on the Credit Facility of $17.5 million.
Outlook
While strategic plan initiatives are paving our path forward, we believe our 2019 operating results are a testament to the quality of our necessitybased portfolio and our strong management capabilities. We believe the portfolio comprises properties in desirable locations throughout markets
with high demand for necessity-based community shopping centers. Our team of real estate experts produced strong leasing volume in 2019 with
128 signed leases totaling nearly 800,000 square feet, maintaining our multi-year track record of occupancy above 94 percent.
The strategic plan centers around owning a primarily grocery-anchored portfolio with lower exposure to big box retailers. Our goal is to proactively
reduce our exposure to property design concepts that we believe have less relevance in today’s changing retail marketplace and aim to minimize
portfolio risk by repositioning away from big box retail centers. The 15 recent asset sales positively impacted our portfolio composition, reducing
big box exposure from 17 percent to 14 percent and increasing the percent of our portfolio anchored or shadow-anchored by a grocer from 82
percent to 86 percent. In addition, all single-tenant assets have been sold, creating a more homogenous, core portfolio of grocery-anchored or
shadow-anchored properties.
Retail continues to evolve, and business went well, in general, for retailers that kept consumer preferences in mind. Economic hallmarks of 2019
included low inflation, high employment, wage gains and low interest rates, supporting personal consumption expenditures up by 1.8% in the
fourth quarter of 2019 according to the Bureau of Economic Analysis of the U.S. Department of Commerce. Currently, the outbreak of the
coronavirus is growing in the U.S. Its impacts are uncertain, hard to measure, and may adversely impact our business in 2020. For additional
information, see “Item 1A – Risk Factors – The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) is growing and its impacts are uncertain and hard to
measure but may cause a material adverse effect on our business.”
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
General
Our primary uses and sources of cash are as follows:
Uses

Sources

•

Interest & principal payments on mortgage loans and Credit
Facility

•

Property operating expenses

•

General and administrative expenses

•

Distributions to stockholders

•

Fees payable to our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager

•

Repurchases of shares under the SRP

•

Acquisitions of real estate directly or through joint ventures

•

Capital expenditures,
commissions

tenant

improvements

and

•

Cash receipts from our tenants

•

Sale of shares through the DRP

•

Proceeds from new or refinanced mortgage loans

•

Borrowing on our Credit Facility

•

Proceeds from sales of real estate

leasing

We expect to fund our future short-term operating liquidity requirements through a combination of cash on hand, net cash provided by our
property operations, proceeds from shares issued through the DRP and proceeds from our Credit Facility. We may also generate additional liquidity
through property dispositions and, to the extent available, secured or unsecured borrowings. At December 31, 2019, our cash and cash equivalents
balance was $4.5 million. Our principal demands for funds are for payment of our operating and administrative expenses, including fees payable to
our Business Manager and Real Estate Manager, interest and principal payments on mortgage loans and Credit Facility, repurchases of shares
under the SRP and cash distributions to our stockholders.
The net proceeds of $14.9 million from the sale of 12 properties during the year ended December 31, 2019 were used to make repayments on the
Credit Facility. Three additional properties were sold during January 2020, and the proceeds were also used to make repayments on the Credit
Facility as discussed in Note 18 – “Subsequent Events” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. We intend to draw on the
Credit Facility to, among other things, redeploy the net proceeds from these sales to purchase additional assets or redevelop select centers within
the current portfolio in the future pursuant to our Strategic Plan. Failure to timely redeploy the net proceeds to acquire investments that generate
yield equal to or greater than the assets sold as part of the Strategic Plan may impact our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to cover
distributions to our stockholders.
At December 31, 2019, we had $117.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and $150.0 million outstanding under the Term
Loan. At December 31, 2019, the interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan was 3.45% and 4.29%, respectively. The
Revolving Credit Facility matures on August 1, 2022, and we have the option to extend the maturity date for one additional year subject to the
payment of an extension fee and certain other conditions. The Term Loan matures on August 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2019, we had $83.0
million available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility.
As of December 31, 2019, we had total debt outstanding of $683.9 million, excluding mortgage premiums and unamortized debt issuance costs,
which bore interest at a weighted average interest rate of 3.78% per annum. As of December 31, 2019, the weighted average years to maturity for
our debt was 3.5 years. As of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our borrowings were 49% and 50%, respectively, of the purchase price of
our investment properties.
As of December 31, 2019, we had $1.3 billion in investment properties, at cost, some of which are pledged as collateral for our mortgages payable. In
addition, at December 31, 2019, 28 properties were included in the pool of unencumbered properties comprising the borrowing base under the Credit
Facility. This real estate is only available to serve as collateral or satisfy other debts and obligations if it is first removed from the borrowing base
under the Credit Facility, which would reduce the amount available to us on the Credit Facility. For information on the properties included in the
pool of unencumbered properties and mortgage balances associated with our investment properties, reference is made to Item 2, “Properties.” For
information on balances of investment properties, held and used, reference is made to Schedule III – “Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation”
in Item 8.
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For information related to our debt maturities reference is made to Note 8 – “Debt and Derivative Instruments” which is included in our December
31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
Cash Flow Analysis
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2019
2018
2017
2019 vs. 2018
2018 vs. 2017
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities

$
$
$

46,763 $
4,860 $
(62,330) $

45,051 $
(18,623) $
(27,032) $

50,871 $
(83,282) $
32,398 $

1,712 $
23,483 $
(35,298) $

(5,820)
64,659
(59,430)

Operating activities
Cash provided by operating activities increased $1.7 million during 2019 compared to 2018 and decreased $5.8 million during 2018 compared to 2017.
The increase from 2018 to 2019 was due to the timing of real estate tax and business manager fee payments partially offset by an increase in interest
payments. The decrease from 2017 to 2018 was due to the timing of real estate tax payments and a decrease in prepaid rent.
Investing activities
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2019
2018
2017
2019 vs. 2018
2018 vs. 2017
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Purchases of investment properties
Proceeds from the sale of investment properties
Capital expenditures
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures
Other assets and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

$

— $
14,872
(10,012)
—
—

$

4,860

$

— $
—
(10,087)
(2,736)
(5,800)

(69,953) $
—
(6,209)
(6,917)
(203)

—
14,872
75
2,736
5,800

$

69,953
—
(3,878)
4,181
(5,597)

(18,623) $

(83,282) $

23,483

$

64,659

During the year ended December 31, 2019, cash was provided by investing activities compared to a use of cash in 2018, primarily due to proceeds
from sale of investment properties in 2019. In addition, we did not fund any additional investments in the Mainstreet JV during 2019, compared to
our funding of $2.7 million in equity investment and $5.4 million in related note receivable for which an impairment charge was recognized at the end
of 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2018, cash used in investing activities was lower than 2017 primarily due to the fact that no properties
were purchased during 2018. This decrease was offset by an increase in capital expenditures for existing properties. The line item for “Other assets
and other liabilities” in 2018 includes the note receivable of $5.4 million from the Mainstreet JV, which was fully funded in 2018.
Financing activities
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2019
2018
2017
2019 vs. 2018
2018 vs. 2017
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Total net changes related to debt
Proceeds from DRP
Shares repurchased
Distributions paid
Early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Other
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$

(25,161) $
19,642
(12,566)
(44,245)
—
—

13,412 $
19,339
(19,612)
(40,313)
1,192
(1,050)

$

(62,330) $

(27,032) $

43

85,043 $
27,069
(19,984)
(53,315)
—
(6,415)
32,398

$

(38,573) $
303
7,046
(3,932)
(1,192)
1,050

(71,631)
(7,730)
372
13,002
1,192
5,365

(35,298) $

(59,430)

During 2019, proceeds provided by debt decreased $38.6 million from 2018, primarily due to net paydowns on the credit facility and settlement of
two mortgages associated with properties sold during 2019 compared to significant net drawings on the credit facility in the prior year, a majority of
which was used to pay off a significant balance of mortgages with the residual used to fund other activities during 2018. During 2018, proceeds
provided by debt decreased $71.6 million from 2017, primarily due to the funding of investment property purchases during 2017 compared to no
purchases during 2018. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we generated proceeds from the sale of shares pursuant to the
DRP of $19.6 million, $19.3 million and $27.1 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, share repurchases were
$12.6 million, $19.6 million and $20.0 million, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we paid $44.2 million, $40.3
million and $53.3 million, respectively, in distributions. During 2018, we received cash of $1.2 million related to the early termination of interest rate
swap agreements.
Distributions
A summary of the distributions declared, distributions paid and cash flows provided by operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017 follows (Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31, (1)

2019
2018
2017
(1)
(2)
(3)

Distributions
Declared

$
$
$

43,162
47,700
53,364

Distributions
Declared Per
Share

$
$
$

1.21 (2) $
1.34 (3) $
1.50
$

Reinvested
via DRP

Cash

24,603
20,974
26,246

$
$
$

19,642
19,339
27,069

Total

$
$
$

44,245
40,313
53,315

Cash
Flows
From
Operations

$
$
$

46,763
45,051
50,871

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, distributions were funded by cash flow from operations. For the year ended December 31,
2017, distributions of $2,444 were paid from the proceeds of our DRP and the remaining distributions were paid from cash flow of operations.
This amount represents an annualized rate of 6% based on the previously estimated per share NAV of our common stock as of December 31,
2018 equal to $20.12 which was established on March 5, 2019.
This amount represents an annualized rate of 6% based on the previously estimated per share NAV of our common stock as of December 31,
2017 equal to $22.35 which was established on March 20, 2018.

Results of Operations
The following discussion is based on our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
This section describes and compares our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. We generate primarily all of
our net operating income from property operations. In order to evaluate our overall portfolio, management analyzes the net operating income of
properties that we have owned and operated for the periods presented, in their entirety, referred to herein as “same store” properties. By evaluating
the property net operating income of our "same store" properties, management is able to monitor the operations of our existing properties for
comparable periods to measure the performance of our current portfolio and determine the effects of our new acquisitions on net income. (Dollar
amounts in thousands)
Comparison of the Years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
We consider property net operating income an important financial measure because it reflects only those income and expense items that are
incurred at the property level, and when compared across periods, reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and
operating expenses. Although property net operating income is a widely used measure among REITs, there can be no assurance that property net
operating income presented by us is comparable to similarly titled metrics used by other REITs.
We calculate property net operating income using net income and excluding adjustments to straight-line income (expense) on operating leases,
amortization of intangibles and lease incentives, general and administrative expenses, acquisition related costs, the business management fee,
provisions for impairment, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, gains on sale of investment properties, gains on termination of interest
rate swap agreements, losses on extinguishment of debt, and interest or other income.
A total of 44 investment properties that were acquired on or before January 1, 2018 and classified as held and used at December 31, 2019 represent
our “same store” properties during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. “Non-same store,” as reflected in the table below, consists of
properties sold after January 1, 2018 or classified as held for sale at December 31, 2019. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 15
properties constituted non-same store properties.
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The following table presents the property net operating income broken out between same store and non-same store, prior to straight-line income,
net, amortization of intangibles, interest, and depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, along with a
reconciliation to net loss, calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Total
For the year ended
December 31,
Change
2019
2018

Rental income
Other property income
Total income

$ 125,673
254
$ 125,927

$ 125,712
284
$ 125,996

$

Property operating expenses
Real estate tax expense
Total property operating expenses

$ 22,279
15,869
$ 38,148

$ 22,114
15,841
$ 37,955

$

Property net operating income

$ 87,779

$ 88,041

Straight-line income, net
Amortization of intangibles and
lease incentives
General and administrative
expenses
Acquisition related costs
Business management fee
Provision for asset impairment
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Gain on sale of investment
properties
Gain on early termination of
interest rate swap agreements
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest and other income
Provision for impairment of
investment in and note
receivable from unconsolidated
entities
Net loss

$

$

840
1,337
(5,040)
—
(9,342)
(4,420)
(57,691)
(28,305)
3,279
—
—
143

1,180
867
(4,869)
(29)
(9,345)
—
(57,835)
(27,137)
—
1,151
(411)
516

Same Store
For the year ended
December 31,
Change
2019
2018

(39) $ 120,031
(30)
254
(69) $ 120,285

$ 120,173
284
$ 120,457

$

165
28
193

$ 21,642
14,760
$ 36,402

$ 21,544
14,758
$ 36,302

$

$

(262) $ 83,883

$ 84,155

$

$

(340)

$

$

$

Non-Same Store
For the year ended
December 31,
Change
2019
2018

(142) $
(30)
(172) $

5,642
—
5,642

$

$

$

637
1,109
1,746

(272) $

3,896

98
2
100

$

$

5,539
—
5,539

$

$

$

570
1,083
1,653

$

67
26
93

$

3,886

$

10

$

$

103
—
103

470
(171)
29
3
(4,420)
144
(1,168)
3,279
(1,151)
411
(373)

—
(15,405)
15,405
$ (11,420) $ (23,276) $ 11,856

Net loss. Net loss was $11,420 and $23,276 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Total property net operating income. On a “same store” basis, comparing the results of operations of investment properties owned during the year
ended December 31, 2019 with the results of the same investment properties owned during the year ended December 31, 2018, property net
operating income decreased $272, total property income decreased $172, and total property operating expenses including real estate tax expense
increased $100.
The decrease in “same store” total property income is primarily due to an increase in bad debt partially offset by an increase in base rental income.
The increase in “same store” total property operating expenses is primarily due to an increase in current year non-recoverable property
expenses.
“Non-same store” total property net operating income remained relatively flat, increasing $10 during 2019 as compared to 2018. The change was
minimized due to the dispositions being at the very end of 2019. On a “non-same store” basis, total property income increased $103 and total
property operating expenses increased $93 during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Straight-line income, net. Straight-line rent income decreased $340 in 2019 compared to 2018. This decrease is primarily due to rent steps that
reduced straight-line income.
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Intangible amortization. Intangible amortization income increased $470 in 2019 compared to 2018. The increase is primarily attributable to
intangible assets and liabilities being written off due to tenants that vacated early.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $171 in 2019 compared to 2018. This increase is primarily due
to higher legal costs and an increase in state tax estimates.
Acquisition related costs. Acquisition related expenses decreased $29 in 2019 compared to 2018. The decrease is attributable to the fact that there
were no acquisition related costs (recoveries) in 2019.
Business management fee. Business management fees remained relatively flat in 2019 compared to 2018. There have been no acquisitions since
2017 and any disposals during 2019 occurred near the end of the year.
Provision for asset impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded $4,420 of impairment charges for our investment properties
that were classified as held for sale at December 31, 2019, because these properties had a carrying value that exceeded the fair value less selling
costs. No asset impairment charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization decreased $144 in 2019 compared to 2018. The decrease is primarily due to fully
amortized acquired lease intangible assets partially offset by site improvement write-offs.
Interest expense. Interest expense increased $1,168 in 2019 compared to 2018. The increase is primarily due to higher average interest rates and an
increase in average debt outstanding in 2019 compared to 2018. Average interest rates increased 0.12% in 2019 compared to 2018 and average debt
outstanding increased approximately $3,100 in 2019 compared to 2018.
Gain on sale of investment properties. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded a gain of $3,279 related to the sale of 12 investment
properties.
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a gain of $1,151 related to the
early termination of certain interest rate swap agreements that had corresponding early mortgage pay-offs.
Loss on extinguishment of debt. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we realized a loss on extinguishment of debt on the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss of $411 due to the write-off of the unamortized balance of debt issuance costs associated with ten
loans that were repaid prior to maturity.
Interest and other income. Interest and other income decreased $373 in 2019 compared to 2018. The decrease is primarily due to interest earned on
our note receivable which was fully impaired at the end of 2018.
Provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from unconsolidated entities. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we
recorded an impairment to its investment in and note receivable from Mainstreet JV of $9,865 and $5,540, respectively, as it determined that recovery
is improbable. Both amounts represent a full impairment of such investments. As we do not intend to fund any more investments in Mainstreet JV
and we do not expect to recover any of our previous investments, we determined that an impairment for both our investment and notes receivable
from Mainstreet JV is appropriate.
Comparison of the Years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
We consider property net operating income an important financial measure because it reflects only those income and expense items that are
incurred at the property level, and when compared across periods, reflects the impact on operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and
operating expenses. Although property net operating income is a widely used measure among REITs, there can be no assurance that property net
operating income presented by us is comparable to similarly titled metrics used by other REITs.
We calculate property net operating income using net income and exclude adjustments to straight-line income (expense) on operating leases,
amortization of intangibles and lease incentives, general and administrative expenses, acquisition related costs, the business management fee,
provisions for impairment, depreciation and amortization, interest expense, gains on sale of investment properties, gains on termination of interest
rate swap agreements, losses on extinguishment of debt, and interest or other income.
A total of 56 investment properties that were acquired on or before January 1, 2017 represent our “same store” properties during the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017. “Non-same store,” as reflected in the table below, consists of properties acquired after January 1, 2017. For the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, three properties constituted non-same store properties.
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The following table presents the property net operating income broken out between same store and non-same store, prior to straight-line income,
net, amortization of intangibles, interest, and depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, along with a
reconciliation to net loss, calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Total
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2018
2017

Same Store
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2018
2017

Rental income
Other property income
Total income

$ 125,712
284
$ 125,996

$ 125,086
302
$ 125,388

$

Property operating expenses
Real estate tax expense
Total property operating expenses

$ 22,114
15,841
$ 37,955

$ 21,681
15,992
$ 37,673

$

Property net operating income

$ 88,041

$ 87,715

$

326

Straight-line income, net
Amortization of intangibles and
lease incentives
General and administrative
expenses
Acquisition related costs
Business management fee
Provision for asset impairment
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Gain on early termination of
interest rate swap agreements
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest and other income
Provision for impairment of
investment in and note
receivable from unconsolidated
entities
Equity in earnings (loss) of
unconsolidated entity
Net loss

$

$

$

(498)

1,180
867
(4,869)
(29)
(9,345)
—
(57,835)
(27,137)

1,678
1,403
(5,200)
(754)
(9,196)
(8,530)
(61,804)
(24,582)

$

$

626 $ 119,487
(18)
282
608 $ 119,769

$ 119,746
300
$ 120,046

$

433 $ 21,213
(151)
15,260
282 $ 36,473

$ 20,911
15,472
$ 36,383

$

$ 83,663

$ 83,296

Non-Same Store
For the year ended December 31,
Change
2018
2017

(259) $
(18)
(277) $

6,225
2
6,227

$

901
581
1,482

$

$

302 $
(212)
90 $

$

(367) $

4,745

$

5,340
2
5,342

$

$

$

770
521
1,291

$

131
60
191

$

4,051

$

694

$

$

885
—
885

(536)
331
725
(149)
8,530
3,969
(2,555)

1,151
(411)
516

—
—
147

1,151
(411)
369

(15,405)

—

(15,405)

—
21
(21)
$ (23,276) $ (19,102) $ (4,174)

Net loss. Net loss was $23,276 and $19,102 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Total property net operating income. On a “same store” basis, comparing the results of operations of investment properties owned during the year
ended December 31, 2018 with the results of the same investment properties owned during the year ended December 31, 2017, property net
operating income decreased $367, total property income decreased $277, and total property operating expenses including real estate tax expense
increased $90.
The decrease in “same store” total property income is primarily due to a decrease in tenant recovery income. The increase in “same store” total
property operating expenses is primarily due to an increase in current year non-recoverable property expenses offset by a decrease in real estate tax
expense.
“Non-same store” total property net operating income increased $694 during 2018 as compared to 2017. The increase is a result of acquiring three
retail properties after January 1, 2017. On a “non-same store” basis, total property income increased $885 and total property operating expenses
increased $191 during the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to 2017 as a result of these acquisitions.
Straight-line income, net. Straight-line rent income decreased $498 in 2018 compared to 2017. This decrease is due to certain tenant rent increases
in 2018 that decreased straight-line rental income.
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Intangible amortization. Intangible amortization income decreased $536 in 2018 compared to 2017. The decrease is primarily attributable to
intangible assets and liabilities being written off or fully amortized.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses decreased $331 in 2018 compared to 2017. This decrease is primarily
due to lower legal costs, lower salary expense reimbursements and a decrease in conference costs, partially offset by an increase in state tax
expense.
Acquisition related costs. Acquisition related expenses decreased $725 in 2018 compared to 2017. The decrease is attributable to the fact that there
were no acquisitions in 2018 as well as an adjustment to the deferred investment property acquisition obligations.
Business management fee. Business management fees increased $149 in 2018 compared to 2017. The increase is due to the 2017 acquisitions of real
estate which increased assets under management. There were no acquisitions in 2018.
Provision for asset impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded an impairment charge for one of our investment properties
that was previously leased to Sports Authority based on the results of our evaluations for impairment due to a low occupancy rate, difficulty in
leasing space, declining market rents and the related cost of re-leasing.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization decreased $3,969 in 2018 compared to 2017. The decrease is primarily due to writeoffs of replaced assets and a redevelopment in 2017.
Interest expense. Interest expense increased $2,555 in 2018 compared to 2017. The increase is primarily due to additional financing of properties
after January 1, 2017, increased amounts drawn under the Credit Facility and higher interest rates on our floating debt. Average debt outstanding
increased $40,649 in 2018 compared to 2017.
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a gain of $1,151 related to the
early termination of certain interest rate swap agreements that had corresponding early mortgage pay-offs.
Loss on extinguishment of debt. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we realized a loss on extinguishment of debt on the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss of $411 due to the write-off of the unamortized balance of debt issuance costs associated with ten
loans that were repaid prior to maturity.
Interest and other income. Interest and other income increased $369 in 2018 compared to 2017. The increase is primarily due to interest earned on
our note receivable which was funded in 2018 and settlement income.
Provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from unconsolidated entities. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we
recorded an impairment to its investment in and note receivable from Mainstreet JV of $9,865 and $5,540, respectively, as it determined that recovery
is improbable. Both amounts represent a full impairment of such investments.
Leasing Activity
The following table sets forth leasing activity during the year ended December 31, 2019. Leases with terms of less than 12 months have been
excluded from the table.

Number
of Leases
Signed

Comparable Renewal Leases
Comparable New Leases
Non-Comparable New and
Renewal Leases (a)
Total
(a)

Gross
Leasable
Area

New
Contractual
Rent per
Square Foot

92
4

545,587
31,499

$
$

15.99
13.50

32
128

222,901
799,987

$

13.20

Prior
Contractual
Rent per
Square Foot

$
$

15.43
11.58
N/A

% Change
over Prior
Annualized
Base Rent

Weighted
Average
Lease
Term

Tenant
Improvements
per Square
Foot

3.6%
16.6%

5.0
8.6

$
$

—
5.13

N/A

5.8

$

7.62

Includes leases signed on units that were vacant for over 12 months, leases signed without fixed rent amounts and leases signed where the
previous and current lease do not have similar lease structures
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Non GAAP Financial Measures
Accounting for real estate assets in accordance with U.S. GAAP assumes the value of real estate assets is reduced over time due primarily to noncash depreciation and amortization expense. Because real estate values may rise and fall with market conditions, operating results from real estate
companies that use U.S. GAAP accounting may not present a complete view of their performance. We use Funds from Operations, or “FFO”, a
widely accepted metric to evaluate our performance. FFO provides a supplemental measure to compare our performance and operations to other
REITs. Due to certain unique operating characteristics of real estate companies, the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or
“NAREIT”, has promulgated a standard known as FFO, which it believes more accurately reflects the operating performance of a REIT. On
November 7, 2018, NAREIT’s Executive Board approved the White Paper restatement, effective December 15, 2018. The purpose of the restatement
was not to change the fundamental definition of FFO but to clarify existing guidance. The restated definition of FFO by NAREIT is net income
(loss) computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP, excluding depreciation and amortization related to real estate, excluding gains (or losses) from sales
of certain real estate assets, excluding impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and investments in entities when the impairment is
directly attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate and excluding gains and losses from change in control. We have adopted
the restated NAREIT definition for computing FFO. Previously presented periods were not impacted.
Under U.S. GAAP, acquisition related costs are treated differently if the acquisition is a business combination or an asset acquisition. An
acquisition of a single property will likely be treated as an asset acquisition as opposed to a business combination and acquisition related costs will
be capitalized rather than expensed when incurred. Publicly registered, non-listed REITs typically engage in a significant amount of acquisition
activity in the early years of their operations, and thus incur significant acquisition related costs, during these initial years. Although other start up
entities may engage in significant acquisition activity during their initial years, publicly registered, non-listed REITs are unique in that they
typically have a limited timeframe during which they acquire a significant number of properties and thus incur significant acquisition related costs.
Due to the above factors and other unique features of publicly registered, non-listed REITs, the Institute for Portfolio Alternatives, or “IPA”, an
industry trade group, published a standardized measure known as Modified Funds from Operations, or “MFFO”, which the IPA has promulgated as
a supplemental measure for publicly registered non-listed REITs and which may be another appropriate supplemental measure to reflect the
operating performance of a non-listed REIT. We believe it is appropriate to use MFFO as a supplemental measure of operating performance
because we believe that, when compared year-over-year, both before and after we have deployed all of our Offering proceeds and are no longer
incurring a significant amount of acquisition fees or other related costs, it reflects the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates,
rental rates, operating costs, general and administrative expenses, and interest costs, which may not be immediately apparent from net income.
MFFO excludes expensed costs associated with investing activities, some of which are acquisition related costs that affect our operations only in
periods in which properties are acquired, and other non-operating items that are included in FFO, such as straight-lining of rents as required by U.S.
GAAP. By excluding costs that we consider more reflective of acquisition activities and other non-operating items, the use of MFFO provides
another measure of our operating performance once our portfolio is stabilized. Because MFFO may be a recognized measure of operating
performance within the non-listed REIT industry, MFFO and the adjustments used to calculate it may be useful in order to evaluate our
performance against other non-listed REITs. Like FFO, MFFO is not equivalent to our net income or loss as determined under U.S. GAAP, as
detailed in the table below, and MFFO may not be a useful measure of the impact of long-term operating performance on value if we continue to
acquire a significant amount of properties. MFFO should only be used as a measurement of our operating performance while we are acquiring a
significant amount of properties because it excludes, among other things, acquisition costs incurred during the periods in which properties were
acquired.
We believe our definition of MFFO, a non-U.S. GAAP measure, is consistent with the IPA's Guideline 2010-01, Supplemental Performance Measure
for Publicly Registered, Non-Listed REITs: Modified Funds from Operations, or the “Practice Guideline,” issued by the IPA in November 2010. The
Practice Guideline defines MFFO as FFO further adjusted for the following items, as applicable, included in the determination of U.S. GAAP net
income: acquisition fees and expenses; amounts relating to straight-line rents and amortization of above and below market lease assets and
liabilities, accretion of discounts and amortization of premiums on debt investments; mark-to-market adjustments included in net income;
nonrecurring gains or losses included in net income from the extinguishment or sale of debt, hedges, foreign exchange, derivatives or securities
holdings where trading of such holdings is not a fundamental attribute of the business plan, unrealized gains or losses resulting from consolidation
from, or deconsolidation to, equity accounting, and after adjustments for consolidated and unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures, with
such adjustments calculated to reflect MFFO on the same basis.
Our presentation of FFO and MFFO may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures presented by other REITs. We believe that the use of
FFO and MFFO provides a more complete understanding of our operating performance to stockholders and to management, and when compared
year over year, reflects the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, general and administrative
expenses, and interest costs. Neither FFO nor MFFO is intended to be an alternative to “net income” or to “cash flows from operating activities” as
determined by U.S. GAAP as a measure of our capacity to pay distributions. Management uses FFO and MFFO to compare our operating
performance to that of other REITs and to assess our operating performance.
49

Our FFO and MFFO for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 are calculated as follows (Dollar amounts in thousands):

2019

Add:

Less:

Add:

Less:

Net loss
Depreciation and amortization related to investment properties
Provision for asset impairment
Provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from
unconsolidated entities
Gain on sale of investment properties
Funds from operations (FFO)
Acquisition related costs
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Mark-to-market adjustments
Amortization of acquired market lease intangibles, net
Straight-line income, net
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Modified funds from operations (MFFO)

$

$

For the year ended December 31,
2018
2017

(11,420)
57,691
4,420

$

(23,276)
57,835
—

$

(19,102)
61,804
8,530

—
(3,279)
47,412

15,405
—
49,964

—
—
51,232

—
—
—
(1,405)
(840)
—
45,167

29
411
135
(917)
(1,180)
(1,151)
47,291

754
—
—
(1,415)
(1,678)
—
48,893

$

$

Critical Accounting Policies
Our accounting policies have been established to conform with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP
requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 2 – “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” which is included in our December 31, 2019 Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. We have identified Impairment of Investment Properties and Equity Method Investments as a critical
accounting policy.
We consider this policy to be critical because it requires our management to use judgment in the application of accounting policy, including making
estimates and assumptions. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If
management’s judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is possible that
different accounting policies would have been applied, thus resulting in a different presentation of the financial statements. Additionally, other
companies may utilize different estimates that may impact comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.
Impairment of Investment Properties
We assess the carrying values of the respective long-lived assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable. If it is determined that the carrying value is not recoverable because the undiscounted cash
flows do not exceed the carrying value, we will be required to record an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds fair value. The
valuation and possible subsequent impairment of investment properties will be a significant estimate that can change based on our continuous
process of analyzing each property and reviewing assumptions about inherently uncertain factors, as well as the economic condition of the
property at a particular point in time.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For information related to recently issued accounting pronouncements, reference is made to Note 2 – “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”
which is included in our December 31, 2019 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
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Contractual Obligations
Our mortgages payable are generally non-recourse to us. We have, however, guaranteed the full amount of each of the mortgages payable by our
subsidiaries in the event that the applicable subsidiary fails to provide access or information to the properties or fails to obtain a lender’s prior
written consent to any liens on or transfers of any of the properties, and in the event of any losses, costs or damages incurred by a lender as a
result of fraud or intentional misrepresentation of the subsidiary borrower, gross negligence or willful misconduct, material waste of the properties
and the breach of any representation or warranty concerning environmental laws, among other things.
The table below presents, on a consolidated basis, our obligations and commitments to make future payments under debt obligations (including
interest) and ground leases as of December 31, 2019. The ground lease commenced on July 1, 2007 and extends through June 30, 2037, with six 5year options. Debt obligations under debt which is subject to variable rates reflect interest rates as of December 31, 2019 (Dollar amounts in
thousands).

2020

Principal payments on debt
Interest payments on debt
Rental payments on ground lease
Total

$

$

897
26,206
1,140
28,243

Payments due by period
2022
2023

2021

$

$

84,280
24,050
1,140
109,470

$

$

219,184
18,728
1,202
239,114

$

$

241,556
10,853
1,264
253,673

2024

$

$

341
5,479
1,264
7,084

Thereafter

$

$

137,678
5,412
87,112
230,202

Total

$

$

683,936
90,728
93,122
867,786

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We currently have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Risk
We are exposed to various market risks, including those caused by changes in interest rates and commodity prices. Market risk is the potential loss
arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as interest rates and commodity prices. We do not enter into derivatives or other
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We have entered into, and may continue to enter into, financial instruments to manage
and reduce the impact of changes in interest rates. The counterparties are, and are expected to continue to be, major financial institutions.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate changes primarily as a result of long-term debt used to purchase properties or other real estate assets and to fund
capital expenditures.
As of December 31, 2019, we had outstanding debt of $683.9 million, excluding mortgage premium and unamortized debt issuance costs, bearing
interest rates ranging from 2.95% to 5.48% per annum. The weighted average interest rate was 3.78%, which includes the effect of interest rate
swaps. As of December 31, 2019, the weighted average years to maturity for our mortgages and credit facility payable was 3.5 years.
As of December 31, 2019, our fixed-rate debt consisted of secured mortgage financings with a carrying value of $164.0 million and a fair value of
$168.9 million. Changes in interest rates do not affect interest expense incurred on our fixed-rate debt until their maturity or earlier repayment, but
interest rates do affect the fair value of our fixed rate debt obligations. If market interest rates were to increase by 1% (100 basis points), the fair
market value of our fixed-rate debt would decrease by $6.8 million at December 31, 2019. If market interest rates were to decrease by 1% (100 basis
points), the fair market value of our fixed-rate debt would increase by $7.2 million at December 31, 2019.
At December 31, 2019, we had $117.7 million of debt or 17.2% of our total debt bearing interest at variable rates not fixed by swap agreements with a
weighted average interest rate equal to 3.45% per annum. We had variable rate debt subject to swap agreements fixing the rate of $402.2 million or
58.8% of our total debt at December 31, 2019.
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If interest rates on all debt which bears interest at variable rates as of December 31, 2019 increased by 1% (100 basis points), the increase in interest
expense on all debt would decrease earnings and cash flows by $1.2 million annually. If interest rates on all debt which bears interest at variable
rates as of December 31, 2019 decreased by 1% (100 basis points), the decrease in interest expense would increase earnings and cash flows by the
same amount.
With regard to variable rate financing, our Business Manager assesses our interest rate cash flow risk by continually identifying and monitoring
changes in interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging opportunities. Our Business
Manager maintains risk management control systems to monitor interest rate cash flow risk attributable to both of our outstanding or forecasted
debt obligations as well as our potential offsetting hedge positions.
We use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans secured by our assets. Derivative instruments may
include interest rate swap contracts, interest rate cap or floor contracts, futures or forward contracts, options or repurchase agreements. Our actual
hedging decisions are determined in light of the facts and circumstances existing at the time of the hedge. We have used derivative financial
instruments, specifically interest rate swap contracts, to hedge against interest rate fluctuations on variable rate debt, which exposes us to both credit
risk and market risk. Credit risk is the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. If the fair value of a derivative
contract is positive, the counterparty will owe us, which creates credit risk for us because the counterparty may not perform. Market risk is the adverse
effect on the value of a financial instrument that results from a change in interest rates. We seek to manage the market risk associated with interest-rate
contracts by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market risk that may be undertaken. There is no assurance we
will be successful.
In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced it intends to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the
calculation of LIBOR after 2021. As a result, the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York organized the Alternative Reference
Rates Committee, which identified the SOFR as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. The Company is not able
to predict when LIBOR may be limited or discontinued or when there will be sufficient liquidity in the SOFR market. We have material contracts that are
indexed to LIBOR and are monitoring this activity and evaluating the related risks.
Derivatives
For information related to derivatives, reference is made to Note 8 – “Debt and Derivative Instruments” which is included in our December 31, 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule III (collectively, the consolidated
financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we
are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
Chicago, Illinois
March 18, 2020
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INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Assets:
Investment properties held and used:
Land
Building and other improvements
Total
Less accumulated depreciation
Net investment properties held and used
Investment properties and related assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts and rent receivable
Acquired lease intangible assets, net
Operating lease right-of-use asset, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Mortgages and credit facility payable, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Operating lease liability
Distributions payable
Acquired intangible liabilities, net
Due to related parties
Liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

December 31,
2018

267,946
983,923
1,251,869
(170,269)
1,081,600
38,752
4,516
1,017
17,231
89,352
15,478
6,613
1,254,559

$

681,327
7,951
23,696
10,841
46,820
5,023
1,716
16,666
794,040

$

$

277,229
1,021,607
1,298,836
(139,134)
1,159,702
—
15,239
1,001
16,176
115,357
—
12,594
1,320,069

705,884
8,849
—
11,924
57,462
2,604
—
16,268
802,991

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, none outstanding
Common stock, $.001 par value, 1,460,000,000 shares authorized, 35,799,388 and
35,343,256 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively
Additional paid in capital
Accumulated distributions and net loss
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—

$

36
805,722
(338,331)
(6,908)
460,519
1,254,559

—

$

35
795,409
(283,859)
5,493
517,078
1,320,069

INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
2019

Income:
Rental income
Other property income
Total income

$

Expenses:
Property operating expenses
Real estate tax expense
General and administrative expenses
Acquisition related costs
Business management fee
Provision for asset impairment
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses

2018

128,654
254
128,908

(28,305)
3,279
—
—
143

(27,137)
—
1,151
(411)
516

(24,582)
—
—
—
147

$

(15,405)
—
(23,276)

$

—
21
(19,102)

$

(0.65)

$

(0.54)

Net loss per common share, basic and diluted

$

(0.32)
35,748,672

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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128,855
302
129,157

22,369
15,992
5,200
754
9,196
8,530
61,804
123,845

$

$

$

22,772
15,841
4,869
29
9,345
—
57,835
110,691

—
—
(11,420)

Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivatives
Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net loss
Comprehensive loss

128,417
284
128,701

23,083
15,869
5,040
—
9,342
4,420
57,691
115,445

Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense
Gain on sale of investment properties
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest and other income
Provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from
unconsolidated entities
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities
Net loss

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding, basic and diluted

$

2017

(11,420)
(11,513)
(888)
(23,821)

35,589,729

$

$

(23,276)
291
(551)
(23,536)

35,571,249

$

$

(19,102)
1,043
2,405
(15,654)

INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

Number
of
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2016
Distributions declared ($1.50 per share)
Proceeds from distribution reinvestment plan
Shares repurchased
Unrealized gain on derivatives
Reclassification adjustment for amounts
included in net loss
Equity based compensation
Net loss

35,262,283

Additional
Paid in
Capital

Common
Stock

$

35

—
1,197,415
(961,698)
—

$

—
1
(1)
—

792,531

Accumulated
Distributions
and
Net Loss

$

—
27,068
(21,065)
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

(140,417) $

2,305

Total

$

654,454

(53,364)
—
—
—

—
—
—
1,043

(53,364)
27,069
(21,066)
1,043

—
444
—

—
—
—

—
33
—

—
—
(19,102)

2,405
—
—

2,405
33
(19,102)

Balance at December 31, 2017

35,498,444

35

798,567

(212,883)

5,753

591,472

Distributions declared ($1.34 per share)
Proceeds from distribution reinvestment plan
Shares repurchased
Unrealized gain on derivatives
Reclassification adjustment for amounts
included in net loss
Equity based compensation
Net loss

—
864,039
(1,020,223)
—

—
1
(1)
—

—
19,338
(22,544)
—

(47,700)
—
—
—

—
—
—
291

(47,700)
19,339
(22,545)
291

—
996
—

—
—
—

—
48
—

—
—
(23,276)

(551)
—
—

(551)
48
(23,276)

Balance at December 31, 2018

35,343,256

35

795,409

(283,859)

5,493

517,078

(43,162)
—
—
—

—
—
—
(11,513)

(43,162)
19,642
(9,381)
(11,513)

Distributions declared ($1.2072 per share)
Proceeds from distribution reinvestment plan
Shares repurchased
Unrealized gain on derivatives
Reclassification adjustment for amounts
included in net loss
Cumulative reversal of recognized hedge
ineffectiveness (see Note 2)
Cumulative-effect adjustment recognized upon
adoption of ASC 842 (see Note 2)
Equity based compensation
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2019

—
949,012
(494,435)
—

—
1
—
—

—
19,641
(9,381)
—

—

—

—

—

(754)

(754)

—

—

—

134

(134)

—

1,555
—

—
—

53
—

35,799,388

$

36

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

805,722

(24)
—
(11,420)
$

(338,331) $

—
—

(24)
53
(11,420)

(6,908) $

460,519

INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of investment properties
Provision for asset impairment
Provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from unconsolidated entities
Amortization of debt issuance costs and mortgage premiums, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Amortization of acquired market leases, net
Amortization of equity based compensation
Amortization of right-of-use asset
Straight-line income, net
Equity in (earnings) loss of unconsolidated entity
Distributions from unconsolidated entity
Adjustment of contingent earnout liability
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Other non-cash adjustments
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts and rent receivable
Other assets
Due to related parties
Operating lease liability
Other liabilities
Net cash flows provided by operating activities

$

(11,420 )

2018
$

(23,276 )

2017
$

(19,102 )

57,691
(3,279 )
4,420
—
604
—
(1,405 )
53
485
(1,644 )
—
—
—
—
36

57,835
—
—
15,405
596
411
(917 )
48
—
(1,180 )
—
—
(853 )
(1,151 )
149

61,804
—
8,530
—
397
—
(1,415 )
33
—
(1,678 )
(21 )
146
575
—
(40 )

(196 )
(672 )
(1,671 )
2,408
319
1,034
46,763

(1,848 )
906
(1,510 )
(33 )
—
469
45,051

3,249
(1,020 )
(297 )
(188 )
—
(102 )
50,871

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investment properties
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Capital expenditures
Investment in unconsolidated joint ventures
Other assets and other liabilities
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

—
14,872
(10,012 )
—
—
4,860

—
—
(10,087 )
(2,736 )
(5,800 )
(18,623 )

(69,953 )
—
(6,209 )
(6,917 )
(203 )
(83,282 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of credit facility
Proceeds from credit facility
Proceeds from mortgages payable
Payment of mortgages payable
Proceeds from the distribution reinvestment plan
Shares repurchased
Distributions paid
Early termination of interest rate swap agreements
Payment of deferred investment property acquisition obligation
Payment of debt issuance costs
Net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities

(25,001 )
7,500
—
(7,660 )
19,642
(12,566 )
(44,245 )
—
—
—
(62,330 )

(56,278 )
257,000
—
(184,947 )
19,339
(19,612 )
(40,313 )
1,192
(1,050 )
(2,363 )
(27,032 )

(43,000 )
95,800
39,179
(6,494 )
27,069
(19,984 )
(53,315 )
—
(6,415 )
(442 )
32,398

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of the year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of the year

(10,707 )
16,240
5,533

(604 )
16,844
16,240

(13 )
16,857
16,844

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
58

$

$

INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
In conjunction with the purchase of investment property, the Company
acquired assets and assumed liabilities as follows:
Land
Building and improvements
Acquired in-place lease intangibles
Acquired above market lease intangibles
Acquired below market lease intangibles
Assumed liabilities, net
Purchase of investment properties

2019

$

2018

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

Establishment of operating lease right-of-use asset

2017

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

17,513
41,793
6,740
8,645
(4,589)
(149)
69,953

27,749

$

26,874

$

24,206

$

15,963

$

—

$

—

Establishment of operating lease liability

$

23,377

$

—

$

—

Accrued capital expenditures

$

727

$

527

$

712

Accrued SRP

$

2,278

$

5,463

$

2,530

Distributions payable

$

10,841

$

11,924

$

4,537

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION
Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) was formed on August 24, 2011 to acquire and manage a portfolio of commercial real estate
investments located in the United States. The Company is primarily focused on acquiring retail properties and targets a portfolio of 100% groceryanchored properties. The Company has invested in joint ventures and may continue to invest in additional joint ventures or acquire other real
estate assets if its management believes the expected returns from those investments exceed that of retail properties. The Company also may invest
in real estate-related equity securities of both publicly traded and private real estate companies, as well as commercial mortgage-backed securities.
The Company has no employees. The Company is managed by IREIT Business Manager & Advisor, Inc. (the “Business Manager”), an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of Inland Real Estate Investment Corporation (the “Sponsor”), pursuant to a Business Management Agreement with the
Business Manager.
On January 16, 2018, the Company effected a 1-for-2.5 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding common stock whereby every 2.5 shares of
issued and outstanding common stock were converted into one share of its common stock (the “Reverse Stock Split”). In accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”), all share information presented has been retroactively
adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
On February 11, 2019, the Company’s board of directors approved a strategic plan (the “Strategic Plan”) with the goals of providing future liquidity
to investors and creating long-term stockholder value. The Strategic Plan centers around owning a portfolio of 100% grocery-anchored properties
with lower exposure to big box retailers. Consistent with the Strategic Plan, the Company sold 12 properties in 2019 and three additional properties
in 2020, as further described in Note 5 – “Dispositions” and Note 18 – “Subsequent Events.” The Company’s management team and board are
considering the opportunistic sale of certain other assets with the goal of redeploying capital into the acquisition of strategically located groceryanchored centers, as well as the redevelopment of select centers within the current portfolio. The Company is considering moving toward a
liquidity event in approximately two years, market conditions permitting, most likely through a listing on a public securities exchange.
In connection with the Strategic Plan, the Company’s share repurchase program (as amended, the “SRP”) was amended and restated, effective
March 21, 2019, and the Business Management Agreement with the Business Manager was amended and restated on February 11, 2019 to, among
other things, eliminate all future acquisition and disposition fees. On March 3, 2020, the Company’s SRP was amended and restated (the “Third
A&R SRP”), which will become effective on April 10, 2020, as further described below in Note 3 – “Equity”. The Strategic Plan may evolve or
change over time. For example, the Company may decide to focus more on redeveloping existing properties relative to investing in new groceryanchored centers, depending on such factors, including, but not limited to, market prices for its properties, availability of capital for redevelopment
and construction costs. There is no assurance the Company will be able to successfully implement the Strategic Plan, including listing the
Company’s common stock.
On March 3, 2020, as reported in the Company’s Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the same date, the Company
announced that the Company’s board of directors unanimously approved: (i) an estimated per share net asset value (the “Estimated Per Share
NAV”) as of December 31, 2019; (ii) the same per share purchase price for shares issued under the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan (as
amended, the “DRP”) beginning with the first quarter distribution payment to stockholders in April 2020 until the Company announces a new
Estimated Per Share NAV, and (iii) that, in accordance with the SRP, beginning with repurchases in April 2020 and until the Company announces a
new Estimated Per Share NAV, any shares accepted for ordinary repurchases and “exceptional repurchases” will be repurchased at 80% of the
Estimated Per Share NAV.
At December 31, 2019, the Company owned 47 retail properties, totaling 6,758,359 square feet. The properties are located in 23 states. At December
31, 2019, the portfolio had a weighted average physical occupancy of 94.0% and economic occupancy of 94.4%.
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INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019
(Dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. In the opinion of management,
all adjustments necessary for a fair statement, in all material respects, of the financial position and results of operations for the periods are
presented. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Information with respect to square footage and occupancy is unaudited.
Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, as well as all wholly owned subsidiaries. Wholly owned subsidiaries
generally consist of limited liability companies (“LLCs”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Each
property is owned by a separate legal entity which maintains its own books and financial records and each entity’s assets are not available to
satisfy the liabilities of other affiliated entities.
The fiscal year-end of the Company is December 31.
Partially-Owned Entities
The Company will consolidate the operations of a joint venture if the Company determines that it is either the primary beneficiary of a variable
interest entity (VIE) or has substantial influence and control of the entity. In instances where the Company determines that it is not the primary
beneficiary of a VIE or the Company does not control the joint venture but can exercise influence over the entity with respect to its operations and
major decisions, the Company will use the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the operations of a joint venture will not be
consolidated with the Company’s operations but instead its share of operations will be reflected as equity in earnings (loss) of unconsolidated
entity on its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Additionally, the Company’s net investment in the joint venture will
be reflected as investment in unconsolidated entity on the consolidated balance sheets.
Acquisitions
Upon acquisition of real estate investment properties, the Company allocates the total purchase price of each property that is accounted for as an
asset acquisition based on the relative fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on Level 3 inputs,
such as comparable sales values, discount rates, capitalization rates, revenue and expense growth rates and lease-up assumptions, from a third
party appraisal or other market sources. The acquisition date is the date on which the Company obtains control of the real estate investment
property and transaction costs are capitalized.
Assets and liabilities acquired typically include land, building and site improvements and identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of
the value of above market and below market leases and the value of in-place leases. The portion of the purchase price allocated to above market
lease values is included in acquired lease intangible assets, net and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related lease as a
reduction to rental income. The portion allocated to below market lease values is included in acquired intangible liabilities, net and is amortized as
an increase to rental income over the term of the lease including any renewal periods with fixed rate renewals. The portion of the purchase price
allocated to acquired in-place lease value is included in acquired lease intangible assets, net and is amortized on a straight-line basis over the
acquired leases’ weighted average remaining term.
The Company determines the fair value of the tangible assets consisting of land and buildings by valuing the property as if it were vacant, and the
“as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to land and buildings. The Company determines the fair value of assumed debt by calculating the net present
value of the mortgage payments using interest rates for debt with similar terms and maturities. Differences between the fair value and the stated
value is recorded as a discount or premium and amortized over the remaining term using the effective interest method.
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Certain of the Company’s properties included earnout components to the purchase price, meaning the Company did not pay a portion of the
purchase price of the property at closing, although the Company owns the entire property. The Company is not obligated to settle the contingent
portion of the purchase price unless space which was vacant at the time of acquisition is later leased by the seller within the time limits and
parameters set forth in the related acquisition agreements. The Company’s policy is to record earnout components when estimable and probable.
At December 31, 2019, there is no earnout liability outstanding.
Impairment of Investment Properties and Equity Method Investments
The Company assesses the carrying values of its respective long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable. Recoverability of the assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of
the asset to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows. In order to review its assets for recoverability, the Company considers current market
conditions, as well as its intent with respect to holding or disposing of the asset. If the Company’s analysis indicates that the carrying value of the
long-lived asset is not recoverable on an undiscounted cash flow basis, the Company recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate property. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third party appraisals, where considered necessary (Level 3 inputs).
The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows based on management’s intent as follows: (i) for real estate properties that the
Company intends to hold long-term, including land held for development, properties currently under development and operating buildings,
recoverability is assessed based on the estimated future net rental income from operating the property and termination value; and (ii) for real estate
properties that the Company intends to sell, including land parcels, properties currently under development and operating buildings, recoverability
is assessed based on estimated net proceeds, including net rental income during the holding period, from disposition that are estimated based on
future net rental income of the property and utilizing expected market capitalization rates.
The use of projected future cash flows is based on assumptions that are consistent with our estimates of future expectations and the strategic plan
the Company uses to manage its underlying business. However, assumptions and estimates about future cash flows, including comparable sales
values, discount rates, capitalization rates, revenue and expense growth rates and lease-up assumptions which impact the discounted cash flow
approach to determining value are complex and subjective. Changes in economic and operating conditions and the Company’s ultimate investment
intent that occur subsequent to the impairment analysis could impact these assumptions and result in future impairment charges of real estate
properties.
On a quarterly basis, management assesses whether there are any indicators that the carrying value of the Company’s investment in
unconsolidated entities and notes receivable may be other than temporarily impaired as a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline is
required to be recognized. Indicators include significant delays in construction, significant costs over budget and financial concerns. To the extent
indicators suggest that a loss in value may have occurred, the Company will evaluate both quantitative and qualitative factors to determine if the
loss in value is other than temporary. If a potential loss in value is determined to be other than temporary, the Company will recognize an
impairment loss based on the estimated fair value of the investment.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $4,420 which is included in provision for asset
impairment on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded
an impairment charge of $9,865 related to its investment in Mainstreet Texas Development Fund, LLC, a joint venture formed to develop three
transitional care/rapid recovery centers (“Mainstreet JV”). The Company determined that, as of December 31, 2018, collection of its note receivable
from Mainstreet JV is improbable and therefore, recorded an impairment charge of $5,540 to reduce the note receivable balance to zero. Both
impairment charges related to Mainstreet JV are included in provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from unconsolidated
entities on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $8,530 which is included in provision for asset impairment on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss.
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REIT Status
The Company elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, for federal income tax purposes commencing with the tax year ended December 31, 2013. Commencing with such taxable year, the
Company was organized and began operating in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code and believes it
has so qualified. As a result, the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax on taxable income that is distributed to stockholders.
A REIT is subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that it currently distributes at least 90% of its
REIT taxable income (subject to certain adjustments and excluding any net capital gain) to its stockholders. The Company will monitor the business
and transactions that may potentially impact its REIT status. If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, without the benefit of
certain statutory relief provisions, the Company will be subject to tax as a “C corporation.” Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the
Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income, property or net worth and federal income and excise taxes. Any taxable REIT
subsidiaries generally will be subject to federal income tax applicable to “C corporations.”
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all demand deposits, money market accounts and all short-term investments with a maturity of three months or less, at the
date of purchase, to be cash equivalents. The account balance may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance
coverage and, as a result, there could be a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. The
Company believes that the risk will not be significant, as the Company does not anticipate the financial institutions’ non-performance.
Restricted Cash
Amounts included in restricted cash represent those required to be set aside by lenders for real estate taxes, insurance, capital expenditures and
tenant improvements on our existing properties. These amounts also include post close escrows for tenant improvements, leasing commissions,
master lease, general repairs and maintenance, and are classified as restricted cash on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets
to such amounts shown on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows:
December 31,
2019

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$
$

2018

4,516
1,017
5,533

$
$

15,239
1,001
16,240

Accounts and Rents Receivable
The Company takes into consideration certain factors that require judgments to be made as to the collectability of receivables. Collectability factors
taken into consideration are the amounts outstanding and payment history of the tenant. The Company includes both billed and accrued charges in
its evaluation of the collectability of a tenant’s receivable balance. For tenant receivables that the Company determines to be uncollectible, the
Company records an offset for uncollectable tenant revenues directly to rental income.
Capitalization and Depreciation
Real estate properties held and used are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Real estate properties held for sale are recorded at the
lesser of their carrying value or fair value less selling costs. Improvement and betterment costs are capitalized, and ordinary repairs and
maintenance are expensed as incurred.
Real estate properties are classified as held for sale when the Company concludes that a sale is likely. Criteria that may be considered in this
determination include obtaining a signed purchase and sale agreement, the completion and waiving of due diligence by the seller, and the receipt of
non-refundable earnest money from the seller.
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Cost capitalization and the estimate of useful lives require judgment and include significant estimates that can and do change. Depreciation
expense is computed using the straight-line method. The Company anticipates the estimated useful lives of its assets by class to be generally:
Building and other improvements
Site improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Tenant improvements
Leasing fees

30 years
5-15 years
5-15 years
Shorter of the life of the asset or the term of the related lease
Term of the related lease

Depreciation expense was $39,304, $38,040 and $39,497 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Amortization of leasing
fees were $546, $360, and $168 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs are amortized on a straight-line basis, which approximates the effective interest method, over the term, or anticipated
repayment date, of the related agreements as a component of interest expense. These costs are reported as a direct deduction to the Company’s
outstanding mortgages and credit facility payable.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company has estimated fair value using available market information and valuation methodologies the Company believes to be appropriate for
these purposes. Considerable judgment and a high degree of subjectivity are involved in developing these estimates and, accordingly, they are not
necessarily indicative of amounts that would be realized upon disposition.
The Company defines fair value based on the price that it believes would be received upon sale of an asset or the exit price that would be paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company establishes a fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which are
described below:
Level 1 −

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.

Level 2 −

Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 −

Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and
liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant
unobservable inputs.

The Company’s cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payables and accrued expenses all approximate fair value due to the short term nature of
these financial instruments. The Company’s financial instruments measured on a recurring basis include derivative interest rate instruments.
Derivatives
The Company uses derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, primarily to manage exposure to interest rate risks inherent in variable rate
debt. The Company may also enter into forward starting swaps or treasury lock agreements to set the effective interest rate on a planned fixed-rate
financing. The Company’s interest rate swaps involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company
making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. In a forward starting swap or
treasury lock agreement that the Company cash settles in anticipation of a fixed rate financing or refinancing, the Company will receive or pay an
amount equal to the present value of future cash flow payments based on the difference between the contract rate and market rate on the settlement
date. The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes and currently does not have any derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments under the accounting requirements for derivatives and hedging.
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Revenue Recognition
The Company commences revenue recognition for its operating leases on the commencement date of the lease, which the Company considers is
the date on which it makes the leased space available to the lessee.
The determination of who is the owner, for accounting purposes, of the tenant improvements determines the nature of the leased asset. If the
Company is the owner, for accounting purposes, of the tenant improvements, then the tenant improvements are capitalized and depreciated over
the life of the lease. If the Company concludes it is not the owner, for accounting purposes, of the tenant improvements (the lessee is the owner),
then the leased asset is the unimproved space and any tenant improvement allowances funded by the Company under the lease are treated as lease
incentives which reduce revenue recognized over the term of the lease. The Company considers a number of different factors to evaluate whether it
or the lessee is the owner of the tenant improvements for accounting purposes.
Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of each lease. The difference between rental income earned on a straight-line
basis and the cash rent due under the provisions of the lease agreements is recorded as deferred rent receivable and is included as a component of
accounts and rent receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. Due to the impact of the straight-line basis, rental income generally will be greater
than the cash collected in the early years and will decrease in the later years of a lease.
Reimbursements from tenants for recoverable real estate tax and operating expenses are accrued as revenue in the period the applicable expenses
are incurred. The Company makes certain assumptions and judgments in estimating the reimbursements at the end of each reporting period. The
Company does not expect the actual results to materially differ from the estimated reimbursement. The Company made the election for these
reimbursements, which are non-lease components, to be combined with rental income.
The Company records lease termination income if there is a signed termination agreement, all of the conditions of the agreement have been met and
amounts due are considered collectible. Such termination fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term in rental income.
As a lessor, the Company defers the recognition of contingent rental income, such as percentage rent, until the specified target that triggered the
contingent rental income is achieved.
Equity-Based Compensation
The Company has restricted shares and units outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company recognizes expense related to the fair
value of equity-based compensation awards as general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. The Company primarily recognizes expense based on the fair value at the grant date on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period representing the requisite service period and adjusts expense for forfeitures as they occur. See Note 9 - "Equity-Based Compensation" for
further information.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2017-12, Derivatives and
Hedging (Topic 815), Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities. Among other things, the guidance eliminated the requirement
to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be
presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. As ASU 2017-12 was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018,
the Company adopted the ASU on January 1, 2019 with a modified retrospective transition. For cash flow hedges existing at January 1, 2019, the
Company eliminated the separate measurement of ineffectiveness by means of a cumulative reversal of recognized hedge ineffectiveness with a
credit to the opening balance of accumulated distributions and net loss and a debit to accumulated other comprehensive income of $134 on its
consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of equity.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) which amends the guidance in ASC Topic 840, Leases. The Company
adopted the lease standard effective January 1, 2019. As a lessor, the Company’s recognition of rental income remained mainly consistent with
previous guidance. As a result of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company includes both billed and accrued charges in its quarterly evaluation of the
collectability of a tenant’s receivable balance. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842, uncollectible tenant revenues were recorded as bad debt expense in
property operating expenses on its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For tenant receivables that the Company
determines to be uncollectible, the Company now records an offset for uncollectible tenant revenues directly to rental income. Upon adoption of
ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, a cumulative-effect adjustment of $24 was recognized for uncollectible tenant revenues as a result of this change. The
standard’s changes related to capitalized initial direct costs did not impact the Company’s accounting for such costs, because historically, the
Company capitalized initial direct costs (commissions) that are still considered capitalizable under the new standard.
As part of its adoption of the lease standard, the Company has elected and qualifies to utilize the practical expedient in ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted
Improvements, Leases (Topic 842) issued in July 2018, which allows, by class of underlying assets, to not separate non-lease components from the
related lease components and, instead, to account for those components as a single lease. This practical expedient for lessors is limited to
circumstances in which the non-lease component or components would be accounted for under the new revenue guidance and both (1) the timing
and pattern of transfer are the same for the non-lease component(s) and associated lease component and (2) the lease component, if accounted for
separately, would be classified as an operating lease.
The Company also elected the package of practical expedients in ASU No. 2018-11, which permitted the Company to adopt the new leases standard
under a transition method whereby it initially applies the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. Therefore, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02 on its effective date without
restating comparative periods and utilized the practical expedients available in the amendment as part of its adoption. The package of practical
expedients included relief from re-assessing a lease using the standard’s new definition of a lease, relief from re-assessing the classification of a
lease and allowing previously capitalized initial direct costs (see above) to continue to be amortized. The adoption of the package of practical
expedients, as a lessor, did not require the Company to recognize a cumulative effect adjustment.
For lessees, ASU No. 2016-02 establishes a right-of-use (ROU) model that requires a lessee to record a ROU asset and a lease liability on the
balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. The Company is the lessee of a ground lease. The Company has elected the practical
expedient that, for leases that commenced before the effective date, the lessee need not reassess whether the contract is a lease nor reassess lease
classification for existing leases. The lease liability for the ground lease was based on the present value of the ground lease’s future lease payments
using an interest rate which it considers reasonable and within the range of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. At January 1, 2019, the
Company recorded a lease liability of $23,377 and a ROU asset of $15,963 on its consolidated balance sheet. Rental expense for lease payments
related to the operating lease will continue to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
NOTE 3 – EQUITY
The Company commenced an initial public “best efforts” offering (the “Offering”) on October 18, 2012, which concluded on October 16, 2015. The
Company sold 33,534,022 shares of common stock generating gross proceeds of $834,399 from the Offering. On March 3, 2020, the Company’s
board of directors determined an estimated per share NAV of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2019. The previously estimated per
share NAV of the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 2018 was established on March 5, 2019.
The Company provides the following programs to facilitate additional investment in the Company’s shares and to provide limited liquidity for
stockholders.
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Distribution Reinvestment Plan
On October 19, 2015, the Company registered 25,000,000 shares of common stock to be issued under its distribution reinvestment plan (“DRP”)
pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-3D. The Company provides stockholders with the option to purchase additional shares from the
Company by automatically reinvesting cash distributions through the DRP, subject to certain share ownership restrictions. The Company does not
pay any selling commissions or a marketing contribution and due diligence expense allowance in connection with the DRP. Pursuant to the DRP,
the price per share for shares of common stock purchased under the DRP is equal to the estimated value of a share, as determined by the
Company’s board of directors and reported by the Company from time to time, until the shares become listed for trading, if a listing occurs,
assuming that the DRP has not been terminated or suspended in connection with such listing.
Distributions reinvested through the DRP were $19,642, $19,339 and $27,069 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Share Repurchase Program
The Company adopted a share repurchase program (as amended, “SRP”) effective October 18, 2012, under which the Company is authorized to
purchase shares from stockholders who purchased their shares from the Company or received their shares through a non-cash transfer and who
have held their shares for at least one year. Purchases are in the Company’s sole discretion. In the case of repurchases made upon the death of a
stockholder or qualifying disability (“Exceptional Repurchases”), as defined in the SRP, the one year holding period does not apply. The SRP was
amended and restated effective January 1, 2018 to change the processing of repurchase requests from a monthly to a quarterly basis to align with
the move to quarterly distributions. On February 11, 2019, the Company’s board of directors adopted a second amended and restated SRP, effective
March 21, 2019. On March 3, 2020 the Company’s board of directors adopted the Third A&R SRP. Under the Third A&R SRP, the Company is
authorized to make ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 80.0% of the “share price,” which is defined in the Third
A&R SRP as an amount equal to the lesser of: (A) $25, as adjusted under certain circumstances, including, among other things, if the applicable
shares were purchased from the Company at a discounted price; or (B) the most recently disclosed estimated value per share. Prior to the
amendment, the Company was authorized to make Exceptional Repurchases at a price equal to 100% of the “share price.”
The Third A&R SRP provides the Company’s board of directors with the discretion to reduce the funding limit for share repurchases. The Third
A&R SRP limits the dollar amount for any repurchases made by the Company each calendar quarter to an amount equal to a percentage determined
in the sole discretion of the board on a quarterly basis that will not be less than 50% of the net proceeds from the DRP during the applicable
quarter. The Company continues to limit the number of shares repurchased during any calendar year to 5% of the number of shares outstanding on
December 31st of the previous calendar year, as adjusted for any stock splits or other combinations.
If either or both of the repurchase limitations prevent the Company from repurchasing all of the shares offered for repurchase during a calendar
quarter, the Company will repurchase shares, on a pro rata basis within each category below, in accordance with the repurchase limitations in the
following order: (a) first, all Exceptional Repurchases and (b) second, all ordinary repurchases. The SRP will immediately terminate if the Company’s
shares become listed for trading on a national securities exchange. For any quarter ended, unfulfilled repurchase requests will be included in the list
of requests for the following quarter unless the request is withdrawn in accordance with the SRP. However, each stockholder who has submitted a
repurchase request must submit an acknowledgment annually after we publish a new estimated value per share acknowledging, among other
things, that the stockholder wishes to maintain the request. If we do not receive the acknowledgment prior to the repurchase date, we will deem the
request to have been withdrawn.
Repurchases through the SRP were $9,381, $22,545 and $21,066 for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. At December
31, 2019 and 2018, the liability related to the SRP was $2,278 and $5,463, respectively, recorded in other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets.
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NOTE 4 – ACQUISITIONS
2019 Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company did not acquire any additional properties.
2018 Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not acquire any additional properties.
2017 Acquisitions
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, the three properties listed below from
unaffiliated third parties. The acquisitions were financed with proceeds from the Company’s credit facility (the “Credit Facility”).
Date
Acquired

1st Quarter
1/27/2017
2nd Quarter
4/3/2017
3rd Quarter
7/14/2017

Property Name

Location

Property
Type

Square
Footage

Purchase
Price (a)

Wilson Marketplace (b)

Wilson, NC

Multi-Tenant Retail

311,030

Pentucket Shopping Center (b)

Plaistow, NH

Multi-Tenant Retail

198,469

24,100

Coastal North Town Center - Phase II

Myrtle Beach, SC

6,588

3,716

Retail

516,087
(a)
(b)

$

$

40,783

68,599

Contractual purchase price excluding closing credits.
Subsequent to the acquisition date, first mortgages were placed on the properties.

The above acquisitions were accounted for as asset acquisitions. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred $2,213 of total
acquisition costs and fees, $1,459 of which are capitalized as the acquisition of net investment properties on the consolidated balance sheet. An
adjustment to the deferred investment property acquisition obligation of $574 and $180 of acquisition and dead deal costs are included in
acquisition related costs on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. For properties acquired during the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Company recorded total income of $5,202 and property net income of $325, which excludes expensed acquisition related
costs.
The following table presents certain additional information regarding the Company’s acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2017. The
amounts recognized for major assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date are as follows:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2017

Land
Building and improvements
Acquired lease intangible assets, net
Acquired intangible liabilities, net
Assumed liabilities, net

$

17,513
41,793
15,385
(4,589)
(149)

Total

$

69,953
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NOTE 5 – DISPOSITIONS
In connection with the Strategic Plan, the Company completed the sale of 12 properties during 2019, generating cash proceeds of $14,872. The
Company recognized a gain of $3,279, reflected in gain on sale of investment properties on the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss.
The Company also has three additional properties that met the criteria to be classified as held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2019. The criteria was met for these properties because, amongst other criteria, the Company had collected non-refundable earnest
money from the seller. For these properties, an impairment charge of $4,420, reflected in provision for asset impairment on the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss during the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company completed the sale of the three properties
in January 2020 as discussed in Note 18 – “Subsequent Events”.
The following table reflects the major components of the assets and liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale as of December
31, 2019:
December 31, 2019

Investment properties and related assets held for sale:
Land
Building and other improvements
Accounts and rent receivable
Acquired lease intangible assets, net
Deferred costs, net
Other assets
Investment properties and related assets held for sale
Liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Due to related parties
Acquired intangible liabilities, net
Other liabilities
Liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale

$

$
$

$

6,275
27,758
1,167
3,337
186
29
38,752
691
6
743
276
1,716

NOTE 6 – INVESTMENT IN AND NOTES RECEIVABLE FROM UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
In August 2017, the Company, through a wholly owned taxable REIT subsidiary, made an equity commitment to Mainstreet JV to develop,
construct, lease, finance and sell parcels of land and related building improvements including personal property which were to be operated as rapid
recovery healthcare facilities located in Beaumont, Amarillo and Temple, Texas.
In conjunction with its equity investment in Mainstreet JV, the Company also agreed to provide subsidiaries of Mainstreet JV mezzanine loans in
the aggregate amount of $5,400. The loan term was for 48 months with the Company earning interest at a rate of 14.5% per annum and receiving
monthly interest payments based on a 10.5% pay rate. The remaining unpaid interest was to be due at maturity or upon certain defined events. The
mezzanine loans were guaranteed by one of the other members of the joint venture. The borrowers could draw on the mezzanine loans as needed in
connection with the construction of the rapid recovery healthcare facilities, however, did not draw on the mezzanine loans until the Company had
fully funded its equity commitment to Mainstreet JV. As of December 31, 2017, the Company had not loaned any funds related to the mezzanine
loans.
During 2018, the Company funded its remaining equity commitment to Mainstreet JV, as well as the full $5,400 of mezzanine loans. Subsequently,
during 2018, the Company identified several indicators that suggested it was probable that the Company would not recover its equity investment in
or the mezzanine loans advanced to Mainstreet JV. Such indicators included construction overruns, loss of a planned tenant and the related cost of
re-leasing. Additionally, the construction mortgage lender to Mainstreet JV stopped funding the construction draws for two of the properties and
began foreclosure proceedings. As the Company does not intend to fund any more investments in Mainstreet JV and it does not expect to recover
any of its previous investments, the Company determined an impairment for both its investment in and notes receivable from Mainstreet JV is
appropriate.
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During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded an impairment to its investment in Mainstreet JV of $9,865 and an impairment to
its notes receivable from unconsolidated entities of $5,540, both included in provision for impairment of investment in and note receivable from
unconsolidated entities on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Both amounts represent a full impairment of such
investments.
NOTE 7 – ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following table summarizes the Company’s identified intangible assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Intangible assets:
Acquired in-place lease value
Acquired above market lease value
Accumulated amortization
Less: Assets related to investment properties held
for sale
Acquired lease intangibles, net

$

160,214 $
45,783
(113,308)

$

Intangible liabilities:
Acquired below market lease value
Above market ground lease
Accumulated amortization
Less: Liabilities related to investment properties held
for sale
Acquired below market lease intangibles, net

$

$

165,182
45,824
(95,649)

(3,337)
89,352 $

—
115,357

71,153 $
—
(23,590)

71,551
5,169
(19,258)

(743)
46,820 $

—
57,462

The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired above market lease value and acquired below market lease value is amortized on a straightline basis over the term of the related lease as an adjustment to rental income. For below market lease values, the amortization period includes any
renewal periods with fixed rate renewals. Prior to January 1, 2019, the acquired above market ground lease was amortized on a straight-line basis as
an adjustment to property operating expense over the term of the lease and included renewal periods. At date of the adoption of ASC 842 on
January 1, 2019, the remaining balance of the intangible related to the above market ground lease was derecognized as a cumulative-effect
adjustment to establish the operating lease ROU asset. The portion of the purchase price allocated to acquired in-place lease value is amortized on
a straight-line basis over the acquired leases’ weighted average remaining term.
Amortization pertaining to acquired in-place lease value, above market ground lease, above market lease value and below market lease value is
summarized below:
Amortization recorded as amortization expense:
Acquired in-place lease value
Amortization recorded as a reduction to property operating
expense:
Above market ground lease
Amortization recorded as a (reduction) increase to rental
income:
Acquired above market leases
Acquired below market leases
Net rental income increase
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2019

2018

2017

$

17,841

$

19,410

$

22,104

$

—

$

94

$

94

$

(3,502) $
4,907
1,405 $

$

(3,891) $
4,714
823 $

(4,379)
5,700
1,321
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Estimated amortization of the respective intangible lease assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 for each of the five succeeding years and
thereafter is as follows:
Acquired
In-Place
Leases

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

12,953
10,539
7,900
6,673
5,667
18,703
62,435

Above
Market
Leases

$

$

Below
Market
Leases

3,020
2,953
2,664
2,477
2,308
13,495
26,917

$

$

(3,896)
(3,715)
(3,482)
(3,224)
(3,047)
(29,456)
(46,820)

NOTE 8 – DEBT AND DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had the following mortgages and credit facility payable:
December 31, 2019
Weighted
Average
Principal
Interest
Amount
Rate

Type of Debt

Fixed rate mortgages payable
Variable rate mortgages payable with swap agreements
Variable rate mortgages payable
Mortgages payable
Credit facility payable
Total debt before unamortized mortgage premiums and
debt issuance costs including impact of interest
rate swaps
Add: Unamortized mortgage premiums
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs
Total debt

$

$

$

$

December 31, 2018
Weighted
Average
Principal
Interest
Amount
Rate

163,986
252,244
684
416,914
267,022

4.25% $
3.33%
3.29%
3.69% $
3.92%

171,646
252,244
684
424,574
284,523

4.25%
3.33%
3.95%
3.71%
4.22%

683,936
1,051
(3,660)
681,327

3.78% $

709,097
1,683
(4,896)
705,884

3.91%

$

The Company’s indebtedness bore interest at a weighted average interest rate of 3.78% per annum at December 31, 2019, which includes the effects
of interest rate swaps. The Company estimates the fair value of its total debt by discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates
currently offered for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities by the Company’s lenders using Level 3 inputs. The carrying value of the
Company’s debt excluding mortgage premium and unamortized debt issuance costs was $683,936 and $709,097 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, and its estimated fair value was $689,790 and $709,737 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2019, scheduled principal payments and maturities on the Company’s debt were as follows:

Scheduled
Principal
Payments

Scheduled Principal Payments and Maturities by Year:

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

897
1,540
625
326
341
295
4,024

December 31, 2019
Maturities of
Maturity
Mortgage
of Credit
Loans
Facility

$

$

—
82,740
101,537
91,230
—
137,383
412,890

$

$

—
—
117,022
150,000
—
—
267,022

Total

$

$

897
84,280
219,184
241,556
341
137,678
683,936

Credit Facility Payable
The Company’s credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) consisting of a $200,000 revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and a
$150,000 term loan (the “Term Loan”) has an accordion feature that allows for an increase in available borrowings up to $700,000, subject to certain
conditions.
At December 31, 2019, the Company had $117,022 outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and $150,000 outstanding under the Term
Loan. At December 31, 2019 the interest rate on the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan was 3.45% and 4.29%, respectively. The
Revolving Credit Facility matures on August 1, 2022, and the Company has the option to extend the maturity date for one additional year subject to
the payment of an extension fee and certain other conditions. The Term Loan matures on August 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2019 the Company
had $82,978 available for borrowing under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The Company’s performance of the obligations under the Credit Facility, including the payment of any outstanding indebtedness under the Credit
Facility, is guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company, including each of the subsidiaries of the Company which owns or leases any of the
properties included in the pool of unencumbered properties comprising the borrowing base. Additional properties will be added to and removed
from the pool from time to time to support amounts borrowed under the Credit Facility. At December 31, 2019, there were 28 properties included in
the pool of unencumbered properties. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company paid-off two mortgage loans with a principal balance
of $7,447.
The Credit Facility requires compliance with certain covenants, including a minimum tangible net worth requirement, a distribution limitation,
restrictions on indebtedness and investment restrictions, as defined. It also contains customary default provisions including the failure to comply
with the Company's covenants and the failure to pay when amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility become due. The Company is in
compliance with all financial covenants related to the Credit Facility.
Gain on early termination of interest rate swap agreements
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a net gain of $1,151 of which $1,192 was received in cash, related to the early
termination of certain interest rate swap agreements that had corresponding early mortgage pay-offs.
Loss on extinguishment of debt
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company realized a loss on extinguishment of debt on the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss of $411 due to the write-off of the unamortized balance of debt issuance costs associated with ten loans that were repaid prior
to maturity.
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Mortgages Payable
The mortgage loans require compliance with certain covenants, such as debt service ratios, investment restrictions and distribution limitations. As
of December 31, 2019, the Company was current on all of the payments and in compliance with all financial covenants. All of the Company’s
mortgage loans are secured by first mortgages on the respective real estate assets. As of December 31, 2019, the weighted average years to
maturity for the Company’s mortgages payable was 3.7 years.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements
The Company entered into interest rate swaps to fix certain of its floating LIBOR based debt under variable rate loans to a fixed rate to manage its
risk exposure to interest rate fluctuations. The Company will generally match the maturity of the underlying variable rate debt with the maturity date
on the interest swap. See Note 16 - "Fair Value Measurements" for further information.
The following table summarizes the Company’s interest rate swap contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2019.

Date
Entered

Assets
January 25, 2016
June 7, 2016
July 21, 2016

Liabilities
February 11, 2015
April 7, 2015
September 17, 2015
October 2, 2015
December 23, 2015
June 5, 2017
August 23, 2018
August 23, 2018
August 23, 2018
August 23, 2018

(a)

Effective
Date

February 1, 2016
July 1, 2016
August 1, 2016

March 2, 2015
April 7, 2015
September 17, 2015
November 1, 2015
December 23, 2015
May 31, 2017
September 4, 2018
September 4, 2018
September 4, 2018
September 4, 2018

Pay
Fixed
Rate (a)

Maturity
Date

February 1, 2021
July 1, 2023
August 1, 2023

March 1, 2022
April 7, 2022
September 17, 2022
November 1, 2022
January 2, 2026
May 15, 2022
August 1, 2023
August 1, 2023
August 1, 2023
August 1, 2023

Fair Value at
December 31,
2019

Notional
Amount

1.40% $
1.42%
1.30%
$

38,000
43,680
47,550
129,230

$

82
198
435
715

2.02% $
1.74%
1.90%
1.79%
2.30%
1.90%
2.73%
2.74%
2.74%
2.73%

6,114
49,400
13,700
13,100
26,000
14,700
60,000
25,000
25,000
40,000

$

(62)
(214)
(128)
(90)
(952)
(122)
(2,420)
(1,009)
(1,012)
(1,613)

$

273,014

$

(7,622)

$

Receive floating rate index based upon one month LIBOR. At December 31, 2019, the one month LIBOR equaled 1.76%.

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), Targeted Improvements to Accounting for
Hedging Activities which eliminated the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness. For derivative instruments that are
designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the entire change in fair value of the hedging instrument included in the assessment of hedge
effectiveness should be recorded in other comprehensive income (OCI). When the amounts recorded in OCI are reclassified to earnings, they
should be presented in the same income statement line item as the effect of the hedged item. The table below presents the effect of the Company’s
derivative financial instruments on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018
and 2017.

Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships:

2019

Effective portion of derivatives
Reclassification adjustment for amounts included in net gain or loss
(effective portion)
Ineffective portion of derivatives
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Year Ended December 31,
2018

$

(11,513) $

$
$

(888) $
— $

291

2017

$

1,043

(551) $
(176) $

2,405
7
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The total amount of interest expense presented on the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss was $28,305, $27,137 and $24,582 for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The location of the net gain or loss reclassified into income from accumulated other
comprehensive loss is reported in interest expense on the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The amount that is expected to be
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into income in the next 12 months is $1,743.
NOTE 9 – EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION
Under the Company’s Employee and Director Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”), restricted shares and restricted share units generally vest over a one
to three year vesting period from the date of the grant, subject to the specific terms of the grant. On June 4, 2019, we issued 2,237 restricted shares
and 746 restricted share units to our independent directors pursuant to the automatic grant provisions of the RSP, which become vested in equal
installments of 33-1/3% on each of the first three anniversaries of June 4, 2019, subject to certain exceptions. In accordance with the RSP, restricted
shares and restricted share units were issued to non-employee directors as compensation. Each restricted share and restricted share unit entitles
the holder to receive one common share when it vests. Restricted shares and restricted share units are included in common stock outstanding on
the date of the vesting. The grant-date value of the restricted shares and restricted share units is amortized over the vesting period representing the
requisite service period. Compensation expense associated with the restricted shares and restricted share units issued to the non-employee
directors was $53, $48 and $33 in the aggregate, for the year ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company had $55 of unrecognized compensation expense related to the unvested restricted shares and restricted share units, in the aggregate. The
weighted average remaining period that compensation expense related to unvested restricted shares and restricted share units will be recognized is
1.5 years. The total fair value at the vesting date for restricted shares and restricted share units that vested during the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 and 2017 was $43, $30 and $14, respectively.
A summary of the Company’s restricted share and restricted share unit activity during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 is as
follows:
Restricted
Shares

Outstanding at December 31, 2016
Granted (at grant date fair value of $22.63 per share)
Vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2017
Granted (at grant date fair value of $22.35 per share)
Vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Granted (at grant date fair value of $20.12 per share)
Vested
Outstanding at December 31, 2019

1,330
1,657
(444)
2,543
1,677
(996)
3,224
2,237
(1,555)
3,906

Restricted
Share Units

460
600
(156)
904
650
(353)
1,201
849
(570)
1,480

NOTE 10 – INCOME TAX AND DISTRIBUTIONS
The Company qualifies as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for federal income tax purposes. In order to maintain the
Company’s status as a REIT, the Company must annually distribute at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, subject to certain adjustments and
excluding any net capital gain, to its stockholders. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Company’s REIT taxable income was
$988 (unaudited), $9,073 (unaudited) and $10,045 (unaudited), respectively.
The Company had no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019 or 2018. The Company expects no significant increases or decreases in
uncertain tax positions due to changes in tax positions within one year of December 31, 2019. The Company had no interest or penalties relating to
income taxes recognized on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 or
2017. As of December 31, 2019, returns for the calendar years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 remain subject to examination by U.S. and various state and
local tax jurisdictions.
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As a result of the $15,405 impairment for the Mainstreet JV recorded on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss during the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company will likely recognize either a capital or net operating loss or a combination thereof, for
income tax purposes, from this venture in the future. The Company’s investment in Mainstreet JV is held through a taxable REIT subsidiary. Based
on an effective tax rate of 28.51%, which is calculated by combining a 21% Federal tax rate and an IL tax rate of 7.51% (9.5% state rate net of the
Federal benefit), the deferred tax benefit related to the impairment is approximately $4,400. Since the taxable REIT subsidiary does not currently
conduct any activities outside the investment in Mainstreet JV, management does not believe it is more likely than not that the taxable REIT
subsidiary will be able to utilize these losses in future tax periods. As a result, management recorded a full valuation allowance of $4,400 to account
for this uncertainty during the year ended December 31, 2018. No income tax expense or benefit was recorded during the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018 or 2017.
Distributions
In 2019, the Company paid quarterly distributions in an amount equal to $0.3018 per share, which represented an annualized rate of 6% based on the
previously estimated per share NAV as of December 31, 2018, payable in arrears the following quarter. In 2018, the Company paid quarterly
distributions in an amount equal to $0.335 per share, which represented an annualized rate of 6% based on the previously estimated per share NAV
as of December 31, 2017, payable in arrears the following quarter. The Company paid distributions based on daily record dates, payable in arrears
the following month, equal to a daily amount of $0.00410959 per share, based upon a 365-day period for 2017. The table below presents the
distributions paid and declared for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
The table below presents the distributions paid and declared for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
December 31,
2018

2019

Distributions paid
Distributions declared

$
$

44,245
43,162

$
$

40,313
47,700

2017

$
$

53,315
53,364

For federal income tax purposes, distributions may consist of ordinary dividend income, qualified dividend income, non-taxable return of capital,
capital gains or a combination thereof. Distributions to the extent of the Company’s current and accumulated earnings and profits for federal
income tax purposes are taxable to the recipient as either ordinary dividend income or, if so declared by the Company, qualified dividend income or
capital gain dividends. Distributions in excess of these earnings and profits (calculated for income tax purposes) constitute a non-taxable return of
capital rather than ordinary dividend income or a capital gain dividend and reduce the recipient’s tax basis in the shares to the extent thereof.
Distributions in excess of earnings and profits that reduce a recipient’s tax basis in the shares have the effect of deferring taxation of the amount of
the distribution until the sale of the stockholder’s shares. If the recipient's tax basis is reduced to zero, distributions in excess of the aforementioned
earnings and profits (calculated for income tax purposes) constitute taxable gain.
The following table sets forth the taxability of distributions on common shares, on a per share basis, paid in 2019, 2018 and 2017:
2019

Ordinary income
Capital gain
Nontaxable return of capital

$
$
$

2018

—
0.03
1.21

$
$
$

2017

0.26
0.04
1.04

$
$
$

0.29
—
1.21

NOTE 11 – EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
for the period (the “common shares”). Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the common shares plus common share
equivalents. The Company excludes antidilutive restricted shares and units from the calculation of weighted-average shares for diluted EPS. As a
result of a net loss for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, 2,902 shares, 2,625 shares and 1,507 shares, respectively, were excluded
from the computations of diluted EPS, because they would have been antidilutive.
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NOTE 12 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The acquisition of certain of the Company’s properties included an earnout component to the purchase price that was recorded as a deferred
investment property acquisition obligation (“Earnout liability”). At December 31, 2019 and 2018, there is no earnout liability outstanding.
The table below presents the change in the Company’s Earnout liability for the year ended December 31, 2018:
December 31,
2018

Earnout liability-beginning of period
Increases:
Additional earnout liability
Amortization expense
Decreases:
Earnout payments
Other:
Adjustments to acquisition related costs
Earnout liability – end of period

$

1,050
816
24
(1,865)

$

(25)
—

The Company may be subject, from time to time, to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business. While the
resolution of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on currently available information, that the final
outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
NOTE 13 – SEGMENT REPORTING
The Company has one reportable segment, retail real estate, as defined by U.S. GAAP for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
NOTE 14 – TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The following table summarizes the Company’s related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. Certain
compensation and fees payable to the Business Manager for services provided to the Company are limited to maximum amounts.
Year ended December 31,
2019
2018
2017

General and administrative reimbursements
Acquisition related costs
Acquisition fees
Total acquisition costs and fees

(a) $

1,324 $

1,526 $

1,608 $

188 $

216

$

— $
—
— $

8 $
28
36 $

274 $
1,266
1,540 $

— $
—
— $

—
—
—

4,907 $
1,135
220
251
6,513 $

4,800 $
1,114
113
214
6,241 $

— $
—
23
143
166 $

—
—
6
37
43

9,345 $

9,196 $

4,675 $

2,345

(b) $

Real estate management fees
Property operating expenses
Construction management fees
Leasing fees
Total real estate management related costs

(c) $

4,841 $
1,136
186
296
6,459 $

Business management fees

(d) $

9,342 $

(a)

Unpaid amounts as of
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

$

The Business Manager and its related parties are entitled to reimbursement for certain general and administrative expenses incurred by the
Business Manager and its related parties relating to the Company’s administration. Such costs are included in general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Unpaid amounts are included in due to related parties on
the consolidated balance sheets.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Prior to February 11, 2019, the Company was required to pay the Business Manager or its affiliates a fee equal to 1.5% of the “contract
purchase price,” as defined, of each asset acquired. The business management agreement was amended and restated to, among other
things, remove the obligation to pay acquisition fees and disposition fees payable to the Business Manager by the Company with respect to
transactions occurring on or after February 11, 2019. The Business Manager and its related parties continue to be reimbursed for acquisition
and transaction related costs of the Business Manager and its related parties relating to the Company’s acquisition activities, regardless of
whether the Company acquires the real estate assets. There were no related party acquisition costs or fees incurred during the year ended
December 31, 2019. Of the $36 related party acquisition costs and fees incurred during the year ended December 31, 2018, $12 are capitalized
as the acquisition of net investment properties on the consolidated balance sheet. Of the $1,540 related party acquisition costs incurred
during the year ended December 31, 2017, $1,260 are capitalized as the acquisition of net investment properties on the consolidated balance
sheet, $134 are capitalized as investment in unconsolidated entities on the consolidated balance sheet, and $146 of such costs are included
in acquisition related costs on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Unpaid amounts are included in due to
related parties on the consolidated balance sheets.
For each property that is managed by Inland Commercial Real Estate Services LLC (the “Real Estate Manager”) (and its predecessor), the
Company pays a monthly real estate management fee of up to 1.9% of the gross income from any single-tenant, net-leased property, and up
to 3.9% of the gross income from any other property type. The Real Estate Manager determines, in its sole discretion, the amount of the fee
with respect to a particular property, subject to the limitations. For each property that is managed directly by the Real Estate Manager or its
affiliates, the Company pays the Real Estate Manager a separate leasing fee. Further, in the event that the Company engages its Real Estate
Manager to provide construction management services for a property, the Company pays a separate construction management fee. Leasing
fees are included in deferred costs, net and construction management fees are included in building and other improvements on the
consolidated balance sheets. The Company also reimburses the Real Estate Manager and its affiliates for property-level expenses that they
pay or incur on the Company’s behalf, including the salaries, bonuses and benefits of persons performing services for the Real Estate
Manager and its affiliates except for the salaries, bonuses and benefits of persons who also serve as an executive officer of the Real Estate
Manager or the Company. Real estate management fees and reimbursable expenses are included in property operating expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of December 31, 2019, unpaid construction management fees of $6 are
included in liabilities associated with investment properties held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet. The remaining unpaid amounts
are included in due to related parties on the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company pays the Business Manager an annual business management fee equal to 0.65% of its “average invested assets”. The fee is
payable quarterly in an amount equal to 0.1625% of its average invested assets as of the last day of the immediately preceding quarter.
“Average invested assets” means, for any period, the average of the aggregate book value of the Company’s assets, including all
intangibles and goodwill, invested, directly or indirectly, in equity interests in, and loans secured by, properties, as well as amounts invested
in securities and consolidated and unconsolidated joint ventures or other partnerships, before reserves for amortization and depreciation or
bad debts, impairments or other similar non-cash reserves, computed by taking the average of these values at the end of each month during
the relevant calendar quarter. Unpaid amounts are included in due to related parties on the consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 15 –LEASES
The Company is lessor on over 700 retail operating leases. The remaining lease terms for the Company’s leases range from less than one year to 17
years. The Company considers the date on which it makes a leased space available to a lessee as the commencement date of the lease. At
commencement, the Company determines the lease classification utilizing the classification tests under ASC 842. Options to extend a lease are
included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise its option to extend. Termination penalties are included in
income when there is a termination agreement, all the conditions of the agreement have been met and amounts due are considered collectible. Such
termination fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term in rental income. If an operating lease is modified and the
modification is not accounted for as a separate contract, the Company accounts for the modification as if it were a termination of the existing lease
and the creation of a new lease. The Company considers any prepaid or accrued rentals relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments
for the modified lease. The Company includes options to modify the original lease term when it is reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise its
option to extend.
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Lease Income
Most of the revenue from the Company’s properties consists of rents received under long-term operating leases. Most leases require the tenant to
pay fixed base rent paid monthly in advance, and to reimburse the Company for the tenant’s pro rata share of certain operating expenses including
real estate taxes, special assessments, insurance, utilities, common area maintenance, management fees, and certain building repairs paid by the
Company and recoverable under the terms of the lease. Under these leases, the Company pays all expenses and is reimbursed by the tenant for the
tenant’s pro rata share of recoverable expenses paid.
Certain other tenants are subject to net leases which provide that the tenant is responsible for fixed base rent as well as all costs and expenses
associated with occupancy. Under net leases where all expenses are paid directly by the tenant rather than the landlord, such expenses are not
included on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Under leases where all expenses are paid by the Company, subject
to reimbursement by the tenant, the expenses are included within property operating expenses. As of January 1, 2019, the date on which the
Company adopted the new leasing standard, reimbursements for common area maintenance are considered non-lease components that are
permitted to be combined with rental income. The combined lease component and reimbursements for insurance and taxes are reported as rental
income on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Rental income related to the Company's operating leases is comprised of the following for the year ended December 31, 2019:
Rental income - fixed payments
Rental income - variable payments (a)
Amortization of acquired market leases, net
Rental income
(a)

$

101,689
25,560
1,405
128,654

$

Primarily includes tenant recovery income for real estate taxes, common area maintenance and insurance.

The future base rent payments to be received under operating leases including ground leases as of December 31, 2019 for the years indicated,
assuming no expiring leases are renewed, are as follows:
Lease
Payments

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

$

87,909
83,722
73,953
62,374
49,684
148,313
505,955

Lease Expense
The Company is the lessee under one ground lease. The ground lease, which commenced on July 1, 2007, was assumed as part of a property
purchased in October 2015 and extends through June 30, 2037 with six 5-year renewal options which the Company assumes will be exercised. When
the Company acquired the lease, the Company considered the lease terms and lease classification. As reassessment is not required under practical
expedients accorded in ASC 842, the Company will continue to account for the ground lease as an operating lease with an established lease term
and payment schedule. At January 1, 2019, the Company recorded a lease liability of $23,377 and a ROU asset of $15,963 on its consolidated
balance sheet. The lease liability was based on the present value of the ground lease’s future lease payments using an interest rate of 6.225% which
the Company considers reasonable and within the range of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. For the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017, total rent expense was $1,944, $1,891 and $1,891, respectively, recorded in property operating expenses on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Lease payments for the ground lease as of December 31, 2019 for each of the five succeeding years and thereafter is as follows:
Lease
Payments

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

1,140
1,140
1,202
1,264
1,264
87,112
93,122

$

NOTE 16 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair Value Hierarchy
The Company defines fair value based on the price that it believes would be received upon sale of an asset or the exit price that would be paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company establishes a fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value hierarchy consists of three broad levels, which are
described below:
Level 1 −

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity has the ability to access.

Level 2 −

Observable inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 −

Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and
liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant
unobservable inputs.

The Company has estimated the fair value of its financial and non-financial instruments using available market information and valuation
methodologies the Company believes to be appropriate for these purposes.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
For assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the table below presents the fair value of the Company’s cash flow hedges as
well as their classification on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Fair Value
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

December 31, 2019
Interest rate swap agreements - Other assets
Interest rate swap agreements - Other liabilities
December 31, 2018
Interest rate swap agreements - Other assets
Interest rate swap agreements - Other liabilities

Total

$
$

—
—

$
$

715
7,622

$
$

—
—

$
$

715
7,622

$
$

—
—

$
$

7,286
1,926

$
$

—
—

$
$

7,286
1,926

The fair value of derivative instruments was estimated based on data observed in the forward yield curve which is widely observed in the
marketplace. The Company also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the
counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements which utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads. The
Company has determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation of its derivative interest rate swap
agreements and therefore has classified these in Level 2 of the hierarchy.
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Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements
As of December 31, 2019, the Company reviewed the carrying value of three investment properties that met held for sale criteria. The criteria was
met for these properties because, amongst other criteria, the Company had collected non-refundable earnest money from the seller. Properties
classified as held for sale must be recorded at the lesser of their carrying value or the fair value as of the balance sheet date less selling costs in
accordance with GAAP. The fair value of these investment properties, classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, was estimated based on the
signed purchase and sale agreements with the seller. All of these properties had a carrying value that exceeded the fair value less selling costs, and
therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2019 an impairment loss totaling $4,420 was recorded in provision for asset impairment on the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company completed the sale of these properties in January 2020.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred no impairment charges for investment properties or any other non-recurring fair
value measurements. For discussion of full impairment reserve recorded for the Company’s investment in the Mainstreet JV and the related notes
receivable, please refer to Note 6 – “Investment In and Notes Receivable from Unconsolidated Entities”.
As of December 31, 2017, the Company identified indicators of impairment at one of its investment properties. Such indicators included a low
occupancy rate, difficulty in leasing space, declining market rents and the related cost of re-leasing. The fair value of this investment property,
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, was estimated using the 10-year discounted cash flow model, which included estimated inflows and
outflows over a specific holding period and estimated net disposition proceeds at the end of the 10-year period. The Company utilized a
capitalization rate of 7.50% and a discount rate of 8.50% which it believed were reasonable based on the then-current market rates. For the year
ended December 31, 2017, the Company recognized an asset impairment charge of $8,530 to reflect an investment at its estimated fair value, which is
included in provision for asset impairment on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.

NOTE 17 – QUARTERLY SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
The following represents the results of operations, for each quarterly period, during 2019 and 2018.
2019
Dec 31

Total income
Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (1)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,
basic and diluted (1)

$
$
$

32,813 $
(2,959) $
(0.08) $

Sept 30

Jun 30

32,039 $
(2,832) $
(0.08) $

35,914,799

35,805,323

Dec 31

Sept 30

31,581 $
(2,676) $
(0.07) $

Mar 31

32,475
(2,953)
(0.08)

35,686,902

35,583,398

Jun 30

Mar 31

2018

Total income
Net loss
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted (1)
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding,
basic and diluted (1)
(1)

$
$
$

31,893 $
(13,071) $
(0.37) $
35,587,000

32,290 $
(5,791) $
(0.16) $
35,589,157

31,870 $
(2,174) $
(0.06) $
35,588,790

32,648
(2,240)
(0.06)
35,594,052

Quarterly net loss per common share amounts may not total the annual amounts due to rounding and the changes in the number of weighted
common shares outstanding.
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NOTE 18 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Sales of Investment Properties
In January 2020, the Company sold the investment properties 2727 Iowa Street, Whispering Ridge and Treasure Valley for aggregate net proceeds
of approximately $37,200. The Company used these net proceeds to make repayments on the Credit Facility.
Announcement of the Company’s Estimated Per Share NAV
On March 3, 2020, the Company announced that the Company’s board of directors unanimously approved: (i) an Estimated Per Share NAV as of
December 31, 2019; (ii) the same per share purchase price for shares issued under the DRP beginning with the first quarter distribution payment to
stockholders to be paid in April 2020 until the Company announces a new Estimated Per Share NAV, and (iii) that, in accordance with the Third
A&R SRP, which will be effective April 10, 2020, beginning with repurchases in April 2020 and until the Company announces a new Estimated Per
Share NAV, any shares accepted for ordinary repurchases and Exceptional Repurchases will be repurchased at 80% of the Estimated Per Share
NAV.
Declaration of Distributions
On March 17, 2020, the Company’s board of directors declared the first quarter distribution in an amount equal to $0.226875 per share payable to
stockholders of record as of the close of business on March 31, 2020. The amount of distribution declared represents an annualized rate of 5%
based on the Estimated Per Share NAV as of December 31, 2019. The first quarter distribution is expected to be paid on April 1, 2020.
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Gross amount carried
at end of period (B)

Initial cost (A)
Cost
Capita- lized

Encumbrance

Property Name

Blossom Valley Plaza
Turlock, CA
Branson Hills Plaza
Branson, MO

$

Land

-

$

9,515

$

Buildings
and

Subsequent to

Improvements

Acquisitions (C)

11,142

$

580

Accumulated

Buildings
and
Improvements
(D)

Land(D)

$

9,515

11,722

$ 21,237

3,787

6,213

13,725

$

Date
Constructed

Date
Acquired

Depreciable
Lives

(1,904 )

1988

2015

15-30

10,000

(1,174 )

2005

2014

15-30

48,380

62,105

(6,511 )

2014

2016

15-30

—

3,787

6,039

43,680

13,725

49,673

—

365

3,034

—

365

3,034

3,399

(272 )

2016

2017

15-30

6,798

2,807

9,053

955

2,807

10,008

12,815

(1,974 )

1988

2014

15-30

—

4,500

41,865

3,206

4,500

45,071

49,571

(9,058 )

2002

2014

5-30

6,024

2,411

8,393

53

2,411

8,446

10,857

(1,554 )

2008

2015

15-30

13,453

6,069

22,637

1,072

6,069

23,709

29,778

(3,950 )

2008

2015

15-30

Fox Point Plaza
Neenah, WI

—

3,518

12,681

1,103

3,518

13,784

17,302

(2,736 )

2008

2014

15-30

Frisco Marketplace
Frisco, TX

—

6,618

3,315

—

6,618

3,315

9,933

(723 )

2002

2015

15-30

13,100

7,218

17,846

829

7,218

18,675

25,893

(3,120 )

1997

2015

5-30

—

6,500

19,403

2,007

6,500

21,410

27,910

(4,742 )

2014

15-30

Harvest Square
Harvest, AL

6,487

2,186

9,330

139

2,186

9,469

11,655

(1,885 )

2008

2014

15-30

Heritage Square
Conyers, AL

4,460

2,028

5,538

364

2,028

5,902

7,930

(1,134 )

2010

2014

15-30

Kroger - Copps Grocery
Store (D)
Stevens Point, WI

—

1,440

11,799

—

1,440

11,799

13,239

(2,173 )

2012

2014

15-30

Kroger - Pick n Save Center
West Bend, WI

—

3,150

14,283

2,284

3,150

16,567

19,717

(2,924 )

2011

2014

15-30

Lakeside Crossing
Lynchburg, VA

—

1,460

16,999

432

1,460

17,431

18,891

(3,548 )

2013

2014

15-30

Landing at Ocean Isle Beach
Ocean Isle, NC

—

3,053

7,081

105

3,053

7,186

10,239

(1,515 )

2009

2014

15-30

Mansfield Pointe
Mansfield, TX

—

5,350

20,002

798

5,350

20,800

26,150

(4,336 )

2008

2014

15-30

Marketplace at El Paseo
Fresno, CA

38,000

16,390

46,971

(507 )

16,390

46,464

62,854

(7,045 )

2014

2015

15-30

Marketplace at Tech Center
Newport News, VA

47,550

10,684

68,580

(77 )

10,684

68,503

79,187

(9,842 )

2015

2015

15-30

—

8,810

29,699

706

8,810

30,405

39,215

(6,501 )

2014

5-30

18,727

—

35,867

939

—

36,806

36,806

(5,570 )

2015

15-30

Newington Fair
Newington, CT

—

7,833

8,329

550

7,833

8,879

16,712

(2,847 )

2012

15-30

North Hills Square
Coral Springs, FL

—

4,800

5,493

460

4,800

5,953

10,753

(1,228 )

2014

15-30

Oquirrh Mountain Marketplace
Jordan, UT

—

4,254

14,467

177

4,254

14,644

18,898

(2,137 )

2014-2015

2015

15-30

Oquirrh Mountain Marketplace
Phase II
Jordan, UT

—

1,403

3,727

(54 )

1,403

3,673

5,076

(491 )

2014-2015

2016

15-30

Park Avenue Shopping Center
Little Rock, AR

—

5,500

16,365

3,130

5,500

19,495

24,995

(3,996 )

2012

2014

15-30

14,700

5,993

11,251

257

5,993

11,508

17,501

(1,181 )

1986

2017

15-30

Coastal North Town Center
Myrtle Beach, SC
Coastal North Town Center -Phase
II
Myrtle Beach, SC
Dixie Valley
Louisville, KY
Dogwood Festival
Flowood, MO
Eastside Junction
Athens, AL
Fairgrounds Crossing
Hot Springs, AR

Green Tree Shopping Center
Katy, TX
Harris Plaza
Layton, UT

MidTowne Shopping Center
Little Rock, AR
Milford Marketplace
Milford, CT

Pentucket Shopping Center

174

$

Depreciation
(E)

Total
(D)

(1,293 )
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2001-2008

2005/2008
2007
1994/2009
1997

Plaistow, NH
Plaza at Prairie Ridge
Pleasant Prairie, WI

—

618

2,305

—

618

2,305

2,923

(399 )

2008

2015

15-30

Prattville Town Center
Prattville, AL

15,930

5,336

27,672

195

5,336

27,867

33,203

(4,885 )

2007

2015

15-30

Regal Court
Shreveport, LA

26,000

5,873

41,181

1,937

5,873

43,118

48,991

(7,473 )

2008

2015

5-30

Settlers Ridge
Pittsburgh, PA

76,532

25,961

98,156

589

25,961

98,745

124,706

(15,753 )

2011

2015

15-30

—

2,285

8,527

62

2,285

8,589

10,874

(1,526 )

2008

2015

15-30

13,700

12,499

8,388

895

12,499

9,283

21,782

(2,151 )

20062007

2015

15-30

Shoppes at Prairie Ridge
Pleasant Prairie, WI

—

7,521

22,468

351

7,521

22,819

30,340

(4,194 )

2009

2014

15-30

The Shoppes at Branson Hills
Branson, MO

—

4,418

37,229

1,018

4,418

38,247

42,665

(6,887 )

2005

2014

15-30

Shops at Hawk Ridge
St. Louis, MO

—

1,329

10,341

251

1,329

10,592

11,921

(1,916 )

2009

2015

5-30

17,723

10,789

19,385

1,299

10,789

20,684

31,473

(3,349 )

2007 &
2015

2015

5-30

4,650

2,624

9,683

410

2,624

10,093

12,717

(1,812 )

2011

2015

15-30

—

2,220

26,577

280

2,220

26,857

29,077

(5,692 )

20092013

2013

5-30

49,400

18,961

70,423

1,823

18,961

72,246

91,207

(12,253 )

2013

2015

15-30

Wilson Marketplace
Wilson, NC

—

11,155

27,498

1,020

11,155

28,518

39,673

(3,048 )

2007

2017

15-30

Yorkville Marketplace

—

4,990

13,928

781

4,990

14,709

19,699

(2,860 )

2002 &
2007

2015

15-30

$ 416,914

$ 267,946

29,300

$ 267,946

983,923

$ 1,251,869

$ (170,269 )

Shoppes at Lake Park
West Valley City. UT
Shoppes at Market Pointe
Papillion, NE

Village at Burlington Creek
Kansas City, MO
Walgreens Plaza
Jacksonville, NC
Wedgewood Commons
Olive Branch, MS
White City
Shrewsbury, MA

Yorkville, IL
Total:

$

954,623

$

$

Notes:
(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)

The initial cost to the Company represents the original purchase price of the property.
The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31, 2019 for federal income tax purposes was $1,444,964.
As applicable, some amounts include write-offs
Reconciliation of real estate owned:

Balance at January 1,
Acquisitions
Improvements, net of master lease
Impairment of investment property
Real estate sold
Property held for sale
Balance at December 31,
(E)

$

$

2019

2018

1,298,836 $
—
9,706
(4,222)
(13,053)
(39,398)
1,251,869 $

1,288,917
—
9,919
—
—
—
1,298,836

$

2017

139,134 $
39,304
—
(2,804)
(5,365)
170,269 $

101,094
38,040
—
—
—
139,134

$

$

1,233,231
59,306
5,594
(9,214)
—
—
1,288,917

Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation:
Balance at January 1,
Depreciation expense
Impairment of investment property
Real estate sold
Property held for sale
Balance at December 31,

$

$

83

$

62,631
39,497
(1,034)
—
—
101,094

Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management has evaluated, with the participation of the Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the
end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the principal executive and principal financial officers have concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our
evaluation under the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO, our management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm pursuant to permanent rules adopted by the SEC, permitting the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s fiscal quarter
ended December 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.
Item 9B.

Other Information

None.
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Part III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which we
anticipate filing with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year, and is incorporated by reference into this Item 10.
We have adopted a code of ethics, which is available on our website free of charge at inland-investments.com/inland-income-trust. We will provide
the code of ethics free of charge upon request to our investor services group.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which we
anticipate filing with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year, and is incorporated by reference into this Item 11.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which we
anticipate filing with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year and is incorporated by reference into this Item 12.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which we
anticipate filing with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year and is incorporated by reference into this Item 13.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be presented in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting of stockholders which we
anticipate filing with the SEC no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year, and is incorporated by reference into this Item 14.
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Part IV
Item 15.
(a)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

List of documents filed as part of this report:
(1)

Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are set forth in the report in Item 8.

(2)

Financial Statement Schedules:
Financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2019 is submitted herewith.
Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (Schedule III).

(3)

Exhibits:
The list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report is set forth on the Exhibit Index attached hereto.

(b)

Exhibits:
The exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index attached hereto.

(c)

Financial Statement Schedules:
All schedules other than those indicated in the index as set forth in Item 8 have been omitted as the required information is inapplicable or
the information is presented in the consolidated financial statements or related notes.

Item 16.

Form 10-K Summary

None.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No.

Description

3.1

Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Amendment No. 5 to the Registrant’s Form S-11 Registration Statement, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 11, 2012 (file number 333-176775))

3.2

Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. Articles of Amendment (Reverse Stock Split) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 16, 2018
(file number 000-55146))

3.3

Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. Articles of Amendment (Par Value Decrease) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 16, 2018
(file number 000-55146))

3.4

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2015
(file number 000-55146))

4.1

Amended and Restated Distribution Reinvestment Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 9, 2015 (file number 000-55146))

4.2

Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 22, 2017 (file number 000-55146))

4.3

Second Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program, effective March 21, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2019
(file number 000-55146))

4.4

Third Amended and Restated Share Repurchase Program, effective April 10, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 5, 2020
(file number 000-55146))

4.5

Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934*

10.1

Amended and Restated Business Management Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2019, by and between Inland Real Estate Income
Trust, Inc. and IREIT Business Manager & Advisor, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 15, 2019 (file number 000-55146))

10.2

Master Real Estate Management Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2012, by and between Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. and
Inland National Real Estate Services, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as
filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2012 (file number 333-176775))

10.3

Assignment and Assumption of Master Management Agreement, effective January 1, 2016, by and between Inland National Real
Estate Services, LLC and Inland Commercial Real Estate Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 15, 2016 (file number 000-55146))

10.4

Investment Advisory Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2012, by and between Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc., IREIT Business
Manager & Advisor, Inc. and Inland Investment Advisors, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2012 (file number 333176775))

10.5

License Agreement, by and between The Inland Real Estate Group, Inc. and Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc., effective as of
August 24, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant’s Form S-11 Registration Statement,
as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 25, 2012 (file number 333-176775))
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.6

Loan Agreement, dated December 3, 2015, by and between IREIT Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C. and Metropolitan Life Insurance
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9, 2015 (file number 000-55146))

10.7

Promissory Note, dated December 3, 2015, issued by IREIT Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C. in favor of Metropolitan Life Insurance
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9, 2015 (file number 000-55146))

10.8

Open-End Mortgage, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing, effective December 3, 2015, by IREIT
Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C. for the benefit of Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9,
2015 (file number 000-55146))

10.9

Assignment of Leases, effective December 3, 2015, by IREIT Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C. in favor of Metropolitan Life Insurance
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9, 2015 (file number 000-55146))

10.10

Guaranty of Recourse Obligations, dated December 3, 2015, by Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. in favor of Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the
Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9, 2015 (file number 000-55146))

10.11

Unsecured Indemnity Agreement, dated December 3, 2015, by IREIT Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C. and Inland Real Estate Income
Trust, Inc. in favor of Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 9, 2015 (file number 00055146))

10.12

Employee and Director Restricted Share Plan of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 17, 2016 (file
number 000-55146))

10.13

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017 (file number 000-55146))

10.14

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017 (file number 000-55146))

10.15

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10Q, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

10.16

Form of Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 8, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

10.17

Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. Director Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017
(file number 000-55146))

10.18

Form of Deferred Compensation Election – Eligible Cash Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017 (file number
000-55146))

10.19

Form of Deferred Compensation Election – Eligible Stock Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017 (file number
000-55146))
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.20

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2018, by and among Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc., as
borrower, KeyBank National Association, individually and as administrative agent, KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc., PNC Capital
Markets LLC and Merrill Lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, as joint lead arrangers, and other lenders parties thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

10.21

Revolving Credit Note, dated August 1, 2018, by Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. for the benefit of KeyBank National
Association (Form of Revolving Credit Note) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

10.22

Term Loan A Note, dated August 1, 2018, by Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. for the benefit of KeyBank National Association
(Form of Term Loan A Note) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the
Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

10.23

Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of August 1, 2018, by certain subsidiaries of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. parties thereto for the
benefit of KeyBank National Association, as administrative agent for itself and the lenders under the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registrant with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 7, 2018 (file number 000-55146))

14.1

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2012, as filed by the Registrant with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 1, 2013 (file number 000-55146))

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant*

23.1

Consent of KPMG LLP*

31.1

Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

31.2

Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.1

Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*

32.2

Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
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The following financial information from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18, 2020, is formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language: (i) Consolidated
Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Equity, (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (tagged as blocks of text).
* Filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC.
By:
Name:
Date:

/s/ Mitchell A. Sabshon
Mitchell A. Sabshon
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 18, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
By:
Name:

/s/ Daniel L. Goodwin
Daniel L. Goodwin

Director and Chairman of the Board

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Mitchell A. Sabshon
Mitchell A. Sabshon

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Catherine L. Lynch
Catherine L. Lynch

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial officer)

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Lee A. Daniels
Lee A. Daniels

Director

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Stephen Davis
Stephen Davis

Director

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Gwen Henry
Gwen Henry

Director

March 18, 2020

By:
Name:

/s/ Bernard J. Michael
Bernard J. Michael

Director

March 18, 2020
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Exhibit 4.5
INLAND REAL ESTATE INCOME TRUST, INC., A MARYLAND CORPORATION
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK
We are a corporation formed under the laws of the State of Maryland. Many of your rights as a stockholder are governed by
Maryland law, including the Maryland General Corporation Law, and our charter and bylaws. The following summarizes certain
terms of our common stock as described in our charter and bylaws, which are included as exhibits to our annual and periodic reports
filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and to which you should refer for a full description.
Authorized Stock
Our charter authorizes us to issue up to 1,460,000,000 shares of common stock and 40,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Our charter
contains a provision permitting the board, without any action by the stockholders, to classify or reclassify any unissued shares of
common or preferred stock into one or more classes or series by setting or changing the preferences, conversion or other rights,
voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption of any
new class or series of shares of stock. In addition, our charter permits our board, without any action by the stockholders, to amend
the charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series
of stock that we have the authority to issue. We believe that the power of our board to issue additional authorized but unissued shares
of common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify shares of common or preferred stock will provide us with increased
flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions and in meeting other business needs which might arise.

Common Stock
Subject to the preferential rights of any class or series of preferred stock and to the provisions of our charter regarding the restriction
on the transfer of shares of our common stock, holders of our common stock will be entitled to receive distributions if authorized by
our board and declared by us and to share ratably in our assets available for distribution to the stockholders in the event of a
liquidation, dissolution or winding-up.
Each outstanding share of our common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders,
including votes to elect directors. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which means that the holders of a majority
of the outstanding shares of common stock will be able to elect all of the directors nominated for election.
Holders of our common stock have no conversion, sinking fund, redemption or exchange rights, have no preemptive rights to subscribe
for any securities we may offer or issue in the future and have no appraisal rights unless our board of directors determines that
appraisal rights apply, with respect to all or any classes or series of shares, to one or more transactions occurring after the date of
such determination in connection with which stockholders would otherwise be entitled to exercise appraisal rights.
Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge (except as permitted by law), sell all
or substantially all of its assets, engage in a share exchange or engage in

similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least
two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of
these matters by a lesser percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter
provides for a majority vote in these situations.
Under our charter and bylaws, the presence in person or by proxy by the holders of 50% of our outstanding shares entitled to vote will
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of our stockholders. Under our charter and bylaws, the election of
directors requires a majority of all the votes present in person or by proxy at a meeting of our stockholders at which a quorum is
present. Stockholders may also, upon the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of stock then outstanding and entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors, remove any director with or without cause.

Preferred Stock
Subject to certain restrictions set forth in our charter, we may issue shares of our preferred stock in the future in one or more series
as authorized by our board. Prior to issuing the shares of any series, our board is required by Maryland law and our charter to fix the
terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions,
qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each series. Because our board has the power to establish the preferences,
powers and rights of each series of preferred stock, it may, without any consideration or approval by our stockholders, provide the
holders of any series of preferred stock with preferences, powers and rights, voting or otherwise, senior to the rights of holders of our
common stock, in each case subject to certain transfer and ownership restrictions contained in our charter. The issuance of preferred
stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us, including an extraordinary transaction such
as merger, tender offer or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that might provide a premium price for holders of our common
stock.

Distributions
We may pay distributions during a given period in an aggregate amount that exceeds our cash flow from operations for that period,
determined in accordance with GAAP. As a result, we may pay distributions from sources other than cash flows from
operations. Specifically, some or all of our distributions for any period in which our cash flow from operations is not sufficient may be
paid from retained cash flow, from borrowings, from cash flow from investing activities, including the net proceeds from the sale of
our assets, or from the net proceeds of this offering. We have not limited the amount of monies from any of these sources that may
be used to fund distributions.
If our cash flow from operations is not sufficient to pay distributions for any particular period, we also may fund distributions from,
among other things, cash that we receive in the form of advances or contributions from our business manager or Inland Real Estate
Investment Corporation (IREIC) or from the cash retained by us in the case that our business manager defers, accrues or waives all,
or a portion, of its business management fee or its right to be reimbursed for certain expenses. A deferral, accrual or waiver of any
fee owed to our business manager will have the effect of increasing cash flow from operations for the relevant period because we do
not have to use cash to pay any fee or reimbursement which was deferred, accrued or waived during the relevant period. Any fee or
reimbursement that was

deferred or accrued, or any amounts advanced, that we later pay or reimburse, will have the effect of reducing cash flow from
operations for the applicable period in which we pay or reimburse these amounts. We will not, however, be required to pay interest
on any fee or reimbursement that was previously deferred or accrued. Neither our business manager nor IREIC has any obligation to
provide us with advances or contributions, and our business manager is not obligated to defer, accrue or waive any portion of its
business management fee or reimbursements. Further, there is no assurance that these other sources will be available to fund
distributions.
We will not make distributions-in-kind, except for: distributions of readily marketable securities; distributions of beneficial interests in a
liquidating trust established for our dissolution and the liquidation of our assets in accordance with the terms of our charter; or
distributions of in-kind property which meet all of the following conditions: our board advises each stockholder of the risks associated
with direct ownership of the in-kind property; our board offers each stockholder the election of receiving in-kind property distributions;
and we distribute in-kind property only to those stockholders who accept our offer.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is DST Systems, Inc.

Book Entry System
Our charter provides that we may not issue certificates representing shares of our common stock unless expressly authorized by our
board. As a result we anticipate that all shares of our common stock will be issued only in book entry form. This means that, except
to the extent expressly authorized by our board, we will not issue actual stock certificates to any holder of our common stock. The
use of book entry only registration protects stockholders against loss, theft or destruction of stock certificates and reduces offering
costs. Once we accept a subscription to purchase shares of our common stock, we create an account in our book entry registration
system and credit the principal amount of the subscription to the individual’s account. We will send each stockholder a book entry
receipt indicating acceptance of his or her subscription. All issuances of common stock through our distribution reinvestment plan also
are made only in book entry form.

Restrictions on Issuance of Securities
We may not issue:
•
•

common stock which is redeemable;
debt securities unless the debt service coverage, on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the issuance of the debt
securities, calculated as of the end of our most recently completed fiscal quarter, is equal to or greater than 1.0. For these
purposes, “debt service coverage” means the ratio equal to annualized net income for the latest quarterly period divided by
aggregate debt service. Aggregate debt service means, for these purposes, the aggregate amount of interest expense,
principal amortization and other charges payable with respect to our outstanding borrowings and indebtedness, whether
secured or unsecured, including all loans, senior debt and junior debt;

•

•

options or warrants to purchase stock to IREIC, director(s) or any affiliates, including our business manager and real estate
managers, except on the same terms as sold (if any are sold) to the general public (excluding for these purposes
underwriting fees, commissions and discounts) and in an amount not to exceed 9.8% in value of our outstanding stock or
more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our outstanding common stock on the
date of grant of any options or warrants unless waived by the board and in aggregate amount not to exceed 10% of the
outstanding shares of common stock or any other shares of stock having the right to elect directors on the date of grant of
such options or warrants; or
stock on a deferred payment basis or similar arrangement.

Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer
Our charter, subject to some exceptions, prohibits any person from acquiring or holding, directly or indirectly, more than 9.8% in value
of our outstanding stock or more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the aggregate
outstanding shares of common stock. This limit may be further reduced if our board of directors waives this limit for certain holders,
including The Inland Group, LLC and its affiliates. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, may exempt (prospectively or
retroactively) a person from these ownership limits, unless granting the exemption would result in us being “closely held” within the
meaning of Section 856(h) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) or otherwise would result in us failing to qualify as a real
estate investment trust (REIT) under the Code, including if the person seeking the exemptions owns, directly or indirectly, an interest
in any of our tenants (or in a tenant of any entity owned or controlled by us) that would cause us to own, directly or indirectly, 10% or
more of the interests in the tenant. Our board may require a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service or an opinion of counsel, in
either case in form and substance satisfactory to our board of directors in its sole discretion, in order to determine or ensure our status
as a REIT.
In addition, our charter prohibits any person from beneficially or constructively owning shares of our stock that would result in us
being “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise failing to qualify as a REIT. Our charter further
provides that any transfer of our stock that would result in our stock being beneficially owned by fewer than one hundred persons will
be void. Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of our stock that will or may
violate any of the foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership, or any person who would have owned shares of our stock
that resulted in a transfer of shares to the trust, is required to give us notice immediately and to provide us with such other information
as we may request in order to determine the effect of the transfer on our status as a REIT. The foregoing restrictions on
transferability and ownership will not apply if our board determines that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify, or to
continue to qualify, as a REIT or that compliance is no longer required for us to qualify as a REIT.
If any transfer of shares of our stock is attempted that, if effective, would result in any person violating the transfer or ownership
limitations described above, our charter provides that either the number of shares of our stock causing the person to violate the
limitations will be automatically placed in a trust for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries within the meaning of
501(c)(3) of the Code or, if placement of the shares in a trust would not effectively prevent the loss of our qualification as a REIT or
the transfer would result in our stock being beneficially owned by fewer than one hundred persons, then the attempted transfer itself
will be deemed null and void. The proposed transferee that exceeds the ownership limits will not acquire any rights in these
shares. The automatic transfer is deemed

effective as of the close of business on the business day prior to the date of the transfer violating these restrictions. Shares of stock
held in the trust will continue to be treated as issued and outstanding. The proposed transferee will not benefit economically from
ownership of any shares of stock held in the trust, will have no rights to dividends or other distributions and will not have any rights to
vote or other rights attributable to the shares of stock held in the trust. The trustee of the trust will have all voting rights and rights to
dividends or other distributions with respect to shares of stock held in the trust. The voting rights and rights to dividends or other
distributions will be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the charitable beneficiary. Any dividend or other distribution paid prior to
our discovery that shares of stock have been transferred to the trustee will be paid by the recipient of the dividend or other distribution
to the trustee upon demand, and any dividend or other distributions authorized but unpaid will be paid when due to the trustee. Subject
to Maryland law, effective as of the date that such shares of stock have been transferred to the trust, the trustee will have the
authority in its sole discretion: (1) to rescind as void any vote cast by the proposed transferee prior to our discovery that the shares
have been transferred to the trust; and (2) to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the trustee acting for the benefit of the
charitable beneficiary. However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the trustee will not have the authority to
rescind and recast the vote.
Within twenty days of receiving notice from us that shares have been transferred to the trust, the trustee must sell the shares to a
person or group, designated by the trustee, whose ownership of the shares will not violate the ownership limitations. Upon the sale,
the interest of the charitable beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the trustee will distribute the net proceeds of the sale to
the proposed transferee and to the charitable beneficiary as follows. The proposed transferee will receive the lesser of: (1) the price
paid for the shares by the proposed transferee or, if the proposed transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the
event causing the shares to be held in the trust (e.g., a gift, devise or other such transaction), the market price, as defined in our
charter, of the shares on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in the trust; and (2) the price per share received by the
trustee from the sale or other disposition of the shares held in the trust. The trustee may reduce the amount payable to the proposed
transferee by the amount of dividends and other distributions which have been paid to the proposed transferee and are owed by the
proposed transferee to the trustee. Sale proceeds exceeding the amount payable to the proposed transferee will be paid immediately
to the charitable beneficiary. If, prior to our discovery that shares of stock have been transferred to the trust, the shares are sold by
the proposed transferee, then the shares will be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the trust; and if to the extent that the proposed
transferee received an amount for the shares exceeding the amount that the proposed transferee was entitled to receive, the excess
will be paid to the trustee upon demand.
In addition, shares of our stock held in the trust will be deemed to have been offered for sale to us or our designees, at a price per
share equal to the lesser of: (1) the price per share in the transaction that resulted in the transfer to the trust, or, in the case of a
devise or gift, the market price at the time of the devise or gift; and (2) the market price on the date we, or our designate, accept such
offer. We can accept this offer until the trustee has sold the shares held in the trust. Upon a sale to us, the interest of the charitable
beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the trustee will distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the proposed transferee. The
trustee may reduce the amount payable to the proposed transferee by the amount of dividends and other distributions which have
been paid to the proposed transferee and are owed by the proposed transferee to the trustee. Any net sales proceeds in excess of
the amount payable to the proposed transferee will be immediately paid to the charitable beneficiary.
Our charter requires all persons who own 5% or more, or any lower percentage required by the Code or the regulations thereunder,
of our outstanding common and preferred stock, within thirty days after the

end of each taxable year, to provide to us written notice stating their name and address, the number of shares of common and
preferred stock they beneficially own directly or indirectly, and a description of how the shares are held. In addition, each beneficial
owner must provide us with any additional information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of their beneficial
ownership on our status as a REIT to ensure compliance with the 9.8% ownership limit. In addition, each stockholder will, upon
demand, be required to provide us any information as we may request, in good faith, in order to determine our status as a REIT and to
comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance.
Certain Provisions of Maryland Corporate Law and Our Charter and Bylaws
The following paragraphs summarize provisions of Maryland corporate law and the material terms of our charter and bylaws. The
following summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the Maryland General
Corporation Law and our charter and bylaws.
Business Combinations. Under the Maryland Business Combination Act, completion of a business combination (including a merger,
consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity
securities) between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder is prohibited for
five years following the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Maryland law
defines an interested stockholder as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s
outstanding voting stock or an affiliate or associate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in
question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then outstanding stock of the corporation. A person is
not an interested stockholder if, prior to the most recent time at which the person would otherwise have become an interested
stockholder, the board of directors of the Maryland corporation approved the transaction which otherwise would have resulted in the
person becoming an interested stockholder. The board of directors may condition its approval on the person complying with terms
and conditions determined by the board. Following the five-year period, any business combination with that interested stockholder
must be recommended by the board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•
•

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation; and
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the
interested stockholder with whom (or with whose affiliate) the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate
or associate of the interested stockholder, unless, among other conditions, the corporation’s common stockholders receive
consideration at least equal to the highest price paid by the interested stockholder for its shares and the consideration is
received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its shares.

These provisions of Maryland law do not apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by our board prior
to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. As permitted under Maryland law, business
combinations involving us and The Inland Group or any of its affiliates, including our business manager, are exempt from the Maryland
business combination statute.

Control Share Acquisition. The Maryland Control Share Acquisition Act provides that shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in
a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by the corporation’s stockholders by a vote of twothirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares owned by: (1) the acquiring person; (2) the corporation’s
officers; and (3) employees of the corporation who are also directors. “Control shares” mean voting shares which, if aggregated with
all other voting shares owned by an acquiring person, or which the acquiring person can exercise or direct the exercise of voting
power, would entitle the acquiring person to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power of shares of the corporation in electing
directors (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy) within one of the following ranges of voting power:
•
•
•

one-tenth or more but less than one-third of all voting power;
one-third or more but less than a majority of all voting power; or
a majority or more of all voting power.

Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder
approval. A “control share acquisition” occurs when, subject to some exceptions, a person directly or indirectly acquires ownership or
the power to direct the exercise of voting power of issued and outstanding control shares. A person who has made or proposes to
make a control share acquisition, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay expenses, may compel our
board to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held within fifty days after that person’s demand upon the corporation to consider
the voting rights to be accorded to the control shares. If no request for a meeting is made, we may present the question at any
stockholders’ meeting.
If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required
by the statute, then, subject to some statutory conditions and limitations, the corporation may redeem any or all of the control shares
(except those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value determined, without regard to the absence of
voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquirer or of any meeting of
stockholders at which the voting rights of such shares are considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are
approved at a stockholders meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other
stockholders may exercise appraisal rights and be entitled to receive in cash the fair value for their shares of stock. The fair value of
the shares as determined for these purposes may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquirer in the control share
acquisition.
The Control Share Acquisition Act does not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is
party to the transaction or to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation. Our bylaws exempt
acquisitions of our stock by any person from the limits imposed by the Control Share Acquisition Act.
Subtitle 8. Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the Maryland General Corporation Law permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity
securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least three independent directors to elect to be subject, by provision in its charter
or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors, to any or all of five provisions:
•
•
•

a classified board;
a two-thirds vote requirement for removing a director;
a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by vote of the directors;

•
•

a requirement that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of
the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred; and
a majority requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.

Through provisions in our charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, we already vest in the board the exclusive power to fix the
number of directorships.

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
NAME OF
SUBSIDIARY
IREIT Athens Eastside, L.L.C.

Delaware

IREIT Branson Hills, L.L.C.
IREIT Branson Hills Plaza – T, L.L.C.
IREIT Brooks DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Conyers Heritage, L.L.C.
IREIT Coral Springs North Hills, L.L.C.
IREIT Daleville DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT DG SPE II Member, L.L.C.
IREIT DG SPE Member, L.L.C.
IREIT East Brewton DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Flowood Dogwood, L.L.C.
IREIT Fresno El Paseo, L.L.C.
IREIT Frisco Marketplace, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Frisco Marketplace Outlot, L.L.C.
IREIT Harvest Square, L.L.C.
IREIT Hot Springs Fairgrounds, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Jacksonville Richlands, L.L.C.
IREIT Kansas City Burlington Creek, L.L.C.
IREIT Katy Green Tree, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT LaGrange Hamilton DG, L.L.C.
IREIT LaGrange Wares Cross DG, L.L.C.
IREIT Lake St. Louis Hawk Ridge, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Lawrence Iowa Street, L.L.C.
IREIT Layton Pointe, L.L.C.
IREIT Little Rock Midtowne, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Little Rock Park Avenue, L.L.C.
IREIT Louisville Dixie Valley, L.L.C.
IREIT Lynchburg Lakeside, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Madisonville DG, L.L.C.
IREIT Mansfield Pointe, L.L.C.
IREIT Maryville DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Milford Marketplace, L.L.C.
IREIT Mobile Moffett DG, L.L.C.
IREIT MS Mezz TRS, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT MS TRS, LLC

Delaware
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IREIT Nampa Treasure Valley, L.L.C.
IREIT Neenah Fox Point, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Newington Fair, L.L.C.
IREIT Newport DG, L.L.C.
IREIT Newport News Tech Center, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT North Myrtle Beach Coastal North, L.L.C.
IREIT Ocean Isle Beach Landing, L.L.C.
IREIT Olive Branch Wedgewood, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Papillion Market Pointe, L.L.C.
IREIT Pittsburgh Settlers Ridge, L.L.C.
IREIT Plaistow Pentucket, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Pleasant Prairie Plaza, L.L.C.
IREIT Pleasant Prairie Ridge, L.L.C.
IREIT Pleasant Prairie Ridge Outlot, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Prattville Legends, L.L.C.
IREIT Robertsdale DG, L.L.C.
IREIT Shoppes at Branson Hills – K, L.L.C.
IREIT Shreveport Regal Court, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Shrewsbury White City, L.L.C.
IREIT South Jordan Oquirrh Mountain, L.L.C.
IREIT Stevens Point Pinecrest, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT TRS, LLC
IREIT Turlock Blossom Valley, L.L.C.
IREIT Valley DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT West Bend Main, L.L.C.
IREIT West Valley City Lake Park, L.L.C.
IREIT Wetumpka DG, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

IREIT Wilson Marketplace, L.L.C.
IREIT Yorkville Marketplace, L.L.C.
RE Income Omaha Whispering Ridge, L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-207519) on Form S-3D of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
of our report dated March 18, 2020, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the threeyear period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule III, which report appears in the December 31, 2019
annual report on Form 10-K of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.
Our report on the consolidated financial statements refers to a change in the method of accounting for leases.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Chicago, Illinois
March 18, 2020
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Mitchell A. Sabshon, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Mitchell A. Sabshon
Name: Mitchell A. Sabshon
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date: March 18, 2020
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Catherine L. Lynch, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Catherine L. Lynch
Name: Catherine L. Lynch
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date: March 18, 2020

Exhibit 32.1
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Mitchell A. Sabshon, President and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to
the best of his knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 18, 2020

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mitchell A. Sabshon
Mitchell A. Sabshon
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A
signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Inland Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2019, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Catherine L. Lynch, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
her knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 18, 2020

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Catherine L. Lynch
Catherine L. Lynch
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A
signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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This letter contains "forward-looking statements" made under the "safe harbor" provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The statements may be identified by terminology
such as "may", “can”, "would", “will”, "expect", "intend", "estimate", "anticipate", "plan", “goal”, "seek", "appear", or "believe". Such statements reflect the current view of Inland Income Trust
with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions related to certain factors including, without limitation, the uncertainties related to the acquisition of
any property, general economic conditions, unforeseen events affecting the real estate industry or particular markets, the economic and other effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and other factors
detailed under Risk Factors in our most recent Form 10-K as of December 31, 2019 filed on March 18, 2020 with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Although Inland Income Trust believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to be correct.
You should exercise caution when considering forward-looking statements and not place undue reliance on them. Based upon changing conditions, should any one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should any underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described herein. Except as required by federal securities laws, Inland
Income Trust undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any written or oral forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or
any other reason after the date of this letter. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to Inland Income Trust or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in
their entirety by the applicable cautionary statements.
The Inland name and logo are registered trademarks being used under license.
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